
Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council
City of Woodstock, GA
The Chambers at City Center - 8534 Main Street
770 592-6000 (Main) 770 592-6002 (City Clerk)  770 926-1375 (Fax)
http://www.woodstockga.gov

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK AGENDA
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION 

Monday, March 23, 2015

Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council
7:00 PM

Mayor and Council Page 1 Printed 3/20/2015

ITEM 1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER

7:00 PM Meeting called to order on March 23, 2015 at The Chambers at City Center, 
8534 Main Street, Woodstock, GA.

ITEM 2. RECOGNITION OF GUESTS AND VISITORS
1. Proclamation - Parkinson's Disease Awareness Month (Mayor Pro-Tem Baxter)

2. Woodstock Public Safety Foundation 2014 Donor Recognition (Chief Moss)

ITEM 3. APPOINTMENTS/OATH OF OFFICE

1. Swearing In or New Police Officers (Chief Moss)

ITEM 4. ANNOUNCEMENTS
1. Announcements for March 2015 (Council Member Leonard)

ITEM 5. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS/PROJECT UPDATES

ITEM 6. PUBLIC COMMENT

(Please complete the appropriate form at the podium and give to the City Attorney -
You may only discuss items NOT on tonight's agenda.)

ITEM 7. CONSENT AGENDA
1. 2nd Reading- Text Amendment  to Section 6-20 (Jessica Guinn)

2. 2nd Reading- Text Amendment to Chapter 82 Addition of Sidewalk Cafe Ordinance
(Jessica Guinn)

3. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) City of Woodstock and Greenprints Alliance
(Preston Pooser)

4. Travel Expense Reimbursement for Council Member Rob Usher (Rhonda Pezzello)

5. Gameday Grill LLC - Retail Sale of Malt Beverages (Jessica Guinn)

6. GA NORTHEASTERN RAILROAD MAJOR BUDGET AMENDMENT (Pat Flood)

7. USIS Contract Renewal (Final Contract Attached )

8. Paving of Various Locations (Pat Flood)

9. Award Bid - Pipeline Inspection Camera & Trailer to Adams Equipment Co., Inc. (Pat
Flood)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Agenda March 23, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 2 Printed 3/20/2015

10. Award Bid - Mill Street Parking to Wildcat Striping & Sealing (Pat Flood)

11. Paden Street Construction (Pat Flood)

ITEM 8. PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
1. Public Hearing/Vote:  V#128-14 and CUP#022-14 Platinum Cars, Inc Request for 

Conditional Use Permit and Variances (Katie Coulborn)

2. Public Hearing and Vote:  LDO Chapter II Definitions  and  LDO Chapter VII Senior 
Living (Patti Hart)

3. Sign Variance  9940 Highway 92 (Jessica Guinn)

4. Sign Variance Request Park 9 Apartments- Ridgewalk Parkway (Jessica Guinn)

5. Sign Variance- Lennar 8033 Main Street 12455 Highway 92 (Jessica Guinn)

ITEM 9. MINUTES APPROVAL
1. Approval of Minutes - March 9, 2015 Regular Council Meeting (Rhonda Pezzello)

ITEM 10. NEW BUSINESS
1. Discuss and Approve Modification to Chattahoochee Gold Swim Facility (Jeff Moon)

ITEM 11. OLD BUSINESS

ITEM 12. CITY MANAGER AND STAFF COMMENTS

ITEM 13. MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMENTS

ITEM 14. EXECUTIVE SESSION - Personnel, Litigation, Real Estate
1. Tinsley/Postiglione Appeal (Jessica Guinn)

ITEM 15. FINAL ADJOURNMENT



CCITY OF WOODSTOCK
STATE OF GEORGIA

proclamation

DOC ID: 3335 Page 1

April is Parkinson’s Awareness Month

WHEREAS, The members of the Parkinson’s Action Network, the Unified Voice 
Advocating for a Cure, desire to educate the public and raise awareness about 
Parkinson’s Disease; and

WHEREAS, Parkinson’s Disease affects between 500,000 and 1.5 million 
Americans and is the 14th leading cause of death in the United States costing our 
Country at least $14.4 billion annually; and

WHEREAS, Parkinson’s disease is a chronic, progressive, neurological disease and 
there is no treatment, therapy or drug to slow or halt progression of the disease; 
and

WHEREAS, Primary symptoms include tremor, rigidity, slowness of movement 
and impaired balance and coordination.  Other cognitive changes may include 
difficulty in swallowing, chewing, speaking, urinary problems, skin problems and 
sleep disruptions; and

WHEREAS, There is hope because new technologies and treatments are being 
approved to benefit those living with this disease.

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Donnie Henriques, Mayor of the City of Woodstock,
Georgia, do hereby proclaim April 2015 as Parkinson’s Awareness Month and
encourage all citizens to spread the word about this devastating disease to help 
raise awareness so that a cure can be found.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 23rd day of March, in 
the year of our Lord, two thousand fifteen, in the City of Woodstock, Georgia.

As proclaimed  on March, 2015.

___________________________
Donnie Henriques, Mayor

2.1

Packet Pg. 3



Proclamation (ID # 3335) Meeting of March 23, 2015

Updated: 3/17/2015 10:52 AM by Rhonda Pezzello Page 2

ATTEST:  _________________________
  Rhonda Pezzello, City Clerk

2.1

Packet Pg. 4



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

INFORMATIONAL ITEM - NO VOTE NEEDED (ID # 3311)

DOC ID: 3311 Page 1

Woodstock Public Safety Foundation 2014 Donor Recognition

Presented by: 

Summary:

WPSF 2014 Donor Recognition

Supporting Documents: 

Reviews / Approvals
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

2.2

Packet Pg. 5



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

INFORMATIONAL ITEM - NO VOTE NEEDED (ID # 3310)

DOC ID: 3310 Page 1

Swearing In or New Police Officers

Presented by: 

Summary:

Supporting Documents: 

Reviews / Approvals
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

3.1

Packet Pg. 6



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

INFORMATIONAL ITEM - NO VOTE NEEDED (ID # 3337)

DOC ID: 3337 Page 1

Announcements for March 2015

Presented by: 

Summary:

Cherokee County Comprehensive Transportation Plan Update/Open House
March 24th at The Bluffs in Canton - 6 pm to 8 pm
March 26th at The Chambers at City Center - 6 pm to 8 pm
http://www.cherokeega.com/roadway-splost-program

Friday Night Live on April 3 - Roaring 20's Night 
Time travel back to the 1920s as the spirit of the Roaring 20’s is celebrated in Downtown 
Woodstock

April 11, 2015 at 1 PM - AMERICAN LEGION AND CITY OF WOODSTOCK'S 
ANNUAL FLAG RETIREMENT CEREMONY at the Park at City Center

Coming on April 18th: GREENSTOCK DAY/EARTH DAY CELEBRATION w/E-
Recycle, Shredding, Yard Sales and Special Trash Pick up!  See website for more info or call 
770 517-6788.

Supporting Documents: 
• March 2015 (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

4.1

Packet Pg. 7



4.1.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
5 

 (3
33

7 
: A

N
N

O
U

N
C

EM
EN

TS
)



4.1.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
5 

 (3
33

7 
: A

N
N

O
U

N
C

EM
EN

TS
)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3336 Page 1

2nd Reading- Text Amendment to Section 6-20

Presented by: Jessica Guinn 

Summary:
A text amendment to Section 6-20, Open Containers Prohibited, is proposed to accompany 
the text amendment to Chapter 82, Streets, Sidewalks and Other Public Places.  This 
amendment would allow for approved sidewalk cafes to be considered a part of the premises 
of a restaurant for the purposes of on premise consumption of alcoholic beverages.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Approve or deny proposed text amendment

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• Sidewalk Cafe- Alcohol Amendment (DOCX)

Reviews / Approvals
Community Development Completed 03/17/2015 10:51 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 11:14 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.1

Packet Pg. 10



ORDINANCE NUMBER ____-2015

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 6–20 (OPEN CONTAINERS 
PROHIBITED) OF CHAPTER 6 (ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES) OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA.

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the 
“City”) is a municipality duly formed and existing pursuant to Georgia law; and

Whereas, the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia provides for the self government 
of municipalities without the necessity of action by the General Assembly1; and 

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia, has the legislative power to adopt clearly
reasonable ordinances, resolutions or regulations relating to its property, affairs and local 
government for which no provision has been made by general laws or which are expressly
allowed by general laws, and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter
provision applicable thereto2; and

Whereas, the governing body of the City has determined that it is in the best interest of 
the City and its citizens to adopt the following; and

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA HEREBY ORDAINS:

That the Code of Ordinances, City of Woodstock, Georgia is hereby amended by
amending Section 6–20(b) (Open containers prohibited) of the Code of Ordinances, which said 
section read as follows:

(b) No establishment licensed under this chapter to sell alcoholic beverages shall allow a person 
to leave those premises with alcoholic beverages in an open cup, bottle, can or other open 
container.

To be replaced with the following, in lieu thereof:

(b) No establishment licensed under this chapter to sell alcoholic beverages shall allow a person 
to leave those premises with alcoholic beverages in an open cup, bottle, can or other open 

  
1 Ga. Const., 1983, Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II provides in pertinent part as follows:

“The General Assembly may provide by law for the self government of municipalities and to that end is expressly given the authority
to delegate its power so that matters pertaining to the municipalities may be dealt with without the necessity of action by the General 
Assembly. “

2O.C.G.A.  § 36-35-3 (a) provides as follows:

“(a)  The governing authority of each municipal corporation shall have legislative power to adopt clearly reasonable 
ordinances, resolutions, or regulations relating to its property, affairs, and local government for which no provision has been made by general law 
and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable thereto.  Any such charter provision shall remain in force 
and effect until amended or repealed as provided in subsection (b) of this Code section. This Code section, however, shall not restrict the 
authority of the General Assembly, by general law, to define this home rule power further or to broaden, limit, or otherwise regulate the exercise 
thereof. The General Assembly shall not pass any local law to repeal, modify or supersede any action taken by a municipal governing authority 
under this Code section, except as authorized under Code Section 36-35-6.”

7.1.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e-

 A
lc

oh
ol

 A
m

en
dm

en
t  

(3
33

6 
: S

id
w

al
k 

C
af

e 
A

lc
oh

ol
 A

m
en

dm
en

t)



container.  For the purposes of this ordinance, areas licensed as Sidewalk Cafes pursuant to 
Section 82–17 shall be considered a part of the premises.

Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA, THIS ____ DAY OF _____________, 2015.

1st Reading:  _______ 2nd Reading: _______

____________________________________
DONNIE HENRIQUES, MAYOR 

___________________________________
RHONDA L. PEZZELLO, CLERK

Approved as to form:

_____________________________________
ELDON L. BASHAM, CITY ATTORNEY

7.1.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e-

 A
lc

oh
ol

 A
m

en
dm

en
t  

(3
33

6 
: S

id
w

al
k 

C
af

e 
A

lc
oh

ol
 A

m
en

dm
en

t)



City of Woodstock
  State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3334 Page 1

2nd Reading- Text Amendment to Chapter 82 Addition of
Sidewalk Cafe Ordinance

Presented by: Jessica Guinn 

Summary:
To this point, two businesses in Downtown, Village Market and Cafe and Ice, have requested 
consideration from Mayor and Council to allow for dining on the public sidewalk.  Both 
requests were approved, and have operated with few noted issues.  At this time, staff 
proposes a text amendment to permit sidewalk cafes for licensed restaurants, and to provide 
clear regulations for the sidewalk cafes.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Approve or deny text amendment

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• Sidewalk Cafe Ordinance Summary (DOCX)
• Sidewalk Cafe Ordinance- Final 3-23-15 (DOC)

Reviews / Approvals
Community Development Completed 03/17/2015 10:49 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 11:14 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.2

Packet Pg. 13



Text Amendment to Chapter 82

1

Evaluation Prepared by: Jessica Guinn, AICP
1st Reading: March 9, 2015
2nd Reading: March 23, 2015

Agenda Item:

A text amendment to Chapter 82- Streets, Sidewalks and Other Public Places, and an accompanying amendment 
to Chapter 6- Alcoholic Beverages

Summary:

The proposed text amendment will create a new Section 82-17, Sidewalk Café Ordinance, in order to provide for 
the authorization and regulation of sidewalk cafes to be operated on public sidewalks in Woodstock.  Under the 
proposed amendment, licensed restaurants within the DT-CBD, DT-RO and DT-CMU zoning districts could apply 
for and obtain a permit to operate a sidewalk café, provided that the regulations set forth in the code are met. 
Sidewalk cafes must be partitioned off from the rest of the sidewalk utilizing approved dividers, and may not 
extend more than six feet from the face of the building.  In no case will a sidewalk café be permitted to reduce 
the clear zone for pedestrians to less than five feet in width.  Standards for furnishings and signs are provided in 
the proposed text, and smoking will be prohibited within sidewalk cafes.  Furthermore, the text requires 
applicants for sidewalk cafes to name the City as an additional insured on their general liability insurance, and to 
provide coverage at a minimum of $500,000 per person, and $1,000,000 per occurrence, with an additional 
$1,000,000 umbrella coverage.

The proposed text amendment allows for operators holding a valid alcohol license for on premise consumption 
to serve alcohol within the confines of a sidewalk café.  Alcohol service will be restricted to one alcoholic 
beverage in the possession of each patron, and alcohol may not be removed from the premises of the
restaurant or the sidewalk café.  An amendment to Section 6-20, Open Containers Prohibited, accompanies this 
request in order to replace Section 6-20(b) with the following language:

No establishment licensed under this chapter to sell alcoholic beverages shall allow a person to leave those 
premises with alcoholic beverages in an open cup, bottle, can or other open container.  For the purposes of this 
ordinance, areas licensed as Sidewalk Cafes pursuant to Section 82-12 shall be considered a part of the premises.

7.2.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 S

um
m

ar
y 

 (3
33

4 
: S

id
ew

al
k 

C
af

e 
O

rd
in

an
ce

)



ORDINANCE NUMBER  ____-2015

AN ORDINANCE CREATING A NEW SECTION 82-17 (SIDEWALK CAFÉ 
ORDINANCE) OF CHAPTER 82 (STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC 
PLACES) OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK, 
GEORGIA.

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the 
“City”) is a municipality duly formed and existing pursuant to Georgia law; and

Whereas, the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia provides for the self government 
of municipalities without the necessity of action by the General Assembly1; and 

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia, has the legislative power to adopt clearly 
reasonable ordinances, resolutions or regulations relating to its property, affairs and local 
government for which no provision has been made by general laws, and which are not 
inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable thereto2; and

Whereas, the governing body of the City has determined that it is in the best interest of 
the City and its citizens to adopt the following; and

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA HEREBY ORDAINS:

That the Code of Ordinances, City of Woodstock, Georgia is hereby amended by 
adding 82-17 to Chapter 82 of the Code of Ordinances, to read as follows:

82-17. Sidewalk Cafes.

1. Purpose.  The purpose of this section is to provide for the authorization and regulation of 
sidewalk cafés as operated by qualified and licensed businesses on public sidewalks 
within authorized districts of the City of Woodstock.

2. Permit.
a. A licensed business within the DT-CBD, DT-RO, or DT-CMU zoning districts

who desires to utilize public sidewalks for outdoor seating may apply to the
Director of Community Development or its designee for a permit to operate a

  
1 Ga.  Const., 1983, Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II provides in pertinent part as follows:

“The General Assembly may provide by law for the self government of municipalities and to that end is expressly given 
the authority to delegate its power so that matters pertaining to the municipalities may be dealt with without the necessity 
of action by the General Assembly. “

2O.C.G.A.  § 36-35-3 (a) provides as follows:

“(a)  The governing authority of each municipal corporation shall have legislative power to adopt clearly 
reasonable ordinances, resolutions, or regulations relating to its property, affairs, and local government for which no provision has 
been made by general law and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable thereto.  Any such 
charter provision shall remain in force and effect until amended or repealed as provided in subsection (b) of this Code section. This 
Code section, however, shall not restrict the authority of the General Assembly, by general law, to define this home rule power further 
or to broaden, limit, or otherwise regulate the exercise thereof. The General Assembly shall not pass any local law to repeal, modify or 
supersede any action taken by a municipal governing authority under this Code section, except as authorized under Code Section 36-
35-6.”

7.2.b

Packet Pg. 15

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
- F

in
al

 3
-2

3-
15

  (
33

34
 : 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
)



sidewalk café. Permits shall be renewed annually. The permit application shall 
include the following information: 

i. Name of applicant;
ii. A copy of a valid City of Woodstock occupational license to operate a 

business in front of which the sidewalk café will be located;
iii. A copy of the current certificate of insurance in  the amounts and 

categories required by this chapter;
iv. A diagram identifying the perimeter area, the dimensions of the area, the 

distance from perimeter to curb or nearest obstacle, number and 
placement of tables, and the design and materials of the required divider. 

3. Application and Conditions of Issuance.
a. Criteria.  In reviewing the application for a sidewalk café, the City Manager or 

his/her designee will consider the following criteria in determining whether a 
permit may be issued:

i. Qualifications. Permits may only be issued incidentally with the 
operation of a properly licensed business.

ii. Location. The outdoor seating area of the sidewalk café may only extend 
the width of the storefront and must be partitioned off from the rest of the 
sidewalk.  The sidewalk café may not extend more than six (6) feet from 
the building. 

iii. Arrangement.  The permit application shall include a diagram showing 
the location of the sidewalk café in relation to the surrounding buildings, 
streets, and sidewalks, along with the location of all furnishings to be 
placed in the sidewalk café. 

iv. Compliance with Regulations.  The applicant must acknowledge by 
signature the regulations provided under this ordinance. 

b. No Property Right.  The issuance of a permit shall not be construed or interpreted 
to convey any property rights or any estate in land to any person or business. 
Sidewalk café permits are non-transferable.  Sidewalk café permits will expire 
upon change in use of the facility, and December 31 of each year. 

c. Closing of Café.  Sidewalk cafés may be ordered closed at any time by the City, 
for any reason including, but not limited to, construction, maintenance, public 
health, safety or welfare, emergencies, public parades, and special events.

4. Regulations.
a. Limitations on area.  In no event shall the uses permitted by issuance of permit 

reduce the portion of any sidewalk customarily used by pedestrians to less than 
five (5) feet in width.  Nothing will be placed within five (5) feet of a fire 
hydrant, pedestrian crosswalk, or handicapped corner curb cut.

b. Divider.  The sidewalk café shall be separated from the remaining sidewalk by 
non-permanent barriers that can be disassembled and removed if necessary. This
barrier should be of a simple post and chain construction, with posts of 33-36 
inches in height above the surface of the sidewalk.  Posts should be spaced no 
more than four (4) feet apart. The design of the divider must be included in the 
permit application and shown on the diagram.  All tables, chairs, and other 
furnishings shall be located within the limits of the divider and shown on the 
diagram.

c. Sanitation.  The permitee business shall keep the area covered by the permit 
clean, neat, and orderly at all times.  The business is responsible for removing all 
debris and trash from the sidewalk café at all times.

d. Furnishings.  Furnishings shall not be secured to lamp posts, streetlights, trees, or 
any public fixtures.  All furnishing shall be removed from the sidewalk café from 

7.2.b

Packet Pg. 16

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
- F

in
al

 3
-2

3-
15

  (
33

34
 : 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
)



time to time as required by the City. Should a severe storm warning be issued, all 
outdoor furniture shall be removed from the sidewalk café.

i. Tables and Chairs. Tables and chairs shall match and be made of safe, 
sturdy, and durable material.  All furniture shall be commercial grade 
and manufactured for outdoor use. White plastic or PVC furniture shall 
be prohibited.

ii. Umbrellas.  Each table may be equipped with one umbrella and shall be 
maintained in good, clean, and operable condition. Table umbrellas shall
have no signs or advertisements on them, be completely contained within
the outdoor seating area, even when fully extended, and the lowest
dimension of the umbrella shall maintain a minimum of seven (7) foot
vertical clearance above the sidewalk to allow for patron and server
circulation.

iii. Signs. Any signs must be kept within the sidewalk café and are subject to 
sign permit approval.  All such signs must comply with City code. 

iv. All kitchen equipment and refuse containers used to service the sidewalk
café shall be located inside the primary business.

e. Alcohol.  Only a properly permitted business with a sidewalk café, which holds a 
valid alcohol license for consumption on the premises, may serve alcohol to 
customers in the sidewalk café, subject to the following restrictions:

i. Alcohol may only be served in the sidewalk café during the hours 
allowed under the City’s ordinance for service.

ii. Patrons may not be in possession of more than one alcoholic beverage.
iii. Patrons may not remove alcohol from the premises of the business or

sidewalk café. The area enclosed for the sidewalk café shall be 
considered part of the premises for the purposes of consumption of 
alcoholic beverages.

f. Smoking.  Patrons shall not be allowed to smoke within the sidewalk café.
g. Sound.  Music, live or recorded, or other amplified sound shall be allowed within 

the sidewalk café, provided it does not violate the City’s ordinances related to 
noise.  

5. Revocation. Issuance of a sidewalk café permit is conditional.  A permit may be 
suspended or revoked by the City’s Community Development Director or its designee if
it is found out that:

a. Any necessary business or health permit has been suspended, revoked, or 
cancelled.

b. The permit holder is not in compliance with any of the regulations with respect to 
the sidewalk café.

c. The permit holder has failed to correct violations of this chapter or any other 
ordinance within forty-eight (48) hours of receipt of the notice of same delivered 
in writing to the permit holder.

d. The permit holder has a history of violations of this chapter of three (3) or more 
within a two (2) year period, or immediately upon any violation depending upon 
the severity of the violation.

e. Permits may be suspended for a period up to twelve (12) months depending upon 
history and severity of the violation.

6. Indemnification.  As a condition of issuance, the approved applicant and any person 
acting under or pursuant to said approval, agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, release, 
and defend (even if the allegations are false, fraudulent, or groundless) to the maximum 

7.2.b

Packet Pg. 17

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
- F

in
al

 3
-2

3-
15

  (
33

34
 : 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
)



extent allowed by law, the City Manager, Community Development Director, the City, its 
City Council, and each member thereof, and its officers, employees, advisory board 
members and representatives, from and against all liability, loss, suits, claims, damages, 
costs, judgments, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs of litigation) which in 
whole or in part result from arise out of, or are claimed to result from or arise out of, any 
acts, negligence, errors or omissions of approved applicant, its employees, 
representatives, contractors, subcontractors, or agents by reason of or arising out of, or in 
any matter connected with, any and all acts, operations, privileges authorized, allowed, or 
undertaken pursuant to the use approval under their ordinance including, without 
limitation, any condition or property used in operations. 

7. Insurance.  The approved applicant shall be required to have general liability insurance 
providing for the following limits naming the City as an additional insured in the 
following minimum amounts: $500,000 per person; and $1,000,000 per occurrence, with 
an additional $1,000,000 umbrella coverage.  Not applicable as to private property.

8. Penalties.  In addition to possible suspension or revocation of the permit, the following 
minimum fines shall be imposed for violations of this chapter:  First citation: $100.00 
fine.  Second citation (within one-year period): $250.00 fine.  Third and subsequent 
citations (within one-year period): $500.00 fine. 

9. Americans with Disabilities Act.  Any person receiving a permit hereunder agrees to 
fully comply with all requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act as currently 
existing or as may be hereafter amended. 

Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA, THIS ____ DAY OF _____________, 2015.

1st Reading:  _______ 2nd Reading: _______

____________________________________
DONNIE HENRIQUES, MAYOR 

___________________________________
RHONDA L. PEZZELLO, CLERK

Approved as to form:

_____________________________________
ELDON L. BASHAM, CITY ATTORNEY

7.2.b

Packet Pg. 18

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
- F

in
al

 3
-2

3-
15

  (
33

34
 : 

Si
de

w
al

k 
C

af
e 

O
rd

in
an

ce
)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3331 Page 1

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) City of Woodstock
and Greenprints Alliance

Presented by: Preston Pooser 

Summary:
This was presented at the 3/16/2015 Council Work Session. 

Additional Information:

Recommendation:

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -  N/A

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• GPA Woodstock MOU 2015 (DOCX)

Reviews / Approvals
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 10:46 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 11:14 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.3

Packet Pg. 19



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN THE

City of Woodstock 

AND

Greenprints Alliance, Inc. 

7.3.a

Packet Pg. 20

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
PA

 W
oo

ds
to

ck
 M

O
U

 2
01

5 
 (3

33
1 

: M
em

or
an

du
m

 o
f U

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 (M
O

U
) C

ity
 o

f W
oo

ds
to

ck
 a

nd
 G

re
en

pr
in

ts
 A

lli
an

ce
)



Purpose

The purpose of this agreement is to define a framework of collaboration between City Of
Woodstock (City) and Greenprints Alliance, Inc. for the design, planning, funding and 
construction of multi-use trails and green space projects on property owned by the City.

Mutual Benefits and Interests 

The Greenprints Project trails in Woodstock will provide a well-built and maintained trail system
for recreation and transportation in Woodstock through an active partnership between the City 
and Greenprints Alliance. The collaboration will deliver a high quality network of multi-use
trails and green spaces for public use.

The City of Woodstock Agrees To:

1. Host yearly meetings with GPA and Parks and Recreation to identify special projects 
for increased collaboration.

2. Consult with Greenprints Alliance in determining project priority.
3. Pursue public grants and other funding opportunities to enable the completion of the 

Greenprints Master Plan.
4. Permit Greenprints Alliance to be the primary point of contact for private fundraising 

efforts with corporations and individual donors.
5. Permit Greenprints Alliance to conduct fundraising on site that will directly benefit

the trail system, including a donation box at trail heads.
6. Permit Greenprints Alliance to build and maintain maps and notification kiosks at key

points on the trail system to share information about the Greenprints plan.
7. Permit Greenprints Alliance to host events and promotional installations on the trail 

system.

Greenprints Alliance Agrees To:

1. Host an annual community meeting to update the community on progress and solicit 
feedback.

2. Consult with City in determining project priority.
3. Advocate for a sustainable green space and trail network, which enhances the City of

Woodstock’s community, natural and economic resources for all generations by
promoting the benefits of a green infrastructure system to the general public.

4. Lead private fundraising efforts to augment public funding, including building and
maintaining relationships with corporations and individual donors.

5. Support the City’s application for grants and other public funding opportunities.
6. Pursue commercial sponsorship of trails or segments, including signage where 

appropriate.
7. Collect and share trail usage data with the City and other stakeholders.
8. Provide support services to the City relating to right-of-way and land access.
9. Furnish annual financial report to the City covering any fundraising efforts under this 

agreement.

7.3.a

Packet Pg. 21

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
PA

 W
oo

ds
to

ck
 M

O
U

 2
01

5 
 (3

33
1 

: M
em

or
an

du
m

 o
f U

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 (M
O

U
) C

ity
 o

f W
oo

ds
to

ck
 a

nd
 G

re
en

pr
in

ts
 A

lli
an

ce
)



Project Addendums

Each individual project will require an addendum to this agreement outlining the roles and 
responsibilities for both parties. The addendum will provide a description of the project and
assign responsibilities for all of the following roles:

1. Design and Planning
2. Contractor/Engineering Selection
3. Public Funding
4. Private Funding
5. Trail Naming, Signage and Amenity design
6. Construction Project Management and Oversight
7. Completed facility maintenance and operation

It is mutually understood between the two parties that: 

1. Greenprints Alliance is a nonprofit volunteer based organization whose primary
interest is to provide high quality multi-use trails and green spaces for the community.
There is no financial benefit derived by Greenprints Alliance for the volunteer efforts 
made on behalf of the Greenprints project or any other City project.

2. This agreement may be modified by mutual consent of both parties, by the issuance 
of a written dated and signed agreement.

3. This agreement shall be in force and will automatically renew annually in twelve-
month increments unless either party provides written notification 90 days prior to the 
end of the term of the agreement.  Either party may terminate this agreement upon 30 
days’ notice to the other.

4. Concession services on site will not be allowed, except for incidental sales at a 
Greenprints Alliance sponsored event. 

5. Horses and motorized vehicles will not be allowed on the trail system unless
authorized by the Parks and Recreation Director.

6. Both Greenprints Alliance and the City must approve any non-Greenprints Alliance 
events held on any trails that are funded by Greenprints.

7.3.a

Packet Pg. 22

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
PA

 W
oo

ds
to

ck
 M

O
U

 2
01

5 
 (3

33
1 

: M
em

or
an

du
m

 o
f U

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 (M
O

U
) C

ity
 o

f W
oo

ds
to

ck
 a

nd
 G

re
en

pr
in

ts
 A

lli
an

ce
)



Effective Date

This MOU becomes effective with both signatures on the last date written below and remains in 
effect until modified or terminated. 

City Of Woodstock,

________________________________    Date ___________________

________________________________   Date ___________________
Gary Moore
Executive Director, Greenprints Alliance, Inc.

7.3.a

Packet Pg. 23

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
PA

 W
oo

ds
to

ck
 M

O
U

 2
01

5 
 (3

33
1 

: M
em

or
an

du
m

 o
f U

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 (M
O

U
) C

ity
 o

f W
oo

ds
to

ck
 a

nd
 G

re
en

pr
in

ts
 A

lli
an

ce
)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3328 Page 1

Travel Expense Reimbursement for Council Member Rob
Usher

Presented by: Rhonda Pezzello 

Summary:
Attended Newly Elected Officials Training in Macon, GA from March 11, 2015 to March 13, 
2015.  This reimbursement is for meals and mileage in the amount of $172.83.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number - 101-1110-5230-523510-00

Budget Amount -  $24,000

Amount Spent to Date - $590.71

Encumbered Balance - 0

Amount of Request - $172.83

Supporting Documents: 
• Rob Usher Travel Expense Form (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 9:07 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 10:13 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.4

Packet Pg. 24



7.4.a

Packet Pg. 25

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
ob

 U
sh

er
 T

ra
ve

l E
xp

en
se

 F
or

m
  (

33
28

 : 
Tr

av
el

 E
xp

en
se

 R
ei

m
bu

rs
em

en
t f

or
 C

ou
nc

il 
M

em
be

r U
sh

er
)



7.4.a

Packet Pg. 26

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
ob

 U
sh

er
 T

ra
ve

l E
xp

en
se

 F
or

m
  (

33
28

 : 
Tr

av
el

 E
xp

en
se

 R
ei

m
bu

rs
em

en
t f

or
 C

ou
nc

il 
M

em
be

r



7.4.a

Packet Pg. 27

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
ob

 U
sh

er
 T

ra
ve

l E
xp

en
se

 F
or

m
  (

33
28

 : 
Tr

av
el

 E
xp

en
se

 R
ei

m
bu

rs
em

en
t f

or
 C

ou
nc

il 
M

em
be

r U
sh

er
)



7.4.a

Packet Pg. 28

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
ob

 U
sh

er
 T

ra
ve

l E
xp

en
se

 F
or

m
  (

33
28

 : 
Tr

av
el

 E
xp

en
se

 R
ei

m
bu

rs
em

en
t f

or
 C

ou
nc

il 
M

em
be

r U
sh

er
)



7.4.a

Packet Pg. 29

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
ob

 U
sh

er
 T

ra
ve

l E
xp

en
se

 F
or

m
  (

33
28

 : 
Tr

av
el

 E
xp

en
se

 R
ei

m
bu

rs
em

en
t f

or
 C

ou
nc

il 
M

em
be

r U
sh

er
)



7.4.a

Packet Pg. 30

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
ob

 U
sh

er
 T

ra
ve

l E
xp

en
se

 F
or

m
  (

33
28

 : 
Tr

av
el

 E
xp

en
se

 R
ei

m
bu

rs
em

en
t f

or
 C

ou
nc

il 
M

em
be

r U
sh

er
)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3299 Page 1

Gameday Grill LLC - Retail Sale of Malt Beverages

Presented by: Jessica Guinn Mark Crumpton

Summary:
Gameday Grill LLC, located at 2990 Eagle Dr, is requesting to add retail sale of malt 
beverages to their current alcohol license.  Mark Crumpton will be listed as the registered 
alcohol agent. Gameday Grill has been operating and has held an alcohol license since 
December 2013.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
All requirements have been met according to our ordinance.

Budget Information:

Supporting Documents: 
• Gameday Grill retail sale (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Jessica Guinn Completed 03/11/2015 8:12 AM
City Clerk Completed 03/13/2015 9:41 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/11/2015 3:52 PM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.5

Packet Pg. 31



7.5.a

Packet Pg. 32

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
am

ed
ay

 G
ril

l r
et

ai
l s

al
e 

 (3
29

9 
: G

am
ed

ay
 G

ril
l L

LC
 - 

R
et

ai
l S

al
e-

 M
al

t B
ev

er
ag

es
)



7.5.a

Packet Pg. 33

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
am

ed
ay

 G
ril

l r
et

ai
l s

al
e 

 (3
29

9 
: G

am
ed

ay
 G

ril
l L

LC
 - 

R
et

ai
l S

al
e-

 M
al

t B
ev

er
ag

es
)



7.5.a

Packet Pg. 34

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
am

ed
ay

 G
ril

l r
et

ai
l s

al
e 

 (3
29

9 
: G

am
ed

ay
 G

ril
l L

LC
 - 

R
et

ai
l S

al
e-

 M
al

t B
ev

er
ag

es
)



7.5.a

Packet Pg. 35

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
am

ed
ay

 G
ril

l r
et

ai
l s

al
e 

 (3
29

9 
: G

am
ed

ay
 G

ril
l L

LC
 - 

R
et

ai
l S

al
e-

 M
al

t B
ev

er
ag

es
)



7.5.a

Packet Pg. 36

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
am

ed
ay

 G
ril

l r
et

ai
l s

al
e 

 (3
29

9 
: G

am
ed

ay
 G

ril
l L

LC
 - 

R
et

ai
l S

al
e-

 M
al

t B
ev

er
ag

es
)



7.5.a

Packet Pg. 37

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

G
am

ed
ay

 G
ril

l r
et

ai
l s

al
e 

 (3
29

9 
: G

am
ed

ay
 G

ril
l L

LC
 - 

R
et

ai
l S

al
e-

 M
al

t B
ev

er
ag

es
)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3342 Page 1

GA NORTHEASTERN RAILROAD MAJOR BUDGET 
AMENDMENT

Presented by: Pat Flood 

Summary:
This is for the signal replacement at Ridgewalk Parkway that was discussed with Council on 
March 9th and an agreement with the railroad was approved.  We are sharing in the costs
with Watermarke Church.  They will pay $13,000 and the City will pay $13,000.  Because 
this wasn't a budgeted item, a major budget amendment is being requested as attached.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:

Budget Information:
311-4215-5410-541200-00  Ridgewalk Railroad Crossing Expense  Requested $13,000.00

Budgeted   $         0

Paid out of Streets SPLOST line Item $13,000

Supporting Documents: 
• major budget amendment ga ne rr (PDF)
• 434 Rev & Exp (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
FinanceCompleted 03/17/2015 4:11 PM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 4:14 PM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 4:15 PM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.6

Packet Pg. 38



7.6.a

Packet Pg. 39

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

m
aj

or
 b

ud
ge

t a
m

en
dm

en
t g

a 
ne

 rr
  (

33
42

 : 
G

A
 N

E 
R

R
  M

A
JO

R
 B

U
D

G
ET

 A
M

EN
D

M
EN

T)



CITY OF WOODSTOCK

FY 2014-2015 03/01/2015 TO 03/31/2015
CURRENT PERIOD YEAR-TO-DATE BUDGETED % BUDGET REM

REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT BY ACCOUNT

REVENUE:
434-1510-3130-313220-00  SPLOST 2012 2,838,623.44 33245,668.65 1,904,287.12

TOTAL REVENUE 245,668.65 1,904,287.12 2,838,623.44 33

EXPENDITURE:
434-3210-5420-542212-00  VEHICLES 124,321.91 740.00 31,850.00
434-3210-5420-542510-00  OTHER EQUIPMENT 44,409.00 520.00 21,125.00
434-3510-5420-542212-00  VEHICLES 35,808.00 200.00 28,805.00
434-3510-5420-542510-00  OTHER EQUIPMENT 25,313.78 60.00 23,685.00
434-4215-5410-541440-00  TLP-ARNOLD MILL PROJECT 0.00 00.00 5,600.00
434-4215-5410-541510-00  BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS 25,000.00 00.00 24,878.03
434-4215-5420-542510-00  OTHER EQUIPMENT 16,000.00 57,333.00 15,216.00
434-5535-5410-541411-00  PARKS PROJECTS -- UNDESIGNATED 30,000.00 1000.00 0.00
434-5535-5420-542212-00  VEHICLES 22,656.00 10.00 22,371.00
434-5535-5420-542510-00  OTHER EQUIPMENT 28,306.00 40.00 27,036.86
434-7220-5420-542212-00  VEHICLES 20,000.00 1000.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 7,333.00 200,566.89 371,814.69 46

2,466,808.751,703,720.23238,335.65BEFORE TRANSFERS
OTHER FINANCING USE:

434-1510-6110-611112-90  TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE 2,416,808.75 25,039.33 2,362,850.65
434-1510-6110-611114-00  TRANSFER TO AMPHITHEATRE FUND 50,000.00 -2010,000.00 60,000.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING USE 15,039.33 2,422,850.65 2,466,808.75 2

AFTER TRANSFERS 223,296.32 -719,130.42 0.00

PORCHERO Page 1 4:09:35PM03/17/2015
fl141r07

7.6.b

Packet Pg. 40

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

43
4 

R
ev

 &
 E

xp
  (

33
42

 : 
G

A
 N

E 
R

R
  M

A
JO

R
 B

U
D

G
ET

 A
M

EN
D

M
EN

T)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

CONTRACT AND/OR RFP (ID # 3323)
USIS Contract Renewal

Project: General Service Agreement

Contract Start Date: 2015

Contract Expiration Date:  2016

Contract Status: Final Contract Attached 

Grant Type: Not Applicable

E-Verify Info Attached: Not Applicable

Type of Contract: Renewal Contract

Discussion:
Staff would like to request Council approve the USIS Workers Compensation Contract Renewal for the 2015-2016 year.

Comments:

Budget Information:
No change in annual cost of $8350

Supporting Documents: 
• USIS(PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Rhonda Pezzello Completed 03/13/2015 9:38 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/16/2015 9:59 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.7

Packet Pg. 41



7.
7.

a

Pa
ck

et
 P

g.
 4

2

Attachment: USIS  (3323 : USIS Contract Renewal)



7.
7.

a

Pa
ck

et
 P

g.
 4

3

Attachment: USIS  (3323 : USIS Contract Renewal)



7.
7.

a

Pa
ck

et
 P

g.
 4

4

Attachment: USIS  (3323 : USIS Contract Renewal)



7.
7.

a

Pa
ck

et
 P

g.
 4

5

Attachment: USIS  (3323 : USIS Contract Renewal)



7.
7.

a

Pa
ck

et
 P

g.
 4

6

Attachment: USIS  (3323 : USIS Contract Renewal)



7.
7.

a

Pa
ck

et
 P

g.
 4

7

Attachment: USIS  (3323 : USIS Contract Renewal)



7.
7.

a

Pa
ck

et
 P

g.
 4

8

Attachment: USIS  (3323 : USIS Contract Renewal)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3329 Page 1

Paving of Various Locations

Presented by: Pat Flood 

Summary:
An RFP (2015-13) was published soliciting bids for the paving of various areas within the City.
Proposal in the amount of $192,702.00 has been received from Wildcat Striping and Sealing to 
make repairs and pave areas of Ashland Parkway, and to overlay and stripe portions of Main 
Street.  All projects are eligible for LMIG funding.

A Major Budget Amendment is attached for submittal upon approval from Council.

This same project was sent out to bid last year but was never awarded due to lack of funding.
When we submitted for bids this year, we only received on responsive bidder - Wildcat Striping 
& Sealing.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Award of bid to Wildcat Striping & Sealing, approve attached Major Budget Amendment to 
move funds.

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number - GA-LMIG Streets Grant/250-42155410-541400-00

Budget Amount - $221,000.00

Amount Spent to Date -  0.00

Encumbered Balance - 0.00

Amount of Request -  192,702.00

Supporting Documents: 
• 2015 - 57BA (PDF)
• 2015-13 Bid Tab (PDF)
• WC Proposal (PDF)
• 250 Rev & Exp 032315 (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Pat Flood Completed 03/17/2015 2:34 PM
FinanceCompleted 03/17/2015 3:50 PM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 2:35 PM

7.8

Packet Pg. 49



Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 2:36 PM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.8

Packet Pg. 50



City of Woodstock, GA
Major Budget Amendment

Name of Department  ___________________________________________________________ 

Budget Amendment Number  ___________________________    Date  __________________ 

Account Number Account Title Debit Amount Credit Amount

$ $

$ $

$ $

$ $

$ $

$ $

Total Amount of Transfers $ $

Explanation of Budget Transfer Request  __________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

Signature of Department Head  ____________________________   Date  ________________ 

City Manager Approval  _________________________________   Date  ________________ 

Approved by City Council at the Meeting Date Of:  _________________________________ 

Entered by Finance:  ____________________________________   Date  ________________ 

7.8.a

Packet Pg. 51

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

20
15

 - 
57

B
A

  (
33

29
 : 

Pa
vi

ng
 o

f V
ar

io
us

 L
oc

at
io

ns
)

PUBLIC WORKS - STREETS
2015 - 57 02/10/2015

250-4215-5410-541400-00 GA-LMIG STREETS GRANT 6,322.26
250-4215-3341-334110-00 GA-LMIG GRANT REVENUE 6,322.26
101-4215-6110-611030-00 TRANSFER TO GRANT FUND 1,896.68
101-4215-5210-521220-00 Contract Services 1,896.68
101-4215-6110-611030-00 TRANSFER TO GRANT FUND 1,896.68
250-4215-3910-391030-00 TRANSFER FROM GEN FUND 1,896.68

10,115.62 10,115.62

To recognize additional grant
revenue received ($6,322.26) and to move additional city funds
($1,896.68) so as to meet the required 30% match for the LMIG grant.

02/10/2015



7.8.b

Packet Pg. 52

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

20
15

-1
3 

B
id

 T
ab

  (
33

29
 : 

Pa
vi

ng
 o

f V
ar

io
us

 L
oc

at
io

ns
)



7.8.c

Packet Pg. 53

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

W
C

 P
ro

po
sa

l  
(3

32
9 

: P
av

in
g 

of
 V

ar
io

us
 L

oc
at

io
ns

)



CITY OF WOODSTOCK

FY 2014-2015 03/01/2015 TO 03/31/2015
CURRENT PERIOD YEAR-TO-DATE BUDGETED % BUDGET REM

REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT BY ACCOUNT

REVENUE:
250-3210-3311-331110-00  DOJ - BULLET RESISTANT VEST 0.00 00.00 475.12
250-3210-3311-331155-00  GEMA - K9 EOD GRANT 3,000.00 521,439.87 1,439.87
250-3210-3710-371100-00  WAL-MART COMMUNITY GRANT 0.00 00.00 2,000.00
250-3510-3311-331111-00  FEMA - ASSISTANCE TO FIREFIGHTER 136,101.60 1000.00 0.00
250-3510-3311-331112-00  FEMA - FP&S GRANT 15,069.58 1000.00 0.00
250-3510-3710-371100-00  WAL-MART COMMUNITY GRANT 2,500.00 200.00 2,000.00
250-3510-3710-371101-00  GA - BRANT CHESNEY MEMORIAL GRANT 3,000.00 1000.00 0.00
250-4215-3341-334110-00  GA-LMIG GRANT 170,000.00 -40.00 176,322.26
250-7410-3311-331150-00  ARC-LCI EXPANSION 60,000.00 51,600.00 56,800.00
250-7410-3311-331160-01  GDOT-TE GRANT RUBES CREEK 540,000.00 9812,746.13 12,746.13
250-7410-3311-331165-00  GDOT-TE GRANT SOUTH MAIN STREET 67,200.00 1000.00 0.00

TOTAL REVENUE 15,786.00 251,783.38 996,871.18 75

EXPENDITURE:
250-3210-5310-531600-00  DOJ-BULLET RESISTANT VEST 8,918.00 144,347.80 7,684.80
250-3210-5310-531700-00  WAL-MART COMMUNITY GRANT - SUPPLIES 0.00 00.00 2,000.00
250-3210-5310-531729-00  GEMA - K9 EOD GRANT EXPENSE 3,000.00 210.00 2,367.82
250-3510-5310-531610-00  FEMA-FIREFIGHTER ASSIST GRANT 153,724.00 1000.00 0.00
250-3510-5310-531620-00  FEMA-FIRE PREVENTION & SAFETY GRANT 15,862.73 1000.00 0.00
250-3510-5310-531700-00  WAL-MART COMMUNITY GRANT - SUPPLIES 2,500.00 200.00 2,000.00
250-3510-5310-531710-00  BRANT CHESNEY GRANT - SUPPLIES 3,000.00 1000.00 0.00
250-4215-5410-541400-00  GA-LMIG STREETS GRANT 221,000.00 1000.00 0.00
250-7410-5210-521200-00  ARC-LCI EXPANSION STUDY 75,000.00 52,000.00 71,000.00
250-7410-5410-541200-01  GDOT-TE GRANT RUBES CREEK CONST 675,000.00 900.00 64,259.18
250-7410-5410-541410-00  GDOT-TE GRANT SOUTH MAIN STREET 84,000.00 570.00 36,291.04

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 6,347.80 185,602.84 1,242,004.73 85

-245,133.5566,180.549,438.20BEFORE TRANSFERS
OTHER FINANCING SOURCE:

250-3210-3910-391000-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 8,918.00 00.00 8,918.00
250-3510-3910-391010-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 793.15 1000.00 0.00
250-3510-3910-391020-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 15,122.40 830.00 2,500.00
250-3510-3910-391070-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 2,500.00 1000.00 0.00
250-4215-3910-391030-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 51,000.00 1000.00 0.00
250-7410-3910-391040-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 15,000.00 00.00 15,000.00
250-7410-3910-391050-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 135,000.00 00.00 135,000.00
250-7410-3910-391060-00  INTERFUND TRANSFER IN -- GF 16,800.00 00.00 16,800.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCE 0.00 178,218.00 245,133.55 27

AFTER TRANSFERS 9,438.20 244,398.54 0.00

PORCHERO Page 1 3:46:45PM03/17/2015
fl141r07

7.8.d

Packet Pg. 54

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

25
0 

R
ev

 &
 E

xp
 0

32
31

5 
 (3

32
9 

: P
av

in
g 

of
 V

ar
io

us
 L

oc
at

io
ns

)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3332 Page 1

Award Bid - Pipeline Inspection Camera & Trailer to Adams
Equipment Co., Inc.

Presented by: Pat Flood 

Summary:
RFP 2015-14 was released on February 6, 2015 requesting proposals for the purchase of a 
pipeline inspection camera and trailer for the purpose of evaluating and maintaining the 
storm drain systems throughout the City.

Submittals were received from Adams Equipment Co., Inc ($177400.00), Atlas Inspection 
Technologies, LLC ($180952.68), and Environmental Products of Georgia ($184923.00).
Copies of vendor proposals may be found on the z:drive for reference.

Staff recommends awarding the bid for purchase to Adams Equipment Co., Inc. as the 
proposal meets the requirements.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Award bid to Adams Equipment Co., Inc

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number - Other Equipment / 507-4325-5420-542610-00

Budget Amount - $223,632.00

Amount Spent to Date -  0.00

Encumbered Balance - 0.00

Amount of Request -  $177,400.00

Supporting Documents: 
• AE Proposal (PDF)
• Bid Tab 2015-14 (PDF)
• RFP 2015-14 (PDF)
• 507 Rev & Exp (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Pat Flood Completed 03/17/2015 2:32 PM
FinanceCompleted 03/17/2015 2:32 PM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 2:32 PM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 4:15 PM

7.9

Packet Pg. 55



Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.9

Packet Pg. 56



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 57

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 58

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 59

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 60

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 61

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 62

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 63

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 64

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 65

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 66

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 68

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 69

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.a

Packet Pg. 70

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
E 

Pr
op

os
al

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.b

Packet Pg. 71

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

B
id

 T
ab

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 72

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 73

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 74

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 75

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 76

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 77

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 78

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 79

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 80

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 81

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 82

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 83

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 84

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 85

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 86

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 87

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 88

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 89

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 90

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 91

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 92

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 93

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



7.9.c

Packet Pg. 94

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

R
FP

 2
01

5-
14

  (
33

32
 : 

Pi
pe

lin
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
C

am
er

a 
an

d 
Tr

ai
le

r)



CITY OF WOODSTOCK

FY 2014-2015 03/01/2015 TO 03/31/2015
CURRENT PERIOD YEAR-TO-DATE BUDGETED % BUDGET REM

REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT BY ACCOUNT

REVENUE:
507-4325-3230-323129-00  SOIL EROSION PERMITS 750.00 4430.00 420.00

TOTAL REVENUE 30.00 420.00 750.00 44

EXPENDITURE:
507-4325-5110-511110-00  SALARIES AND WAGES 385,726.73 4910,725.27 195,703.53
507-4325-5110-511317-00  OVERTIME 8,000.00 34720.22 5,288.38
507-4325-5110-512915-00  EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION 700.00 1000.00 0.00
507-4325-5120-512110-00  INSURANCE - HEALTH 74,052.00 256,171.00 55,539.00
507-4325-5120-512215-00  SOCIAL SECURITY TAXES 30,120.10 41809.06 17,822.55
507-4325-5120-512410-00  GENERAL PENSION - GMA 25,291.70 381,747.75 15,729.75
507-4325-5120-512412-00  401 A RETIREMENT 16,150.68 28537.88 11,580.68
507-4325-5120-512810-00  INSURANCE - LIFE 624.00 2745.50 455.00
507-4325-5120-513010-00  INSURANCE - DENTAL 3,664.70 240.00 2,790.39
507-4325-5210-521210-00  PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 10,000.00 95,691.66 9,087.96
507-4325-5210-521215-00  EMERGENCY MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 15,000.00 1000.00 0.00
507-4325-5210-521220-00  CONTRACT SERVICES 12,000.00 500.00 6,055.85
507-4325-5220-522212-00  SMALL EQUIPMENT MAINT. 1,000.00 940.00 62.69
507-4325-5220-522220-00  VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 15,000.00 11730.00 13,393.87
507-4325-5220-522240-00  LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE 5,000.00 680.00 1,619.48
507-4325-5220-522344-00  EQUIPMENT RENTAL 5,000.00 353,023.00 3,264.00
507-4325-5230-523210-00  TELEPHONE EXPENSE 7,500.00 35751.81 4,847.82
507-4325-5230-523310-00  PUBLIC NOTIFICATION 2,000.00 57826.12 856.12
507-4325-5230-523510-00  TRAVEL & TRAINING 10,000.00 840.00 1,561.40
507-4325-5230-523915-00  PUBLICATION & DUES 1,750.00 900.00 179.00
507-4325-5230-524010-00  UNIFORMS 6,000.00 251,041.46 4,471.82
507-4325-5230-524110-00  POSTAGE 1,500.00 950.00 68.53
507-4325-5310-531110-00  OFFICE SUPPLIES 3,500.00 7269.98 982.99
507-4325-5310-531117-00  CLEANING SUPPLIES 1,000.00 25453.76 753.69
507-4325-5310-531119-00  PUBLIC EDUCATION SUPPLIES 1,000.00 240.00 762.91
507-4325-5310-531167-00  SOFTWARE EXPENSE 2,000.00 800.00 403.90
507-4325-5310-531224-00  CHEMICALS 1,000.00 930.00 72.00
507-4325-5310-531610-00  MINOR EQUIPMENT 15,000.00 271,840.67 10,978.23
507-4325-5310-531710-00  STREET MARKING MATERIALS 200.00 1000.00 0.00
507-4325-5310-531715-00  SIGNS 500.00 120.00 440.60
507-4325-5310-532020-00  HOT MIX, ASPHALT & GRAVEL 20,000.00 490.00 10,121.98
507-4325-5310-532125-00  CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS 20,000.00 720.00 5,565.08
507-4325-5310-532227-00  SAFETY MATERIALS 2,500.00 5863.35 1,050.32
507-4325-5410-541410-00  INFRASTRUCTURE 312,000.00 180.00 254,467.00
507-4325-5420-542213-00  VEHICLE OPERATIONS 34,000.00 670.00 11,187.67
507-4325-5420-542610-00  OTHER EQUIPMENT 223,632.00 1000.00 0.00
507-4325-5520-552210-00  SETTLEMENTS 2,000.00 1000.00 0.00
507-4325-5610-561110-00  DEPRECIATION EXPENSE 160,255.29 450.00 88,665.87
507-4325-5810-581210-00  CAPITAL LEASE PRINCIPAL 104,913.85 1000.00 0.00
507-4325-5820-582214-00  INTEREST 836.18 1000.00 0.00
507-4325-5820-582215-00  CAPITAL LEASE INTEREST 3,978.32 1000.00 0.00

PORCHERO Page 1 3:53:18PM03/17/2015
fl141r07

7.9.d

Packet Pg. 95

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

50
7 

R
ev

 &
 E

xp
  (

33
32

 : 
Pi

pe
lin

e 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

C
am

er
a 

an
d 

Tr
ai

le
r)



CITY OF WOODSTOCK

FY 2014-2015 03/01/2015 TO 03/31/2015
CURRENT PERIOD YEAR-TO-DATE BUDGETED % BUDGET REM

REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT BY ACCOUNT

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 35,248.49 735,830.06 1,544,395.55 52

-1,543,645.55-735,410.06-35,218.49BEFORE TRANSFERS
OTHER FINANCING USE:

507-4325-6110-611125-00  OPERATING TRANSFER - GF 327,450.00 330.00 218,300.00
507-4325-6110-611126-00  OPERATING TRANSFER - DEBT SER. 0.00 00.00 92,798.92

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING USE 0.00 311,098.92 327,450.00 5

AFTER TRANSFERS -35,218.49 -1,046,508.98 -1,871,095.55

PORCHERO Page 2 3:53:18PM03/17/2015
fl141r07

7.9.d

Packet Pg. 96

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

50
7 

R
ev

 &
 E

xp
  (

33
32

 : 
Pi

pe
lin

e 
In

sp
ec

tio
n 

C
am

er
a 

an
d 

Tr
ai

le
r)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3339 Page 1

Award Bid - Mill Street Parking to Wildcat Striping & Sealing

Presented by: Pat Flood 

Summary:
An RFP (2015-11) was released to request proposals for the paving and striping of the Mill 
Street Parking Lot as well as to install sidewalk and curb and gutter.

Bids were received from Wildcat Striping and Sealing ($84322.00), Summit Construction & 
Development LLC ($101511.20), C&S Paving Co. Inc ($104850.00) and CMEC, LLC 
($136142.50).

After review, staff recommends award of bid to Wildcat Striping & Sealing in the amount of 
$84322.00.

An attachment is included detailing the budget information as multiple accounts are involved.
A Major Budget Amendment has been provided from Parks & Rec and is attached for 
approval.  DDA will be contributing $5000.00 and will provide landscaping once the project 
is complete.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Award bid to Wildcat Striping & Sealing

Budget Information:
An attachment is included detailing the budget information as multiple accounts are involved.  A Major Budget Amendment has been 
provided from Parks & Rec and is attached for approval.  DDA will be contributing $5000.00 and will provide landscaping once the
project is complete.

Supporting Documents: 
• 2015 - 11 - Pre-Bid Roster (PDF)
• 2015 - 11 Bid Tab (PDF)
• Account Info (XLSX)
• Amendment PR (PDF)
• WC Proposal (PDF)
• 315 Rev & Exp (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Pat Flood Completed 03/17/2015 2:22 PM
FinanceCompleted 03/17/2015 4:01 PM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 2:22 PM

7.10

Packet Pg. 97



Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 4:16 PM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.10

Packet Pg. 98



7.10.a

Packet Pg. 99

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

20
15

 - 
11

 - 
Pr

e-
B

id
 R

os
te

r  
(3

33
9 

: M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



Firm Name  Lump Sum 
Total  Comments 

Wildcat Striping & Sealing 84,322.00$ Price excludes: permit, cleaning, landscaping, surveyng, underground utilities, 
bollards and any item or quantity not listed.

Summit Construction & Development LLC 101,511.20$ Price includes traffic control, erosion control & grading.

C & S Paving Co. Inc 104,850.00$ Price excludes:  bonds, layout, testing, permits, traffic control, demolition, 
patching, compaction of utility trenches, saw cutting, pressure washing and sealing 
and striping.

CMEC, LLC 136,142.50$ No warranty on overlay due to existing underlying asphalt condition

RFP 2015 - 11 - Mill Street Parking
February 27, 2015 10:00 am

7.10.b

Packet Pg. 100

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

20
15

 - 
11

 B
id

 T
ab

  (
33

39
 : 

M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



Account Name Account Number Budget Amount Spent to Date Encumbered

Infrastructure 507-4325-5410-541410-00 549,000.00$ 75,768.00$ -$
Contract Services 101-4215-5210-521220-00 95,700.00$ 11,860.70$ 2,000.00$
Parks & Rec Impact 368,500.00$ 104,095.22$ 173,333.11$
DDA

7.10.c

Packet Pg. 101

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
cc

ou
nt

 In
fo

  (
33

39
 : 

M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



Requested Amount

12,650.00$
49,618.00$
17,054.00$

5,000.00$

84,322.00$

7.10.c

Packet Pg. 102

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
cc

ou
nt

 In
fo

  (
33

39
 : 

M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



7.10.d

Packet Pg. 103

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

A
m

en
dm

en
t P

R
  (

33
39

 : 
M

ill
 S

tr
ee

t P
ar

ki
ng

)



7.10.e

Packet Pg. 104

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

W
C

 P
ro

po
sa

l  
(3

33
9 

: M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



7.10.e

Packet Pg. 105

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

W
C

 P
ro

po
sa

l  
(3

33
9 

: M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



7.10.e

Packet Pg. 106

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

W
C

 P
ro

po
sa

l  
(3

33
9 

: M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



7.10.e

Packet Pg. 107

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

W
C

 P
ro

po
sa

l  
(3

33
9 

: M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



7.10.e

Packet Pg. 108

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

W
C

 P
ro

po
sa

l  
(3

33
9 

: M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



7.10.e

Packet Pg. 109

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

W
C

 P
ro

po
sa

l  
(3

33
9 

: M
ill

 S
tr

ee
t P

ar
ki

ng
)



CITY OF WOODSTOCK

FY 2014-2015 03/01/2015 TO 03/31/2015
CURRENT PERIOD YEAR-TO-DATE BUDGETED % BUDGET REM

REVENUE & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT BY ACCOUNT

REVENUE:
315-1510-3610-361172-00  INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 125.00 -3,2350.00 4,169.09
315-7220-3410-341322-00  IMPACT FEES - PARK 239,875.00 -2722,645.80 303,453.72

TOTAL REVENUE 22,645.80 307,622.81 240,000.00 -28

EXPENDITURE:
315-5535-5410-541110-00  PARK-CAPITAL OUTLAY 368,500.00 2536,204.04 277,428.33
315-7220-5530-553110-00  MANAGEMENT FEE EXPENSE 10,000.00 -1500.00 25,000.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 36,204.04 302,428.33 378,500.00 20

-138,500.005,194.48-13,558.24BEFORE TRANSFERS
OTHER FINANCING SOURCE:

315-1510-3940-394136-00  USE OF RESERVES 138,500.00 1000.00 0.00
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCE 0.00 0.00 138,500.00 100

AFTER TRANSFERS -13,558.24 5,194.48 0.00

PORCHERO Page 1 3:59:27PM03/17/2015
fl141r07

7.10.f

Packet Pg. 110

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

31
5 

R
ev

 &
 E

xp
  (

33
39

 : 
M

ill
 S

tr
ee

t P
ar

ki
ng

)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3341 Page 1

Paden Street Construction

Presented by: Pat Flood 

Summary:
We are requesting for Council to approve the Mayor to sign an agreement allowing the 
City to pay for half the cost associated with Paden St construction pending the City
Attorneys review and approval. The agreement will be provided at the Council meeting. 
At this time the agreement is being revised by the City Attorney to include the purchase 
of stream credits from the Army Corp.

Attached is a quote showing the total cost for construction at $355,531.00 (City portion
not to exceed $177,765.50). The construction cost will be a capital project budgeted for 
in the FY 2016/2017 general fund budget.

This project will also require the purchase of stream credits from the Army Corp. The 
stream credit total cost is estimated not to exceed $29,000 (City portion not to exceed 
$14,500.00). The City portion of the stream credit cost will be paid out of the Storm 
Water construction line item FY 2016/2017. Total cost of the project is $384,531.00. The 
total that the City would be responsible for will not exceed $192,265.50.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Approve Mayor's signature pending City Attorney approval of agreement

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number - to be determined from FY 16-17

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• Paden St. cost summary Revised 03.17.15 (XLSX)
• z-Woodstock 2_Paden St_1.30.15 (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Pat Flood Completed 03/17/2015 3:59 PM

7.11

Packet Pg. 111



City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 3:59 PM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 4:00 PM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

7.11

Packet Pg. 112



Paden St. Summary

5% General Conditions 16,161$
Engineering 15,000$
Clearing and Demo
Grading Contract 119,777$
Erosion Control 4,050$
Erosion Control Maintenance 5,500$
Site layout 6,300$
Storm sewer 40,306$
Sanitary sewer 35,322$
Water system 17,400$
Retaining walls
Curbing 7,580$
Sidewalks 6,080$
Asphalt paving 17,695$
Sleeving 1,500$
Striping 3,000$
Fine grading 7,500$
Street lighting 15,000$
Street landscaping/trees 18,000$
Street signage 3,200$ hard cost
Utility relocation 323,210$
Site work contingency -$
Contractor overhead -$

5% Contractor Fee 16,161$

355,531$

New Scenario

7.11.a

Packet Pg. 113

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Pa
de

n 
St

. c
os

t s
um

m
ar

y 
R

ev
is

ed
 0

3.
17

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 114

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 115

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 116

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 117

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 118

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 119

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 120

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 121

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



7.11.b

Packet Pg. 122

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

z-
W

oo
ds

to
ck

 2
_P

ad
en

 S
t_

1.
30

.1
5 

 (3
34

1 
: P

ad
en

 S
tr

ee
t C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

ORDINANCE (ID # 3322)
Public Hearing/Vote:  V#128-14 and CUP#022-14 Platinum Cars, Inc Request 

for Conditional Use Permit and Variances

Presented by: 

Summary:
The City of Woodstock, Georgia has received a Variance and Conditional Use Permit application from Trilochan Bhatia 
of Alpharetta, GA (Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14 Platinum Used Cars). The property is located at 10915 Highway 
92 in Woodstock, Georgia consisting of ±0.73 acres. The property is identified as tax map and parcel number 15N18 
049A zoned GC (General Commercial) with Parkway Overlay in the City limits of Woodstock, GA.  Variances requested 
are to LDO Section 7.930 #6 for building materials and 7.928 for buffers and setbacks for a non-compliant building that 
has been constructed on the property without permits. The Conditional Use Permit is required to allow for auto sales and 
service.

Recommendation:
Hold public hearing. 
Vote to deny or approve conditional use permit and variance requests.

Budget Information:

Supporting Documents: 
• V#128-14 and CUP#022-14 CC Staff Report (PDF)
• DRAFT Planning Commission Minutes V#128-14 CUP#022-14 (DOCX)
• V128-14 Application for Variances (PDF)
• V128-14 Applicant Response Statement Variances (PDF)
• CUP022-14 Application for Conditional Use Permit (PDF)
• Platinum Used Cars As-built Site Plan (PDF)
• Platinum Cars Public Input Meeting Minutes (PDF)
• Speer Letter 3.5.15 (letter from neighboring property owner) (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Community Development Completed 03/16/2015 11:45 AM
.
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 9:15 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 10:14 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

8.1

Packet Pg. 123



City of Woodstock
Ordinance# (ID # 3322)

PUBLIC HEARING/VOTE: V#128-14 AND CUP#022-14 PLATINUM CARS, INC REQUEST FOR 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AND VARIANCES

Ordinance draft is attached.

___________________________
Donnie Henriques, Mayor

 City of Woodstock, Georgia

Attest:  _________________________
Rhonda Pezzello, City Clerk

 City of Woodstock, Georgia

As approved this3/23/2015th day of March, 2015

8.1

Packet Pg. 124



                                    CASE V#128-14 
Platinum Used Cars – 10915 Highway 92 

 

1 
 

Council Ward:  3 
Evaluation Prepared by: Katie Coulborn 
 
Applicant:  Trilochan Bhatia (on behalf of Platinum Cars, Inc.)  
   2006 Tavistock Court 
   Alpharetta, GA 30022 
   678-213-2346 
 
Owner:  Jeffrey B. Johnson 
 
Parcel #:  15N18 049A 
 
Location:  10915 Highway 92 
 
Area:  +/- 0.73 ac. 
 
Request: Variance requests for architecture, buffers, and setbacks to allow a non-compliant building 

that has been constructed on the property without permits.  Concurrent request for 
Conditional Use Permit to expand a non-conforming use (auto sales). 

Proposed Use/ 
Purpose: The new accessory structure is being used as a minor automotive repair facility for the 

business inventory. 
 
Current Zoning: GC (General Commercial) with Parkway Overlay  
 
Current Land Use: Used car sales (legal non-conforming use) with accessory structure for minor automotive 

repairs. 
 
Future Land Use: WPC – Workplace Center 
 
Surrounding Properties: 

 Current Zoning Current Land Use 
North GC (General Commercial) Office suites 
East GC (General Commercial) Small strip commercial center with State Farm 
South GC (General Commercial) Undeveloped and vacant parcels 
West GC (General Commercial) and R-3 (Medium 

Density Residential) 
Straw, Stuff and More, Inc. and  Woodstock 
Village Townhomes 

 
Input Meeting: January 5, 2015 
DPC Meeting: January 7, 2015 
PC Meeting: March 5, 2015 
Council Meeting: March 23, 2015 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 125

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

2 
 

Executive Summary: 
 

In mid-2014, a building was erected on the subject property, which is occupied by Platinum Cars, Inc.  The accessory 
structure was constructed without permits of any kind to be used for minor automotive repair for the business 
inventory.  The repair facility is not open to the public but contains a car lift, tools, oil, and other car repair items.  
Since no permits were applied for and no plans were submitted, the building cannot be occupied safely until it has 
been inspected by the Fire and Building Departments. This is impossible without a set of plans.  The applicant has 
been unable to produce plans for the building and after much correspondence and several meetings to try to resolve 
the issue, the applicant has indicated that they would like to wait to see if the variances will be approved before they 
invest a considerable amount of money to make the building comply with safety codes and regulations.  A stop work 
order has been issued to the building as of January 26, 2015, which requires the building to be emptied and no person 
to enter the building for any reason. 
 
The building is classified in LDO Chapter 2 Definitions, as an accessory building: A subordinate building, the use of 
which is incidental to that of a main building and is located on the same lot therewith.  Accessory buildings are 
required by LDO Sec. 7.304 (19) to be no closer than 5 feet from side or rear lot lines, meaning that the structure can 
encroach into the side or rear setback, as long as it is 5 feet from the property line. The structure is only 3.3’ from 
the rear property line.  In addition, this lot lies within the Parkway Overlay district, which is more restrictive than 
General Commercial alone, requiring a 40’ buffer against commercial uses and a 75’ buffer against residential.  
According to LDO Chapter 7, Article VI, buffers shall be free of encroachments (7.603 #4) and shall not be used for 
anything other than some forms of passive recreation (7.604). The Parkway Overlay district also has architectural 
standards (7.930) which would prohibit the type of building that was erected. 
 

 
The property is used for automobile sales, which is a legally non-conforming use.  Currently, automobile sales is only 
allowed in the General Commercial zoning district by approval of a Conditional Use Permit.  The property was used 
for automobile sales before this use became conditional, so it was essentially “grandfathered.”   
 
LDO Sec. 7.811 states in part: 
Lawful non-conforming uses, buildings, and structures existing at the time of the passage of this ordinance…shall be 
allowed to remain subject to the following provisions: 
 2.  Enlargement prohibited. A non-conforming use of land shall be restricted to the area occupied by such use as 
of the effective date of this Ordinance. A non-conforming use of a building or buildings shall not be enlarged to either 
additional land or buildings after the effective date of this ordinance. 

Code Section Ordinance Requirement Existing 
7.304 (19) (c) Standards 
applying to all districts – 
Accessory use requirements. 

Accessory buildings must be no closer than 
5’ to a side or rear lot line. 

Building is 3.3’ from rear 
property line 

7.928 Parkway Overlay  - Site 
development standards 

75’ buffer between commercial and 
residential 

No buffer 

7.928 Parkway Overlay  - Site 
development standards 

40’ buffer between commercial and 
commercial 

No buffer 

7.930 Parkway Overlay – 
Architectural Standards 

80% brick requirement Prefabricated metal building 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 126

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

3 
 

 
Because of this provision, the applicant has applied for a Conditional Use Permit to expand the non-conforming use 
into the accessory structure.  Furthermore, under the current legally non-conforming status, should the existing 
buildings be damaged by fire, flood, wind, or other act of God or man exceeding 60 percent of the fair market value 
prior to the damage, the use could not be reestablished.  Approval of a Conditional Use to allow for Automobile Sales 
would provide some protection for the business owner in the event of such damage.   

 
The Woodstock Police Department has responded to multiple calls to the site for illegal parking and offloading of 
tractor-trailers in the right-of-way for Churchill Court and the deceleration lane on Highway 92 at Churchill Court, 
thus creating a safety hazard on these public rights-of-way.  Public Works has subsequently installed no parking signs 
along Churchill Court, and the Police Department has issued citations to delivery drivers who have parked in the right-
of-way to offload vehicles.   

The City has also had complaints from neighboring property owners about employees and customers from 
Platinum using their private parking. 
 
Granting a Conditional Use Permit for the use would make Automobile Sales no longer a non-conforming use.  It is 
possible to grant the Conditional Use Permit to make the use legal without granting the variances to allow the 
accessory structure.  Staff recommends granting the CUP with the condition that when the business ownership 
lapses, the use shall not be continued, as well as with other conditions that would control the visual appearance, 
parking and offloading practices, and intensity of the use to keep the business from remaining injurious to public 
safety and to make it more compatible with the surrounding uses. 
 
Zoning History: 
 
No zoning history was found in relation to the subject property. 
 
Criteria for Consideration of a Conditional Use Request: 
 
Woodstock LDO Section 7.503- Conditional Use Permit Review Criteria, provides the following criteria which must be 
considered in reviewing Conditional Use requests: 
 
(a) Whether or not there will be a significant adverse effect on the surrounding area in which the proposed use 

will be located. 
 
The existing non-conforming use has adverse effects on surrounding properties because of the documented 
parking problem and the continued illegal offloading practices.  The business consistently has more cars delivered 
than will fit on the site and has apparently been unable to require delivery drivers to offload inventory safely.  
Expanding the use with a new building would increase the parking problem, taking up space that is needed to park 
the cars.  Allowing the use to continue without more regulation would prolong these adverse effects. 
 
  

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 127

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

4 
 

(b) Whether or not the use is otherwise compatible with the surrounding area. 
 
Prior to 2010, Automobile Sales was a permitted use in the General Commercial zoning district.  There are several 
other auto sales uses in the district that were established before 2010 such as Hennessey Honda, Cherokee Ford, 
the old Hyundai dealership, and Southern Auto Brokers which is nearby on Highway 92. The Conditional Use 
Permit process was implemented for uses that “generally would not be appropriate throughout a zoning district, 
but which, if controlled as to the visual appearance, number, area, height location, or relation to abutting or 
nearby uses, would not be injurious to the public…” (Sec. 7.502) W.T. Standard was recently granted a Conditional 
Use Permit just across the street from the subject property for wholesale auto sales.  If granted for Platinum, this 
would be the first CUP for general auto sales in the district, though the property has been used for general auto 
sales since 2006, and prior to that time, the property was used for a rental car business.  To the west is Straw, 
Stuff and More, Inc., which is a retail business with outdoor sales.  This is the most compatible abutting use. The 
other adjacent uses are mostly offices, and the site is bordered in a small section by a residential development. 
These uses are less compatible with the use in question, but if controlled, the business could be conducted without 
being a nuisance. 
 

(c) Whether or not the use proposed will result in a nuisance as defined under state law. 
 
O.C.G.A. §41-1-1 defines a nuisance as, “anything that causes hurt, inconvenience, or damage to another and the 
fact that the act done may otherwise be lawful shall not keep it from being a nuisance.”  The repeated illegal 
parking and offloading poses a nuisance to the surrounding property owners, the police department, and the 
public. 
 

(d) Whether or not quiet enjoyment of surrounding property will be adversely affected. 
 
If the building for repairs was approved, only minor auto repairs would be taking place inside the accessory 
structure.  These repairs may currently be happening outside a building, so allowing the building would likely 
decrease noise produced on the site.  Continuation of the use is not likely to make any more noise than is produced 
by current conditions. 
 

(e) Whether or not property values of surrounding property will be adversely affected. 
 
Property values are not likely to change in response to expanding or continuing the use. 
 

(f) Whether or not adequate provisions are made for parking and traffic considerations. 
 
Parking and traffic are the main issues caused by the current business.  Adequate provisions are not made for the 
number of cars the applicant has on the site and the traffic situation in reference to offloading inventory is often 
unsafe, illegal, and requires constant police supervision.  
 
 
 
 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 128

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

5 
 

(g) Whether or not the site or intensity of the use is appropriate. 
 
The intensity of the use concerning how much of the site is used for holding inventory is inappropriate compared 
to other businesses in the area.  Properties developed recently in the Parkway Overlay district have large buffers 
and streetscape zones. Most other properties developed prior to the Parkway Overlay district’s existence are not 
nearly as cluttered and intense as the subject property.  The subject property is almost entirely covered in 
pavement and has very few trees and grass compared to other properties in the area.  In historical aerial photos 
of the site, there have been cars parked where the accessory structure now stands, indicating that this space is 
needed for inventory storage.  Taking away the inventory parking space will heighten the problem.  The applicant 
has stated that they usually have 100 – 110 cars on the lot.  It appears from these photos, that this is too much 
inventory for a site of this size. According to the 2006 photo, where the marked spaces can clearly be seen, there 
are 54 marked parking spaces on this lot. 
 

       
2014 – 76 cars   2012 – 67 cars         2009 – 79 cars  2006 – 24 cars 
 

(h) Whether or not special or unique conditions created by the use are consistent with the purpose, intent and 
goals of the Comprehensive Town Plan 

 
The Future Character Area for the subject property is WPC – Workplace Center.  The workplace calls for “large 
employment centers that incorporate many aspects of commerce such as professional office buildings, corporate 
offices, regional offices, high-tech and research facilities and small office complexes; educational services and 
recreation and light industrial uses such as warehousing and wholesale…Buffers are critical between incompatible 
uses. Guidelines that address signage and lighting will help to mitigate the negative impacts of a high 
concentration of commercial and industrial uses.” 
 
While the use does provide employment, the intent of the Workplace Center does not seem to include outdoor 
retail sales as a desirable use.  The Plan does recognize that uses in this area may be incompatible with each other, 
so it recommends buffers and other mitigation tactics, none of which are employed by the use in question. 
 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 129

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

6 
 

(i) Whether or not adequate provisions are made regarding hours of operation.   
 
The hours of operation are adequate and similar to other businesses on Highway 92. 

 
(j) Whether or not adequate controls and limits are placed on commercial and business deliveries. 

 
Controls and limits required by the Police Department and City Code have not been successful on commercial 
deliveries of inventory.  This is a chronic problem for the business and Police Department.  The applicant has been 
asked repeatedly to control how the cars are delivered.  The applicant has stated that they have asked the drivers 
to deliver the cars at other locations, but the drivers deliver directly on Highway 92 in the deceleration lane or 
median, or on Churchill Court anyway.  If a CUP is granted with conditions requiring legal offloading of inventory, 
future violations would be a violation not only of traffic laws, but of conditions of zoning, which would require a 
court appearance. 
 

(k) Whether or not adequate landscape plans are incorporated to ensure appropriate transition between adjacent 
or nearby properties. 

 
No landscape plans have been incorporated in this request. 
 

(l) Whether or not the public health, safety, welfare or moral concerns of the surrounding neighborhood will be 
adversely affected. 

 
The public safety of the surrounding neighborhood is already adversely affected.   
 

(m) Whether the application complies with any applicable specific requirements set forth in this chapter for 
Conditional Use permits for particular types of uses.   

 
There are no specific requirements set forth for conditional use permits for Automobile Sales. 
 
Criteria for Consideration of a Variance Request: 
 
Woodstock LDO Section 10.160- Variances, provides the following criteria which must be considered as the Planning 
Commission and City Council review variance requests: 
 
(n) There are exceptional and extraordinary conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property in question, 

due to its size, shape or topography. 
 
The main exceptional condition existing on this property is the size of the parcel.  The parcel is 114’ wide.  The 
buffers and side setbacks required in the Parkway Overlay are 40’ (commercial) and 10’, totaling 100’ for both 
sides, meaning that the entire width of the property is covered in buffers and setbacks.  For the small section of 
the property bordering residential, the buffer would be 75’, meaning that the buffers and setbacks would overlap.   
 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 130

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

7 
 

(o) The application of these regulations to this particular piece of property would create a practical difficulty or 
unnecessary hardship. 

 
Application of the buffers on this property would create a hardship.  If the buffers were not enforced, the 
accessory structure would only have to comply with the requirement to be 5’ from the property line.  This is also 
required by the International Building Code.  Currently the structure sits 3.3’ from the rear property line.  The 
applicant contends that the structure needs to be located there so that cars can drive between the principal 
structure and the accessory structure.  There is currently approximately 14’ separating the two structures.  Moving 
the building forward 1.7’ would still allow enough room to drive a car between the structures, so the application 
of the 5’ separation between the building and property line is not a practical difficulty or hardship. 
 

(p) Such conditions are peculiar to the particular piece of property involved. 
 
These conditions are peculiar to the subject property. 
 

(q) A literal interpretation of this ordinance would deprive the applicants of any rights that others in the same 
district are allowed. 

 
A literal interpretation of the buffer standards would deprive the applicants of the ability to have buildings on 
their property generally.  A literal interpretation of the setback and architectural requirements would not deprive 
the applicant of any rights. 
 

(r) Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good, or impair the purposes and intent 
of this ordinance. 

 
Allowing the building to be closer than 5’ to the property line could cause detriment to the public good, as it would 
violate the International Building Code, to which all buildings are required to adhere.  Relief from the architectural 
requirements and building placement standards could impair the intent of the Parkway Overlay district standards, 
which, in part, is to “generate quality development along the thoroughfare while promoting economic, cultural, 
open space, and safety features to promote the public welfare.” 
 

(s) Special circumstances or conditions applying to the building or land or building and land in question are 
peculiar to such premises and do not apply generally to other land or buildings in the vicinity. 

 
Generally, other buildings in the vicinity have complied with the buffers and architectural requirements.  There 
have been some cases of architectural variances, but in those cases, brick has been proposed to be replaced mostly 
with other masonry materials.  We have been unable to find a case where a 100% metal building has been 
permitted in recent memory. 
 
 
 
 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 131

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

8 
 

(t) Granting of the application is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a property right and not merely 
to serve as a convenience to the applicant. 

 
Granting of the application is not necessary for the preservation or enjoyment of a property right. The applicant 
has stated that the accessory structure was constructed for the convenience of doing repairs on cars on-site 
instead of contracting that work out. 
 

(u) The condition from which relief or a variance is sought did not result from willful action by the applicant. 
 
The condition from which relief is sought did result from the applicant’s actions.  If the applicant had applied for 
a building permit for the structure before it was constructed, the City could have made the applicant aware that 
the building is not allowed by the building and zoning codes as it was constructed. 
 
 

(v) Authorizing of the variance will not impair adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property or 
unreasonably increase the congestion of public streets, increase the danger of fire, imperil the public safety, 
unreasonably diminish or impair established property values within the surrounding areas or in any other 
respect impair the health, safety, comfort, morals or general welfare of the inhabitants of the City.   

 
It is not clear whether authorizing the variance would impair adequate supply of light to adjacent property.  Taking 
up space that was once used for parking or inventory storage would increase the street parking congestion if the 
applicant does not decrease the number of cars on the lot.  As it stands un-permitted and un-inspected, the 
building could pose a safety risk.  If the variances are granted, the applicant will have to submit plans, get building 
permits, have the building inspected, and make any required changes to the building for safety.  The surrounding 
property values, health, safety, comfort, morals and general welfare of the citizens are not likely to be substantially 
affected by the authorization of the variances, if the building is made safe and moved at least 5’ from the property 
line. 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
 
At the January 14, 2015, meeting the Development Process Committee voted to recommend approval the 
Conditional Use Permit with the following conditions and denial of the variance requests. 

 
1. By granting this Conditional Use Permit, the use is no longer legally non-conforming.  This Conditional Use Permit 

is tied to the business, Platinum Cars, Inc., and the business owner, Trilochan Bhatia.  If the use is discontinued 
for any amount of time by either the business or the business owner, the Conditional Use Permit will become 
invalid and the use will no longer be permitted. 

2. No more than 60 cars for sale, or in the process of being sold, shall be on the lot at any given time. 
3. No parking of inventory, employee vehicles, or customer vehicles on any public street or in any parking lot other 

than that which exists on the subject property without a written agreement, and no parking on grass. 
4. No unloading of inventory on any public street, median, or any public right of way. 
 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 132

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

9 
 

At the same Development Process Committee meeting, the Committee voted to recommend certain additional 
conditions in the event the variances are granted to allow the accessory structure to remain. 
1.  Upon approval of Conditional Use Permit and any variances, the applicant must submit engineered drawings and 

specifications for the accessory structure.  When drawings are submitted and the building is inspected, the 
applicant must comply with the requests of the City of Woodstock Building Department and Fire Department 
concerning building safety, including the construction/anchoring of the building, electrical work, and proper 
ventilation. 

2. The accessory structure must be moved so that it is no closer than five feet to any property line. 
3. Variance to the Parkway Overlay buffer requirements is granted. 
4. The accessory structure must be faced in brick for 80% of the façade on at least three sides of the building. 
 
Planning Commission Recommendation: 
 
At the March 5, 2015, meeting the Planning Commission voted on the Conditional Use Permit and the Variance 
request separately.  They voted to approve the Conditional Use Permit with the following conditions (changes from 
the staff conditions are in italics.) 
 
1. By granting this Conditional Use Permit, the use is no longer legally non-conforming.  This Conditional Use Permit 

is tied to the business, Platinum Cars, Inc., and the business owner, Trilochan Bhatia.  If the use is discontinued 
for any amount of time by either the business or the business owner, the Conditional Use Permit will become 
invalid and the use will no longer be permitted. 

2. No more than 100 cars for sale, or in the process of being sold, shall be on the lot at any given time. 
3. No parking of inventory, employee vehicles, or customer vehicles on any public street or in any parking lot other 

than that which exists on the subject property without a written agreement, and no parking in the Highway 92 
grass right of way. 

4. No unloading of inventory on any Highway 92 public right of way. 
5. No outdoor storage of any parts, chemicals, or materials. 
6. Applicant shall add a wooden 6’ privacy fence attached to the existing fence at the northwest corner of the 

property and extending to the northeast corner of the property at Churchill Court. 
 
The vote on whether to approve the variance request was a tie 3-3, and moves forward to the Mayor and Council 
with no recommendation from the Planning Commission. 
 
Attachments: 

Zoning Map 
Aerial 
Site Map 
Site Photos 

  

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 133

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

10 
 

Zoning Map 

 

  

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 134

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

11 
 

Aerial 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 135

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

12 
 

 

Site Map 

 

 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 136

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14       Platinum Cars, Inc.  
 

13 
 

Site Photos 

 

   

 

8.1.a

Packet Pg. 137

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 C
C

 S
ta

ff 
R

ep
or

t  
(3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



3/5/14 Planning Commission DRAFT Minutes

V#128-14 and CUP#022-14 Platinum Cars, Inc.

Katie Coulborn presented the staff report.

Comments – CURRENT MEETING

Rakesh Parmar (Applicant) - If we are limited to 60 cars, that would put the business in jeopardy. 110 to 
120 cars has worked in the past for us. There have been complaints about parking, but Chief Moss 
approved us parking cars on the street. We no longer park in front of the State Farm and chiropractor’s 
office. We have an agreement with the tree business to park customer and employee cars there, not 
inventory.  For condition 4, unloading inventory is crucial to the business. There is a semi once or twice 
per week and it takes about an hour to unload. We don’t do it on Highway 92. We make sure that they
come inside. The tree business will allow us to use his property for unloading.

Lee Zell – How many cars are there that are not located on the lot?

Rakesh Parmar – Just inventory cars are on the lot. Four or five employee cars are parked on the street.

Lee Zell – How many cars parked over by State Farm?

Rakesh Parmar – None.

Lee Zell - How many in the tree lot?

Rakesh Parmar – None.

Lee Zell – I noticed a lot of cars on the street.  I also noticed a carport with a tarp over it attached to the 
main building.

Rakesh Parmar – The carport behind the building, that’s where all the car detailing is going on.

Lee Zell – I noticed a lot of things outside behind the building like tires, buckets of chemicals, and an 
entire truck bed. Some of these items have been pushed over the walls onto other properties.  It looked 
like these things have been outside for a long time. What do you store back there?

Rakesh Parmar – We are waiting to see how this variance goes.  If we can keep the shed, that’s our 
storage.

Lee Zell – If the shed goes away, where will you store these items?

Rakesh Parmar – They will be disposed of.

James Drinkard – The materials that Mr. Zell saw are in the yard. Prior to the close of the shed, were 
these things in the yard?

Rakesh Parmar – Yes.

Lee Zell – How often do you take wheels and debris to the junk yard?

Rakesh Parmar – I don’t know. I have only been working for the company since December.

Jeff Wood – Do you agree to the additional variance conditions that staff has recommended?

8.1.b

Packet Pg. 138

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

D
R

A
FT

 P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 M

in
ut

es
 V

#1
28

-1
4 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



Rakesh Parmar – When we put up the building, we were not aware of the zoning rules.  We thought it 
was okay. It was a surprise to find out that there was a problem.  Do I agree? Possibly not, but we 
understand that the City has rules. We don’t agree to number 1; number 2, the structure is anchored to 
the ground and moving it is not financially feasible; I have no comment about number 3; and for number 
4, the building can’t be easily seen from Highway 92, so we don’t think the brick is necessary.

Jeff Wood – What was the previous name of the business? Executive something?

Joe Hill (Service Director for Platinum Cars, Inc.) – The same family has owned the business for almost
eight years.

Jeff Wood – Item 2 says no more than 60 cars on the lot. How many cars can you park on the property?

Joe Hill – We carry an inventory of 120 cars. With that number, we still have a complete passage way to 
drive around the property. 

Jeff Wood – Does that include the cars parked on the grass in the right of way on Highway 92?

Joe Hill – We don’t do that. The only time we do it is on the weekends, but everyone does that.

Jeff Wood – Your employees park on the street now, where do the customers park?

Joe Hill – Directly in front of the building. We have 6 space, 2 are handicapped.

Jeff Wood – there are no parking signs on the street. Where are they located? 

Joe Hill – No parking sign on the street between 92 and our driveway.

Jeff Wood – For clarification, you do not agree with any of the conditions placed on the building for 
safety?

Joe Hill – We actually agree with variance conditions 1 through 3. Number 4, you really can’t see the 
building from 92 until you get on the lot. It would be a waste of money and resources to build a brick 
wall. There’s a privacy fence against the residential property on top of a retaining wall.

Jeff Wood – Can the truck safely off-load on Churchill Court?

Joe Hill – Yes, and sometimes they get there before we do and I tell them to not park at any other 
business.  It’s hard to control the truck drivers. I feel like our feet are being held to the fire here because 
at any time of the day, you go down that street and there’s some truck unloading something for other 
businesses, but we’re being told we’re not allowed to.

Jeff Wood – I do see a lot of trucks unloading in the street.  Do we not have a code that prevents this?

Katie Coulborn – Yes. That’s why they’ve been ticketed so many times in the deceleration lane. 

Jeff Wood – So putting it in a condition would be redundant?

Katie Coulborn – yes, but the reason that it’s here, I’ve had a conversation with Chief Moss, the 
neighbors have Chief Moss’s cell phone number, they have to call him a lot. He sent me a list of tickets 
that truck drivers here have been given over the last few years and it was a considerable amount. It’s 
been an ongoing problem and the truck drivers are always a different person. We agree that it’s hard for 

8.1.b

Packet Pg. 139

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

D
R

A
FT

 P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 M

in
ut

es
 V

#1
28

-1
4 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



them to make the drivers park where they are supposed to but putting this as a condition is another way 
to reinforce so not only will the driver get ticketed, but then it’s a zoning violation so the business can be 
held responsible. Chief Moss is concerned that it’s a safety issue.

Jeff Wood – Are they required to have greenspace because the grassy area at the northeast corner could 
maybe be developed for more parking.

Katie Coulborn – More parking would require a variance to the buffer. The commercial and residential 
buffers cover that entire area.

Jeff Wood – How did staff come to the 60 cars on the lot condition?

Katie Coulborn – By counting the parking spaces. If you look at page 5 of the staff report, there are 54 
marked parking spaces and we realize that they can get more on the lot so if they have 60 vehicles for 
sale and then they have employee vehicles and customer vehicles, we thought that would be a more 
appropriate number than the double that they have now.

Jeff Wood – So the city expects employers to provide on-site parking for their employees and 
customers?

Katie Coulborn – Yes.

James Drinkard – Within this overlay, are shared parking agreements allowed?

Katie Coulborn – Yes.

Lee Zell – So this is a conditional use permit to expand the car lot?

Katie Coulborn – To be clear, staff recommended that they ask for the conditional use permit. The 
started out asking for variances to allow the building that they put up, but if they got variances to allow 
the building, they wouldn’t be able to do anything inside it without a conditional use permit to expand 
the use.

Lee Zell – If they’re doing automotive repairs, is that a different use than sales?

Katie Coulborn – Because the automotive repairs are only for their inventory and not for the public, we 
consider it an expansion of the automotive sales use.

Lee Zell – So back to the debris, the rims, the car parts, I have pictures of things that have been there so 
long that they’re imbedded in the ground. I also spoke to the homeowners that back up to the property. 
What method does the city have for not allowing accumulation of debris and car parts?

Katie Coulborn – The city has a property maintenance code that the code enforcement officers can 
enforce.  They can write citations for accumulation of junk if they get a call from a neighboring property. 
Previous to this building going up, I don’t think anyone called about junk on this property.  There were 
no open code enforcement cases going but it is something that can be regulated by our department.

Lee Zell – I walked the property today. There are many buckets sitting outside with pinestraw and dirt 
on them that shows they’ve been there a really long time. Multiple stacks of rims and rotted tires and a 
whole truck liner that has been pushed over the line to the lawyer’s property. The homeowners pointed 

8.1.b

Packet Pg. 140

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

D
R

A
FT

 P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 M

in
ut

es
 V

#1
28

-1
4 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



out that the fence doesn’t completely shield the building.  They said that employees take smoke breaks 
literally standing in these people’s backyards. The fence is incomplete.

Katie Coulborn – That’s why we have buffers and setbacks.

Jessica Guinn – All these reasons are things that factored in to the staff recommendation for denial of 
the variance to allow that structure to be there. There are a number of things that we took into account, 
from the parking standpoint, having that additional structure that came in without permits took away 
some additional space that could have been utilized for parking and yes, absolutely, all the buffers that 
typically would provide some screening there are lacking here. Point of clarification, the 5’ setback is 
not just important from a zoning standpoint but also from a fire code standpoint. If they are any closer 
than 5’, they would have to have a fire rated wall on the structure. Fire rating could be achieved but 
that’s another significant cost. But we can’t vary that. We can’t waive the fire code.

Lee Zell – Behind the building is stacks of old rotten tires laying against the metal building with electrical 
wiring going through a pvc pipe into a metal wall.  Seems like a fire hazard.

Jessica Guinn – When we went out there with the building official and fire, there was no way that we 
could look at this building and make a determination about whether or not it was safe for people to 
occupy without plans. That’s when we issued the stop work order and said we have got to have
everything out of here.

OPEN PUBLIC HEARING

No one signed up to speak.

CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING

Lee Zell – To the applicant, are you telling us that if you get the variance for the shed, all the debris 
outside would now go inside the shed?

Rakesh Parmar – It wouldn’t necessarily go inside, some of it needs to be disposed of. The items that 
could be used would be in the storage.

Joe Hill – The gentleman who handles all of the debris is the mechanic in that shed and I’ve had to move 
him to our place in Union City so that we can continue doing business. Honestly since they put the stop 
work order on it, I don’t think any of us have walked back there.  If it’s an issue, that’s going to get 
addressed regardless.

Lee Zell – Would you be agreeable to putting the fence up so people won’t walk into those yards?

Joe Hill – Yes, that’s not a problem.

Jeff Wood – I’d like to handle the Conditional Use Permit separately from the Variances. Motion to
recommend approval of the Conditional Use Permit with the four staff recommended conditions.

Motion dies for lack of a second.

Lee Zell – Motion to approve the CUP and Variance with the 8 staff recommended conditions, plus 
Condition 9, Applicant shall add a wooden 6’ privacy fence attached to the existing fence at the 

8.1.b

Packet Pg. 141

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

D
R

A
FT

 P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 M

in
ut

es
 V

#1
28

-1
4 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



northwest corner of the property and extending to the northeast corner of the property at Churchill 
Court.

Motion dies for lack of a second.

Jeff Wood – Motion to recommend approval of the Conditional Use Permit with staff recommendations 
1 through 4.

2nd by David Hacker

Jeff Wood – They’ve been relatively good neighbors even though their neighbors don’t agree, they bring 
revenue to the city.  60 cars sounds low. They say they can do 120 cars. I’d like to not see their 
employees parking in the street so 100 cars seems like a good meet-in-the-middle number. Friendly
Amendment to change Condition 2 to allow no more than 100 cars for sale, or in the process of being 
sold, on the lot at any given time.

David Hacker – Friendly Amendment accepted.

Lee Zell – Is every car included in that number?

Jeff Wood – Just the inventory, not employee or customer cars. On-street parking is allowed by right 
there, but it would be good for their neighbors to get the cars off the street.  It would also give a place 
for the trucks to unload. They have a parking agreement with the neighbor to the west.

David Hacker – Do you have a shared parking agreement with the neighbor (to the west) in writing?

Joe Hill – No, but we can get it in writing.

Jeff Wood – Friendly Amendment to change the wording in Condition 3 to “No parking of inventory, 
employee vehicles, or customer vehicles on any public street or in any parking lot other than that which 
exists on the subject property without a written agreement, and no parking in the Highway 92 grass 
right of way.”

David Hacker – Friendly Amendment accepted.

Jeff Wood – Number 4, it’s already illegal so why do we have number 4?  Should we strike that?

Jessica Guinn – The reason that is in there as Katie already said is that citations go directly to the truck 
drivers. By putting it here as a condition, we are putting the burden on the property owners to make 
sure that their deliveries are being made not within the public right of way. If they continue, the 
property owner at that point is in violation of zoning and we would have a course of action to handle the 
situation directly with the property owner, whereas we could have a different truck driver pull up there 
every day.

Jeff Wood – with the words public right of way, that would not allow them to offload on Churchhill 
Court, correct?

Jessica Guinn – Correct. I think 92 is where we really have the heartburn. It sounds like there have been 
some issues with them unloading in the median and the acceleration and deceleration lanes.

Lee Zell – They have already said that they have the permission from the tree business to offload there.

8.1.b

Packet Pg. 142

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

D
R

A
FT

 P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 M

in
ut

es
 V

#1
28

-1
4 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



Jeff Wood – But then if that property redevelops, that agreement goes away. Friendly Amendment to
change the wording in Condition 4 to “No unloading of inventory on any Highway 92 public right of 
way”.

David Hacker – Friendly Amendment accepted. I have to say, I appreciate your business. From an office 
user, it’s important to know that you’re a good neighbor trying to keep the cars out of the way, so I 
understand why people are like that, but no one is here to speak against it so I’m more inclined to 
support trying to keep the business going with minimal impact.

Lee Zell – Is it correct that staff told us that the chiropractor and State Farm agent and some other 
people instantly called about the case?

Katie Coulborn – Yes. The day after the got the public input meeting letter they contacted me.  It seems 
they couldn’t be here tonight but I think they are planning to come to City Council. Earlier today Patti 
got a call from a residential property owner and they sent me an email with a letter explaining some of 
their concerns but it was too late to put it in the agenda packet.

Lee Zell – Friendly Amendment to add Condition 5, No outdoor storage of any parts, chemicals, or
materials.

James Drinkard – Does Mr. Wood accept?

Jeff Wood – Friendly Amendment not accepted.

Lee Zell – Offering as a regular Amendment.

2nd by David Hacker

Lee Zell – Friendly Amendment to add Condition 6, Applicant shall add a wooden 6’ privacy fence
attached to the existing fence at the northwest corner of the property and extending to the northeast 
corner of the property at Churchill Court.

Jeff Wood – Friendly Amendment accepted.

James Drinkard – Now Condition 5, which is the outdoor storage, is open for debate.

Jeff Wood – I would think that we have city laws about outdoor storage of debris.

Patti Hart – Outdoor storage is allowed by Conditional Use Permit only in this district. We have a 
definition for outdoor storage: 

Vote on Amendment for Condition 5, Motion passes 5-1, Jeff Wood in opposition.

James Drinkard – Debate is open on the other items, the approval of the Conditional Use Permit with 
Conditions 1-6.

Lee Zell – I’m pleased with these conditions. The applicant knows where we’re coming from now. I’m 
still concerned with unloading on Churchill Court.

Jeff Wood – This property was a car lot before the residential lots were completed.

8.1.b

Packet Pg. 143

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

D
R

A
FT

 P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 M

in
ut

es
 V

#1
28

-1
4 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



James Drinkard – The only reason I’m willing to support the Conditional Use Permit is to get this 
situation under control and clean this property up. Right now I do not consider it to be a good business. 
It’s bordering on a nuisance and it needs to stop. The complaints that we are hearing from our own 
police chief and neighbors are ridiculous and unacceptable. You need to clean up your property.

Motion passes 6-0.

Jeff Wood – Motion to recommend approval of the variances with staff recommended conditions 1-4.

2nd by Lee Zell.

Jeff Wood – The structure was built without permits. Ignorance is not an excuse for not following the 
rules, and as a business owner in the community you have to do this. That said, in order to keep the 
building, it should be safe.  I have a concern about adding the brick. They are probably going to have to 
build a foundation for the building.  If it makes it through the building code process, I’ll be surprised. 

Lee Zell – This variance is like here you have permission to go meet the building inspector.  And it’s not 
going to be a pleasant visit. There are a lot of updates that will need to occur.  I have confidence in our 
building staff and permits department.

David Hacker – I’m not in favor of Condition 4. I don’t think it’s necessary. If they’re going to be moving 
the structure, I think that’s enough.  Besides, it makes it more of a permanent structure that’s non-
conforming. Friendly Amendment to strike Condition 4.

Jeff Wood – Friendly Amendment accepted.

James Drinkard – Before I call for the vote, I want to say I will not support this.

Tie vote 3-3. The variance request moves forward with no recommendation.

Summary of recommendation:

Recommended approval of Conditional Use Permit with the following conditions:

1. By granting this Conditional Use Permit, the use is no longer legally non-conforming.  This Conditional 
Use Permit is tied to the business, Platinum Cars, Inc., and the business owner, Trilochan Bhatia.  If the 
use is discontinued for any amount of time by either the business or the business owner, the 
Conditional Use Permit will become invalid and the use will no longer be permitted.

2. No more than 100 cars for sale, or in the process of being sold, shall be on the lot at any given time.
3. No parking of inventory, employee vehicles, or customer vehicles on any public street or in any parking 

lot other than that which exists on the subject property without a written agreement, and no parking in
the Highway 92 grass right of way.

4. No unloading of inventory on any Highway 92 public right of way.
5. No outdoor storage of any parts, chemicals, or materials.
6. Applicant shall add a wooden 6’ privacy fence attached to the existing fence at the northwest corner of 

the property and extending to the northeast corner of the property at Churchill Court.

Request for variances with staff recommended conditions moves forward with no recommendation
because of a tie vote.

8.1.b

Packet Pg. 144

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

D
R

A
FT

 P
la

nn
in

g 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 M

in
ut

es
 V

#1
28

-1
4 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.c

Packet Pg. 145

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V1
28

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r V

ar
ia

nc
es

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.c

Packet Pg. 146

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V1
28

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r V

ar
ia

nc
es

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.c

Packet Pg. 147

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V1
28

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r V

ar
ia

nc
es

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.d

Packet Pg. 148

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

V1
28

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
an

t R
es

po
ns

e 
St

at
em

en
t V

ar
ia

nc
es

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.e

Packet Pg. 149

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

C
U

P0
22

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r C

on
di

tio
na

l U
se

 P
er

m
it 

 (3
32

2 
: V

#1
28

-1
4 

an
d 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.e

Packet Pg. 150

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

C
U

P0
22

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r C

on
di

tio
na

l U
se

 P
er

m
it 

 (3
32

2 
: V

#1
28

-1
4 

an
d 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.e

Packet Pg. 151

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

C
U

P0
22

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r C

on
di

tio
na

l U
se

 P
er

m
it 

 (3
32

2 
: V

#1
28

-1
4 

an
d 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.e

Packet Pg. 152

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

C
U

P0
22

-1
4 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
r C

on
di

tio
na

l U
se

 P
er

m
it 

 (3
32

2 
: V

#1
28

-1
4 

an
d 

C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.f

Packet Pg. 153

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Pl
at

in
um

 U
se

d 
C

ar
s 

A
s-

bu
ilt

 S
ite

 P
la

n 
 (3

32
2 

: V
#1

28
-1

4 
an

d 
C

U
P#

02
2-

14
 P

la
tin

um
 C

ar
s,

 In
c)



 

PLATINUM CARS WOODSTOCK 

10915 HWY 92, Woodstock, GA 30188 

Phone: 678-213-2345   Fax: 678-213-2346       

 
DATE: 1/5/2015 7.00pm 
 
Platinum Cars Public Meeting Minutes 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
The open meeting was scheduled at 7.00 pm. Two individuals attended the meeting. 
 
No concerns were voiced by the two individuals with regards to Platinum Cars enclosed shed for repairs. The 
two individuals understood Platinum Cars’ business needs for the enclosed structure and no objections were 
raised. 
 
Platinum Cars 
Rakesh Parmar 
 

 

8.1.g

Packet Pg. 154

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Pl
at

in
um

 C
ar

s 
Pu

bl
ic

 In
pu

t M
ee

tin
g 

M
in

ut
es

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.h

Packet Pg. 155

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Sp
ee

r L
et

te
r 3

.5
.1

5 
(le

tte
r f

ro
m

 n
ei

gh
bo

rin
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 o
w

ne
r)

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.h

Packet Pg. 156

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Sp
ee

r L
et

te
r 3

.5
.1

5 
(le

tte
r f

ro
m

 n
ei

gh
bo

rin
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 o
w

ne
r)

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.h

Packet Pg. 157

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Sp
ee

r L
et

te
r 3

.5
.1

5 
(le

tte
r f

ro
m

 n
ei

gh
bo

rin
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 o
w

ne
r)

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.h

Packet Pg. 158

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Sp
ee

r L
et

te
r 3

.5
.1

5 
(le

tte
r f

ro
m

 n
ei

gh
bo

rin
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 o
w

ne
r)

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



8.1.h

Packet Pg. 159

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Sp
ee

r L
et

te
r 3

.5
.1

5 
(le

tte
r f

ro
m

 n
ei

gh
bo

rin
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 o
w

ne
r)

  (
33

22
 : 

V#
12

8-
14

 a
nd

 C
U

P#
02

2-
14

 P
la

tin
um

 C
ar

s,
 In

c)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

ORDINANCE (ID # 3324)
Public Hearing and Vote:  LDO Chapter II Definitions  and  LDO Chapter VII

Senior Living

Presented by: 

Summary:
The City Council of the City of Woodstock is proposing revisions to the Land Development Ordinance Chapter VII 
Performance Zoning Standards Section 7.740 Specific Standards for Senior Living and Chapter 2 Definitions.

Recommendation:
Hold Public Hearing as advertised.
Vote for approval or denial of LDO CH II Definitions text amendments as presented.
Vote for approval or denial of LDO CH VII Senior Living text amendments as presented.

Budget Information:

Supporting Documents: 
• text amendment to LDO Chapter II, Definitions.Council 3.23.15 (DOCX)
• text amendment to LDO Chapter VII Senior Living.Council3.23.15 (DOCX)
• Ordinance for Chapter II 3.23.15.Draft(3) (RTF)
• Ordinance for ChapterVII Senior Living 3 23 15 Draft(3)ELB revised (RTF)
• 03.05.15 PC Minutes.DRAFT (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Community Development Completed 03/17/2015 2:36 PM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 9:17 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 2:36 PM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

8.2

Packet Pg. 160



City of Woodstock
Ordinance# (ID # 3324)

PUBLIC HEARING AND VOTE:  LDO CHAPTER II DEFINITIONS  AND  LDO CHAPTER VII 
SENIOR LIVING

See LDC Chapter II and Chapter VII Ordinances attached. 

___________________________
Donnie Henriques, Mayor

 City of Woodstock, Georgia

Attest:  _________________________
Rhonda Pezzello, City Clerk

 City of Woodstock, Georgia

As approved this3/23/2015th day of March, 2015

8.2

Packet Pg. 161



Evaluation Prepared by: Patti Hart
PC Meeting: March 5, 2014
Council Meeting: March 23, 2014

Agenda Item:

A text amendment to LDO Chapter VII Definitions

Summary:

Staff proposes the following changes to definitions associated with the Senior Living Ordinance in order to 
provide consistency with the State of Georgia definition of Assisted Living. The absence of this clarification 
could provide an avenue for developers to receive density bonuses for a product type that is little more 
than an age restricted multifamily product than a Senior Living Community in the intent of LDO Sec 7.740 
Specific Standards for Senior Living. 
In the following definition changes we intend to clearly establish “Assisted Living” as being eligible for 
density bonuses provided by LDO section 7.744 Residential Density Bonuses and “Independent Retirement
Living”, if not provided in combination with assisted Living units (as provided in LDO Sec 7.744) as not 
eligible for density bonuses.

Proposed Changes:

Amend existing Assisted Living Definition;

Assisted Living: Multi-family housing including congregate and/or personal care services. 
licensed by the State of Georgia as a long –term care provider and commonly referred to as 
“assisted living community”. Assisted living goes by many names including nursing homes, 
personal care, residential care, or congregate care. The services offered vary widely, but 
frequently include core services, meals, housekeeping and transportation and often some
assistance with laundry, grooming, medication management and other functions of daily living. 

Strike Existing Independent Living Definition:
Independent Retirement Living: A facility, which is composed of individual apartments or condominiums 
for lease or purchase, with a bedroom, bath, living area and kitchenette. This commercial enterprise 
offers services of convenience including one (1) or two (2) meals daily, transportation and planned 
activities. Personal care is provided on a minimal basis.

Add New Independent Living Definition:
Independent Retirement Living – Senior adult housing which consists of attached independent living 
developments which is composed of individual apartments or condominiums for lease or purchase, with 
a bedroom, bath, living area and kitchenette, including retirement communities, age restricted housing, 
and active adult communities. These developments may include limited social or recreational services,
but generally lack centralized dining and on site medical facilities or services.

8.2.a

Packet Pg. 162

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

te
xt

 a
m

en
dm

en
t t

o 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

, D
ef

in
iti

on
s.

C
ou

nc
il 

3.
23

.1
5 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Evaluation Prepared by: Patti Hart
PC Meeting: March 5, 2014
Council Meeting: March 23, 2014

Agenda Item:

A text amendment to LDO Chapter VII, Section 7.740 Senior Living

Summary:

7.741. - Purpose and Intent of Senior Living. 

The regulations set forth in Senior Living are designed to “Locate these developments in 
areas where retail, professional, civic, and cultural uses are convenient for residents to access, 
preferably even when they can no longer drive.”. Staff is proposing changes to the Senior Living
Ordinance, and associated definitions, to provide additional clarification regarding the services 
that would satisfy 7.745 Location Requirements for and SL-C as amended below;

1. SL-C must be located within a one-quarter-mile radius of commercial retail uses 
including but not limited to a minimum of two of the following; grocery stores, 
pharmacies, and/or medical service facilities Government Community Centers 
(including Senior Centers and Libraries) and Private Health Clubs. SL-C projects 
may be exempt from these requirements if these uses are provided on-site of an 
Assisted Living Community. Projects must also maintain the scale and intensity of 
surrounding uses. 

Additionally, since ‘Full Care Facility’ is currently allowed under 7.505 Permitted and 
Prohibited Uses in Office Space and Institutional (OSI) with uncapped density, staff proposes
removing it entirely from Sec 7.744 Residential Density Bonus. A full Service Care facility as 
defined by our code as follows; “Full Care Facility: Any facility that admits patients on medical referral
only for continuous medical supervision and for skilled nursing care and rehabilitative care.” which is more
institutional in nature, and a more appropriate fit in OSI.

The final change proposed is to add to Section 7.746 Site Planning Requirements language to 
clarify the intent to apply required buffers to abutting County properties with equal or less 
intense Zoning Classifications. The code currently only refers to specific City of Woodstock 
Zoning Classifications.

For example, currently SL-C requires a 25 foot buffer against City Zoning Classification R-1
which has a density of 2 units per acre, but not Cherokee County Zoning Classification of R-20
which is also 2 units an acre. With this change both R-1 and R-20 would require a buffer.

8.2.b

Packet Pg. 163

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

te
xt

 a
m

en
dm

en
t t

o 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g.

C
ou

nc
il3

.2
3.

15
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



7.740. - Specific Standards for Senior Living. 

7.741. - Purpose and Intent of Senior Living. 

The regulations set forth in Senior Living are designed to: 

1. Provide for the development of detached, attached, and multi-family dwelling units limited 
to those persons age fifty-five (55) and older as defined by the Fair Housing Act. 

2. Locate these developments in areas where retail, professional, civic, and cultural uses are 
convenient for residents to access, preferably even when they can no longer drive. 

3. Promote the concept of Aging in Place which provides a variety of living choices aimed at 
allowing residents to remain in their communities as they age. These include 
communities with a mix of housing type and size, active living communities, assisted 
living facilities and full care facilities. 

4. Promote pedestrian safety by ensuring sidewalk-oriented buildings and attractive street-
facing facades that foster pedestrian activity and liveliness. 

5. Provide an adequate amount of meaningful open space within each development which 
creates areas for social interaction among neighbors, opportunities for recreation, and is 
easily accessible for all residents. 

7.742. - Reserved.

Editor's note—

Ord. of 7-12-2010(3), § 6, repealed § 7.742, which pertained to Definitions Related to Senior 
Living and derived from the publication of this Land Development Code. 

7.743. - Reserved.

Editor's note—

Ord. of 7-12-2010(3), § 7, repealed § 7.743, which pertained to Principal Permitted Uses and 
derived from the publication of this Land Development Code. Subsequently, said ordinance 
relocated former subsections 7.743(1)—(3) to § 7.301. 

7.744. - Residential Density Bonus. 

Density bonuses will be awarded to each Senior Living project which incorporates 
affordable units, assisted living units, and/or full care facilities. These bonuses are listed in the 
table and are based on a percentage of the total units by project, followed by a maximum allowed 
density in each subarea. 

Density Bonus Table
SENIOR LIVING Subareas

SL-A SL-B SL-C

8.2.b

Packet Pg. 164

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

te
xt

 a
m

en
dm

en
t t

o 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g.

C
ou

nc
il3

.2
3.

15
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Density Bonus Table
SENIOR LIVING Subareas

SL-A SL-B SL-C
Base density 4 6 12
Affordable units (10%)* 2 2 8
Affordable units (30%)* 3 3 12
Affordable units (50%)* 4 4 18
Assisted living units (10%)* 8
Assisted living units (30%)* 12
Assisted living units (50%)* 18
Full care facility (100%)* 18
Maximum allowed density** 8 10 30
*Percentages are based on the total number of units in each development and are the minimum 
necessary to achieve bonus density. 
**Affordable and assisted living unit bonuses may be combined, but cannot exceed max density 

7.745. - Location Requirements. 

Any project in a SL category must adhere to the following location requirements. These 
requirements are calculated by measuring the walkable distance on an improved surface between 
the main entrance of the SL neighborhood or building to the front door of the commercial 
facility.

1. SL-A and SL-B must be located within a three-quarter-mile radius of commercial retail 
uses including but not limited to grocery stores, pharmacies, and/or medical service 
facilities. Projects must also maintain the scale and intensity of surrounding uses. 

2. SL-C must be located within a one-quarter-mile radius of commercial retail uses 
including but not limited to a minimum of two of the following; grocery stores, 
pharmacies, and/or medical service facilities Government Community Centers 
(including Senior Centers and Libraries) and Private Health Clubs. SL-C projects may 
be exempt from these requirements if these uses are provided on-site of an Assisted 
Living Community. Projects must also maintain the scale and intensity of surrounding 
uses.

Formatted Table

8.2.b

Packet Pg. 165

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

te
xt

 a
m

en
dm

en
t t

o 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g.

C
ou

nc
il3

.2
3.

15
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



7.746. - Site Planning Requirements. 

Senior Living Site Limits Table
SENIOR LIVING Subareas

SL-A SL-B SL-C
Minimum lot width (feet) 35 16 N/A
Build-to line (feet) Min - 5

Max - 20
Min - 5
Max - 10

Min - 5
Max - 10

Rear setback (minimum feet) With alley - 0
No alley - 20

With alley - 0
No alley - 20

20

Side setback (minimum feet) 5 N/A N/A
Buffer (feet)*
R-1, R-2 N/A 25 25
R-3, R-4 N/A N/A N/A
OSI, NC, GC N/A N/A N/A
LI, HI 50 50 50
*Buffers apply only on property lines contiguous to adjacent zoning categories and shall also
apply to the closest compatible County Zoning Classification.

Any project in a SL category must adhere to each of the following site planning requirements: 

1. The minimum requirement for open space shall be twenty (20) percent of the project area. 
Required infrastructure, detention facilities and mandatory stream buffers shall not be used in 
open space calculations. Not more than fifty (50) percent of the total open space requirement 
shall be provided in the form of private open space. 
2. Each unit in SL-A and SL-B shall provide a minimum of one (1) parking space in a garage 
structure, not to exceed two (2) spaces. All garages must be accessed through the use of rear 
alleys.
3. No parking in SL-C shall be permitted between the building(s) and the main access street in 
order to facilitate pedestrian access to the street. Vehicular access to the building(s) shall be 
provided from the rear, side, underneath or a courtyard. In addition, a main pedestrian access 
to each building shall be provided on the side facing the street. 

7.747. - Street Design Requirements. 
1. In order to promote a safe pedestrian environment, street design shall accommodate the use 
of landscape strips, a minimum six-foot wide sidewalk on both sides of the street, and 
dedicated on-street parking areas where appropriate. 
2. When a SL project fronts an existing street, the above requirements are to be applied along 
the existing street along the entire frontage of the property.

8.2.b

Packet Pg. 166

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

te
xt

 a
m

en
dm

en
t t

o 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g.

C
ou

nc
il3

.2
3.

15
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



7.748. - Senior Living Zoning Category Requirements. 

1. The total number of units zoned under any SL category shall not exceed more than twenty
(20) percent of the total number of housing units within the City Limits. The number of units 
that may be zoned SL will be updated as needed by the City. 
2. All SL developments shall have development plans approved by the City within eighteen 
(18) months of receiving SL zoning or it shall revert to the previous zoning category. At its 
discretion, City Council may grant extensions. 
3. In order to promote a pedestrian friendly environment, the following overlay standards are 
expressly waived in favor of the requirements in the SL site limits table: lot sizes, lot widths, 
streetscape adjustments, setbacks, and buffers. Any overlay standards related to streetscape 
themes and architectural requirements shall be adhered to. 

7.749. - Senior Living General Requirements.

1. All other sections of the City of Woodstock's Land Development Ordinance shall be 
enforced including but not limited to tree preservation, stream buffer requirements,
engineering requirements, and signage regulations. 

2. Upgrades to existing adjacent infrastructure shall be required including but not limited to 
the installation or upgrade of crosswalks and sidewalks, pedestrian signalization including 
count down timers and audio notification for the visually impaired, and/or wheelchair 
compatibility.
3. The exterior of each dwelling unit and other buildings shall be brick, cast stone, concrete 
siding such as Hardiplank, natural wood, hard coat stucco, and/or natural stone. 
4. All residential units within SL shall incorporate applicable and "Easy Living Home" 
standards to include: 

a. A step free entrance into the main floor at either the front or side of the structure, 
or through the garage; 
b. A bedroom, kitchen, wheelchair friendly bathroom, and entertaining area all on 
the main floor; 
c. Every interior door on the main floor provides a minimum thirty-two (32) inches 
of clear passage; 
d. Blocking installed in the bathroom(s) on the main floor to facilitate the future 
addition of handrails or similar accessibility features. 

8.2.b

Packet Pg. 167

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

te
xt

 a
m

en
dm

en
t t

o 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g.

C
ou

nc
il3

.2
3.

15
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 1 of 46

ORDINANCE
CITY OF WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER II OF THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the 
"City") is a municipality duly formed and existing pursuant to Georgia Law; and

Whereas, the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia provides for the self-government of
municipalities without the necessity of action by the General Assembly1; and

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia, has the legislative power to adopt clearly
reasonable ordinances, resolutions or regulations relating to its property, affairs and local 
government for which no provision has been made by general laws, and which are not 
inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable thereto2; and

Whereas, the City Council of the City of Woodstock, Georgia desires to replace the 
existing Chapter II Definitions of the Land Development Ordinance, City of Woodstock, 
Georgia with a new Chapter II as set forth herein; and

Whereas, the purpose of this revision is to define Assisted Living in accordance with the 
state definition and to revise the definition of Independent Retirement Living to better differentiate 
it from the  Assisted Living definition.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE COUNCIL ORDAINS, by the
lawful authority vested in them as follows:

Section 1. 

Chapter II Definitions of the Land Development Ordinance of the City of Woodstock, Georgia is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Chapter II Definitions as more particularly set forth on 
Exhibit "A" attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference is hereby inserted in lieu thereof.

1 Ga. Const. 1983, Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II provides in pertinent part as follows:
"The General Assembly may provide by law for the self-government of municipalities and to that end is

expressly given the authority to delegate its power so that matters pertaining to the municipalities may be dealt with 
without the necessity of action by the General Assembly."
2 O.C.G.A. §36-35-3(a) provides as follows:

"(a) The governing authority of each municipal corporation shall have legislative power to adopt clearly 
reasonable ordinances, resolutions or regulations relating to its property, affairs, and local government for which no 
provision has been made by general law and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision 
applicable hereto. Any such charter provision shall remain in force and effect until amended or repealed as provided in 
subsection (b) of this Code Section. This Code Section, however, shall not restrict the authority of the General 
Assembly, by general law, to define this home rule power further or to broaden, limit, or otherwise regulate the exercise 
thereof. The General Assembly shall not pass any local law to repeal, modify or supersede any action taken by a municipal 
governing authority under this Code section, except as authorized under Code Section 36-35-6."

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 168

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 2 of 46

Section 2.

The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to incorporate the provisions of the new
Chapter II as set forth on Exhibit "A" attached hereto into the Land Development Ordinance 
for the City of Woodstock, Georgia replacing the existing Chapter II. 

Section 3.
Repeal of conflicting Ordinances. Any and all ordinances, resolutions, or regulations, or parts 
thereof, in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

Severability. If any sentence, clause, part, paragraph, section, or provision of this Ordinance is 
declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the validity of the Ordinance as a 
whole or any other part hereof shall not be affected.

Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA, THIS 23rd DAY OF March, 2015.

First Reading Date:  _____March 23rd____________
Public Hearing Date:  _____February 10, 2015___________
Public Hearing Advertised: ____March 23, 2015_______
Final Adoption Date:  ________March 23, 2015________

DONNIE HENRIQUES,
MAYOR CITY OF WOODSTOCK, 
GEORGIA

RHONDA L. PEZZELLO, CLERK
CITY OF WOODSTOCK

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 169

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 3 of 46

EXHIBIT “A”
CHAPTER II

OF LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE
Land Development Ordinance 

Chapter II. Definitions

For the purpose of this Ordinance and in order to carry out the provisions and intentions as set forth 
herein, certain words, terms, and phrases are to be used and interpreted as defined hereinafter. Words used 
in the present tense shall include the future tense; words used in the singular number include the plural, and 
words in the plural number include the singular; the word "person" includes a firm, partnership, association, 
governmental body, corporation and all other legal entities. The term "shall" is mandatory and the word 
"may" is permissive. The word "used" or "occupied" as applied to any land or Building shall be construed to 
include the words "intended, arranged, or designed to be used or occupied." The masculine gender includes 
the feminine and neuter. Where requirements are set based on number of days, days are computed based on 
the calendar, except that when the final date falls on a weekend or holiday, the day due shall continue until 
the next regular working day. 

The following words, terms, and phrases are hereby defined as follows and shall be interpreted as 
such throughout the Ordinance. Terms not herein defined shall be as defined elsewhere in the Ordinance, or 
as defined in Webster's New World Dictionary of the American Language-Second College Edition and shall 
have the meaning customarily assigned to them. 

Access: The right to cross between public and private property, thereby permitting pedestrians and 
vehicles to enter and leave property.

Accessory Building: A subordinate Building, the use of which is incidental to that of a main 
Building and is located on the same Lot therewith. 

Accessory Dwelling Unit: A dwelling unit not greater than eight hundred fifty (850) square feet or 
forty (40) percent of the floor area of the primary dwelling unit, which ever is greater, located in an 
Outbuilding and located on the same lot with a single-family dwelling.

Accessory Use: A use customarily incidental, appropriate, and subordinate to the principal use of 
land or Building and located upon the same Lot therewith. 

Accidental Discharge: A discharge prohibited by this article into the MS4 which occurs by chance 
and without planning or consideration prior to occurrence. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 170

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 4 of 46

Addition (to an Existing Building): Any walled and roofed expansion to the perimeter of a Building 
in which the addition is connected by a common load-bearing wall other than a fire wall. Any walled and 
roofed addition which is connected by a fire wall or is separated by independent perimeter load-bearing
walls is New Construction. 

Administrative Floodplain: Means any land area susceptible to Flooding, which would have one 
(1) percent probability of Flooding occurrence in any calendar year based on the basin being fully 
developed as shown on the projected future land use map. 

Advertising: Includes any writing, printing, painting, display, emblem, drawing, sign, or other 
device designed, used or intended for advertising, whether placed on the ground, rocks, trees, tree stumps, 
or other natural Structures or on buildings, Structures, milestones, signboards, billboards, wallboard, 
roofboard, frames, supports, fences, or other man-made Structure, and any such advertising is a Structure 
within the meaning of the word "Structure" as utilized in the Ordinance. 

Advertising Sign or Structure: See Sign. 

Affordable Unit: Units are defined as affordable when the total housing cost does not exceed thirty 
(30) percent of a household's income. Housing costs include rental expenditures or mortgage expenses. For 
the purposes of the density bonus units are defined as affordable when they are affordable to a household 
whose income is at or below fifty (50) percent of Cherokee County's median income as reported by the most 
recent survey provided by the U.S. Census Bureau. The affordable housing income threshold and associated 
housing cost shall be updated annually by the City based on U.S. Census Bureau data, U.S. Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD) data and existing mortgage financing conditions. Affordable units must be 
restricted as such for the lifetime of the unit and are available for sale or rent only to households whose 
income is at or below fifty (50) percent of Cherokee County's median income as reported by the most recent 
survey provided by the U.S. Census Bureau. 

Aging in Place: The opportunity to live in a specific community for as long as possible. Aging in 
Place is facilitated by the presence of housing which meets the changing needs of an aging adult, provides 
transportation alternatives, opportunities for exercise and physical activity and a vibrant community life 
which engages older residents with the community as a whole. 

Alley: A service way providing a secondary means of access to abutting property and not intended 
for general traffic circulation.

Alteration of Building: Any change in the supporting members of a Building except such change as 
may be required for its safety; any addition to a building; or any change in use from that of one (1) district 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 171

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 5 of 46

classification to another or of a Building from one (1) location to another. 

Animal Clinic: A place where dogs, cats, birds or other animals normally kept as household pets 
are given medical or surgical treatment and the boarding of animals is limited to short-term care incidental 
to the hospital use. 

Apartment Building: A Structure containing three (3) or more Dwelling Units. 

Appeal: Means a request for a review by the Woodstock City Council of an interpretation of any 
provision of this Ordinance or a request for a variance. 

Applicant: Any person making a request to the City for any approval, permit or authorization under 
the procedures contained in this Ordinance. 

Area of Shallow Flooding: Means a designated AO or AH Zone on a community's Flood Insurance 
Rate Map (FIRM) with Base Flood depths from one (1) to three (3) feet and/or where a clearly defined 
channel does not exist, where the path of Flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate, and where velocity 
flow may be evident. 

Area(s) of Special Flood Hazard(s), or Special Flood Hazard Area(s) (SFHA) or Special Flood 
Hazard(s): Means the land subject to a one (1) percent or greater chance of Flooding in any given year. This 
includes all Floodplain and Flood prone areas at or below the Base Flood Elevation (including A, A1-30, A-
99, AE, AO, AH, and AR on the FHBM or the FIRM), all Floodplain and Flood prone areas at or below the
Future Conditions Flood Elevation, and all other Flood prone areas as referenced in Chapter XIII of this 
ordinance. All Streams with a drainage area of one hundred (100) acres or greater shall have the Area of 
Special Flood Hazard delineated. 

Assisted Living: Multi-family housing including congregate and/or personal care services licensed
by the State of Georgia as a long –term care provider and commonly referred to as “assisted living 
community”. Assisted living goes by many names including nursing homes, personal care, residential 
care, or congregate care. The services offered vary widely, but frequently include core services, meals, 
housekeeping and transportation and often some assistance with laundry, grooming, medication 
management and other functions of daily living. 

Automobile Filling Station: A Building or Lot having pumps and storage tanks at which fuels, oils 
or accessories for the use of motor vehicles are dispersed, sold or offered for retail sale and where repair 
service is incidental. (Gasoline service station.) 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 172

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 6 of 46

Automotive Repair Facility- Major: A facility performing major repair services for motor vehicles
which require substantial replacement and/or repair of major components. Examples of major repair 
services include, but are not limited to, transmission repair/replacement, engine overhaul and radiator repair, 
along with body and paint repair. Any repair services to construction equipment, agricultural equipment, 
commercial highway tractors, or dump trucks shall be considered major automotive repair.

Automotive Repair Facility- Minor: A facility performing minor repair services for motor vehicles 
which require only brief adjustment and replacement of minor components. Examples of minor automotive 
repair services include, but are not limited to, tune-up, oil change, lubrication, brake repair, air conditioning 
system service, muffler replacement, tire repair and replacement, alignment, emissions testing, audio and 
alarm installation, custom accessories, minor scratch and dent repair, and glass repair or replacement.

Base Flood: The flood having a one (1) percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given 
year as established in the most recent FEMA Flood Insurance Study and Flood Insurance Rate Map. 

Base Flood Elevation: Means the highest water surface elevation anticipated at any given point 
during the Base Flood. 

Basement: Means that portion of a Building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on all 
sides.

Best Management Practices (BMPs), Erosion Control: Erosion BMPs refer to sound conservation 
and engineering practices to prevent and minimize Erosion and resultant sedimentation, which are 
consistent with, and no less stringent than, those practices contained in the "Manual for Erosion and 
Sediment Control in Georgia" published by the Commission as of January 1 of the year in which the Land 
Disturbing Activity was permitted. 

Best Management Practices (BMPs), Stormwater: Stormwater BMPs refer to a wide range of 
management procedures, activities, and prohibitions or practices which control the quality and/or quantity of 
Stormwater Runoff and which are compatible with the planned land use. The term "properly designed" 
means designed in accordance with the specifications contained in the Georgia Stormwater Management 
Manual.

Block: A land area, which may consist of contiguous Lots, established by a recorded plat, and 
usually bordered by ways or spaces for public or common use. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 173

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 7 of 46

Board: The Board of Natural Resources. 

Boarding House: A Dwelling Unit other than a Hotel/Motel, where for compensation and by 
prearrangement for definite periods, meals or lodging and meals, are provided for five (5) or more persons 
who are not blood related. 

Bond: A legal instrument with clause, which establishes a sum or money, fixed as a penalty, 
binding the parties to pay the same; conditioned, however, that the payment of penalty may be avoided by 
the performance by the part of certain acts. 

Breakaway Wall: Means a wall that is not part of the structural support of the Building and is 
intended through its design and construction to collapse under specific lateral loading forces without 
causing damage to the elevated portion of the Building or the supporting foundation system. 

Buffer, Erosion: The area of land immediately adjacent to the banks of State Waters in its natural 
state of vegetation, which facilitates the protection of water quality and aquatic habitat. 

Buffer, Stream (see also Stream Buffer): the area of land immediately adjacent to the banks of State 
Waters in its natural state of vegetation, which facilitates the protection of water quality and aquatic habitat. 

Buffer Area(s): A Buffer Area is a land area reserved to provide a visual and noise barrier, which is 
created by the use of planted or natural existing materials, alone or in combination with berms, fencing or 
walls. A Buffer Area shall be located on the outer perimeter of a Lot or parcel, extending from the Lot or 
parcel boundary line and shall be established independently of Building Setbacks. Building Setback 
requirements shall begin at the portion of a Buffer Area furthest from the property line such that the Buffer 
Area is not included within any area required for a Building Setback. 

Building: Any permanent Structure attached to the ground, which has a roof and which is designed 
for the shelter, housing, or enclosure or persons, animals, or property of any kind. 

Building Inspector: The legally designated Building Code and Inspection Official of the City of 
Woodstock, or his authorized representatives. 

Building, Main or Principal: A Building in which is conducted the principal use of the Lot on 
which it is situated. In any resident district any dwelling shall be deemed to be a main Building of the Lot 
on which it is located. 

Build-To Line: The Build-To Line is the line along which the building Street Facade is permitted to 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 174

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 8 of 46

be located. The distance between the Build-To Line and the nearest street curb is equal to the Sidewalk Area 
width requirements, except where Public or Private Open Space is adjacent to the Sidewalk Area, the Build-
To Line shall extend around the perimeter of such Open Space Requirements include the minimum Street 
Facade Frontage of principal structures. 

Campground: A parcel of land used or intended to be used, let or rented for occupancy by campers 
or for occupancy by camping trailers, tents, or movable or temporary dwellings, rooms, or sleeping quarters 
of any kind. 

Certified Personnel: A person who has successfully completed the appropriate erosion and 
sedimentation control certification course approved by the Commission. 

Channel: A natural or artificial watercourse with a definite bed and banks that conducts 
continuously or periodically flowing water. 

City of Woodstock Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System, or MS4: Any facility designed or used 
for collecting and/or conveying Stormwater, including but not limited to any roads with drainage systems, 
highways, City streets, curbs, gutters, inlets, catch basins, piped storm drains, pumping facilities, structural 
Stormwater controls, ditches, swales, natural and man-made or altered drainage channels, reservoirs, and 
other drainage Structures. 

Clean Water Act: The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), and any 
subsequent amendments thereto. 

Clinic—Medical: A Building or portion of a Building where patients are not lodged overnight, but 
are admitted for examination and treatment by a group of physicians or dentists practicing together. 

Cluster Development: A residential Development which allows the Developer to develop Lots 
smaller than those specified in the zoning ordinance, provided the overall density and use is maintained. A 
variety of housing types may be utilized in a cluster Development (may utilize PUD zoning). 

Club, Lodge: Buildings and facilities owned or operated by an association or persons for a social or
recreational purpose. 

Common Open Space: An area of land and/or water within a Subdivision or Development, which is 
designed and intended primarily for the use or enjoyment of residents, occupants and Owners within the 
project.

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 175

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 9 of 46

Commission: The State Soil and Water Conservation Commission. 

Community Development Department: The City of Woodstock's Community Development 
Department (formerly known as the Planning and Economic Development Department). 

Conditional Use: A use that generally would not be appropriate throughout a zoning district but 
which, if controlled as to visual appearance, number, area, height, location, or relation to abutting or nearby 
uses, would not be injurious to the public, health, safety, welfare, morals, order, comfort, convenience, 
appearance or general welfare. Such uses may be permitted only in zoning districts specified in this 
Ordinance and are subject to conditions and approval by the Mayor and Council. 

Condominium: A form of Ownership of less than the whole of a Building or system of Buildings 
under a statute, which provides the mechanics and facilities for formal filing, and recording of divided 
interests in real property, whether the division is vertical or horizontal. 

Conservation Easement: An agreement between a land Owner and the City of Woodstock or other 
government agency or land trust that permanently protects Open Space or Greenspace on the Owner's land 
by limiting the amount and type of Development that can take place, but continues to leave the remainder of 
the fee interest in private Ownership.

Construction Activity: Activities subject to the Georgia Erosion and Sedimentation Control Act or 
NPDES General Construction Permits. These include construction projects resulting in Land Disturbance. 
Such activities include but are not limited to clearing and grubbing, grading, excavating, and demolition. 

Conveyance: Stormwater features designed for the movement of Stormwater through the drainage 
system, such as concrete or metal pipes, ditches, depressions, swales, catch basins, curbs, gutters, storm 
drains, etc. 

CPESC: Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control with current certification by 
Certified Profession in Erosion and Sediment Control Inc., a corporation registered in North Carolina, which 
is also referred to as CPESC or CPESC, Inc. 

Crosswalk: A right-of-way within a block dedicated to public use, intended primarily for 
pedestrian use, and designed to provide access to adjacent roads and Lots.

Customary Home Occupation: An occupation, profession or trade customarily carried on by an 
occupant in a Dwelling Unit as a secondary use which is clearly incidental to the Dwelling Unit for 
residential purposes. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 176

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 10 of 46

Cut: A portion of and surface or area from which earth has been removed or will be removed by 
excavation; the depth below original ground surface to excavated surface. Also known as excavation. 

Cutting: The removal of any soil or other solid material either organic or inorganic from the natural
ground surface. Also known as excavating. 

Day Care Center: Any establishment operated by an individual, partnership, society, agency, 
corporation, institution or group, and licensed by or registered with the State of Georgia as a group day care 
home or day care center, which enrolls therein for pay, for supervision and care, seven (7) or more children 
or adults. Such facility may provide supervision, care, education, recreation and specialized programming 
but does not provide overnight accommodations.

Density: The number of Dwelling Units per acre of land. Gross density refers to the number of 
units per acre of the total land area to be developed. Net density refers to the number of units per acre of 
land devoted to residential use. In no case shall the maximum density for the Development exceed the 
density permitted in the zoning district. 

Department: The Department of Natural Resources. 

Design Manual, Stormwater Management: The current version of the Georgia Stormwater 
Management Manual (GSMM) will provide the primary guidance for the design and evaluation of 
Stormwater Management Facilities in the City of Woodstock. A copy of the GSMM can be viewed in the 
Department of Public Works or can be accessed at www.georgiastormwater.com.

Design Professional: A professional licensed by the State of Georgia in the field of: engineering, 
architecture, landscape architecture, forestry, geology, or land surveying; or a person that is a CPESC with a 
current certification. 

Design Standards: The specifications to land Owners or subdividers for the preparation of Plats, 
both preliminary and final indicating among other things, the optimum, minimum, or maximum dimensions 
of such items as Right-Of-Way, Blocks, Easements, and Lots. 

Designated Hazardous Waste: Any solid waste identified as such in regulations promulgated by 
Georgia Department of Natural Resources Board. The Board may identify as designated hazardous waste
any solid waste which the Board concludes is capable of posing a substantial present or potential hazard to 
human health or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, or disposed of or otherwise
managed, based on the factors set forth in regulations promulgated by the administrator of the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency pursuant to the federal act which are codified as 40 C.F.R. Section 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 177

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 11 of 46

261.11(a)(3), in force and effect on February 1, 1996, if such solid waste contains any substance which is 
listed on any one (1) or more of the following lists: 

1.

List of Hazardous Constituents, codified as 40 C.F.R. Part 261, Appendix VIII, in force 
and effect on February 1, 1996; 

2.

Ground-water Monitoring List, codified as 40 C.F.R. Part 264, Appendix IX, in force and 
effect on February 1, 1996; 

3.

List of Hazardous Substances and Reportable Quantities, codified as 40 C.F.R. Table 
302.4, and all appendices thereto, in force and effect on February 1, 1996; 

4.

List of Regulated Pesticides, codified as 40 C.F.R. Part 180, in force and effect on 
February 1, 1996; 

5.

List of Extremely Hazardous Substances and Their Threshold Planning Quantities, 
codified as 40 C.F.R. Part 355, Appendix A, in force and effect on February 1, 1996; or 

6.

List of Chemicals and Chemical Categories, codified as 40 C.F.R. Part 372.65 in force
and effect on February 1, 1996. 

Designated Recycling Collection Location: Metal or heavy-duty plastic containers, bins or 
dumpsters designed for short-term holding of recyclable items such as tin, aluminum, glass and paper (no 
perishable or food items allowed) for scheduled minimum monthly pickup with no on-premise sorting. The 
center must be maintained in a safe, clean and sanitary fashion and shall be visually screened and 
maintained and shall be within the Building Setbacks. 

Detention: The temporary storage of Stormwater Runoff in a Stormwater Management Facility for 
the purpose of controlling the peak discharge. 

Detention Facility: A detention basin or Structure designed for the detention of Stormwater Runoff 
and gradual release of stored water at controlled rates. 

Developer: A person who undertakes Land Development Activities. 

Development: Means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including but 
not limited to, Buildings or other Structures, mining, dredging, filling, clearing, grubbing, grading, paving, 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 178

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 12 of 46

any other installation of Impervious Cover, excavation or drilling operations, or permanent storage of 
materials or equipment. 

Development Activity: Manmade change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, but not 
limited to, Buildings or other Structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavating, drilling 
operations, or permanent storage of materials or equipment. 

Development Plats—Preliminary and Final Preliminary: A tentative drawing or map of a proposed
Subdivision meeting requirements herein enumerated and showing the proposed layout in sufficient detail, 
although not completely computed, to indicate unquestionably its workability. 

Development Process Committee: Means the committee composed of those staff members 
responsible for Development within the City. Specifics of this committee are located in Chapter X of this 
Ordinance.

Director: The Director of the Environmental Protection Division of the Department of Natural 
Resources.

Discharge: The release of treated or untreated Stormwater Runoff or other material to the City of 
Woodstock MS4. 

District: The Limestone Valley Soil and Water Conservation District. 

District Zoning: A section or sections of the City of Woodstock for which the zoning regulations
governing the use of Buildings and premises, the size of Yards, and the intensity of use are uniform. 

Division: The Environmental Protection Division (EPD) of the Department of Natural Resources. 

Downtown District: The area approved on the accompanying Downtown District Subarea Map, 
which includes areas surrounding the intersection of Towne Lake Parkway and Arnold Mill Road and Main 
Street.

Downtown District Regulating Plan: The Downtown District Regulating Plan is a supplement to 
the Official Zoning Map and shall only apply to the Downtown District and identifies street types for the 
purposes of regulating street and Sidewalk Area requirements. 

DPW: The City of Woodstock Department of Public Works. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 179

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 13 of 46

Drainage Easement: An Easement appurtenant or attached to a Tract or Parcel of land allowing the 
Owner of adjacent tracts or other persons to discharge Stormwater Runoff onto the Tract or Parcel of land 
subject to the Drainage Easement. 

Drainage Structure: A device composed of a virtually non-erodible material such as concrete, 
steel, plastic or other such material that conveys water from one (1) place to another by intercepting the flow 
and carrying it to a release point for Stormwater Management, drainage control, or Flood control purposes. 

Drainage System: A conveyance or system of conveyances designed and used for collecting or 
conveying Stormwater Runoff. 

Dwelling Unit: One (1) or more rooms connected together and constituting a separate, independent 
housekeeping establishment for residential purposes with provision for cooking, eating and sleeping and 
physically set apart from any other rooms or dwelling areas in the same Structure or another Structure. 

Easements: A grant by a property Owner for the use of a strip of land by an individual, company or 
agency for a specified purpose. 

Easy Living Standards: Building guidelines developed by the Easy Living Home Coalition to 
insure that a house can remain accessible to a homeowner should they ever face a short or long term 
disability. These standards include: 

a.

A step free entrance into the main floor at either the front or side of the structure, or 
through the garage; 

b.

A bedroom, kitchen, wheelchair friendly bathroom, and entertaining area all on the main 
floor;

c.

Every interior door on the main floor provides a minimum thirty-two (32) inches of clear 
passage;

d.

Blocking installed in the bathroom(s) on the main floor to facilitate the future addition of 
handrails or similar accessibility features. 

Elevated Building: Means a non-Basement Building built to have the lowest floor elevated above 
the ground level by means of fill, solid foundation perimeter walls, pilings, columns (posts and piers), shear 
walls anchored so as not to impair the integrity of the Building during a Base Flood event.

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 180

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 14 of 46

Enforcement Officer: The City of Woodstock Building Inspector or such person designated by the 
City Council to be responsible for enforcing the provisions of the Ordinance. 

Erosion: The process by which land surface is worn away by the action of wind, water, ice or 
gravity.

Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan: A plan required by the Erosion and Sedimentation Act, 
O.C.G.A. Chapter 12-7, that includes, as a minimum, protections at least as stringent as the State General 
Permit, BMPs, and requirements in Chapter IV, Section 4.400, paragraph 3 of this Ordinance. 

Existing Construction: Any Structure for which the "start of construction" commenced before 
December 11, 1986, the effective date of the first FIRM map published for the City of Woodstock. 

Existing Grade: The vertical location of the existing ground surface prior to Cutting or Filling. 

Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision: Means a manufactured home park or 
Subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the Lots on which the manufactured homes 
are to be affixed (including at a minimum the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either 
final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed before December 11, 1986, the effective date 
of the first FIRM map published for the City of Woodstock. 

Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision: Means the preparation of 
additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the Lots on which the Manufactured Homes are 
to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or 
the pouring of concrete pads).

Extended Detention: The detention of Stormwater Runoff for an extended period, typically twenty-
four (24) hours or greater. 

Extreme Flood Protection: Measures taken to prevent adverse impacts from infrequent storm 
events with a return period of one hundred (100) years or more. 

Family Care Facility: A facility, which provides resident service in a private residence to six (6) or 
fewer individuals who are not related to the resident household. These individuals are handicapped, aged, 
disabled or in need of adult supervision and are provided service and supervision with their individual 
needs. This category includes foster or boarding homes for children, group homes, and family homes. 

Farmlands: Land areas of at least five (5) acres in size on which Land Disturbing Activities are not 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 181

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 15 of 46

undertaken for the purpose of raising crops or livestock. The purpose of this definition is not to include 
home gardens. 

Fee Simple: Absolute title to land, free of any other claims against the title, which one can sell or 
pass to another by will or inheritance. 

FEMA: Means the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 

Fill: A portion of land surface to which soil or other solid material has been added; the depth above 
the original ground. 

Filling: The placement of any soil or other solid material either organic or inorganic on a natural 
ground surface or an excavation. 

Final Stabilization: A term that refers to when (1) all soil disturbing activities at the site have been 
completed, and (2) for all unpaved areas, areas not covered by permanent structures, and areas located 
outside the waste disposal limits of a landfill cell that has been certified by the Division for waste disposal, 
one hundred (100) percent of the soil surface is uniformly covered in permanent vegetation with a density of 
seventy (70) percent or greater, or equivalent permanent stabilization measures (such as the use of rip rap, 
gabions, permanent mulches or geotextiles) are in place. Permanent vegetation shall consist of: planted 
trees, shrubs, perennial vines; a crop of perennial vegetation appropriate for the time of year and region; or a 
crop of annual vegetation and a seeding of target crop perennials appropriate for the region. Final 
stabilization applies to each phase of construction. 

Finished Grade: The final grade or elevation of the ground after Cutting or Filling and conforming 
to the proposed design. 

Flood or Flooding: Means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of 
normally dry land areas from either the overflow of inland or tidal waters or the unusual and rapid 
accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source. 

Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM): Means an official map of a community, issued by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency, where the boundaries of the areas of Special Flood Hazard have 
been defined as Zone A. 

Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM): Means an official map of a community, on which the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency has delineated both the areas of Special Flood Hazard and the risk 
premium zones applicable to the community. This definition also includes Digital Flood Insurance Rate 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 182

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 16 of 46

Maps (DFIRMs). 

Flood Insurance Study (FIS): Is the official report provided by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency. The report contains flood profiles, as well as the Flood Boundary Floodway Map and 
the water surface elevation of the Base Flood. 

Floodplain: Any land areas susceptible to Flooding, which would have at least a one (1) percent 
probability of Flooding occurrence in any calendar year based on the basin being fully developed as shown 
in the current land use plan. 

Floodplain, Administrative: Means any land area susceptible to Flooding, which would have at 
least a one (1) percent probability of Flooding occurrence in any calendar year based on the basin being 
fully developed as shown on the current land use plan. 

Floodplain Management Plan: As specified in Chapter XIII, a Floodplain Management Plan 
(FMP) must be submitted with the stamp and signature of a Professional Engineer (PE) licensed in the state 
of Georgia, who will verify that all designs are consistent with the requirements of Chapter XIII. The FMP 
shall generally include, but not be limited to, the following: plans drawn to scale of the site in question and 
the nature, location, and dimensions of existing or proposed Structures, earthen fill placement, storage of 
materials or equipment, and drainage and Stormwater Management Facilities. 

Floodproofing: Means any combination of structural and non-structural additions, changes, or 
adjustments to Structures which reduce or eliminate Flood damage to real estate or improved real property, 
water and sanitary facilities, Structures and their contents. 

Floodway or Regulatory Floodway: Means the channel of a Stream or other watercourse and the 
adjacent land areas of the Floodplain which is necessary to contain and discharge the Base Flood flow
without cumulatively increasing the Base Flood Elevation more than one (1) foot.

Floor: Means the top surface of an enclosed area in a Building (including Basement), i.e., top of 
slab in concrete slab construction or top of wood flooring in wood frame construction. The term does not 
include the floor of a garage used solely for parking vehicles. 

Frontage: All the property on one (1) side of a street between two (2) intersecting streets (crossing 
or terminating) measured along the line of a street, or if the street is deadended then all the property abutting 
on one (1) side between an intersecting street and the dead end of the street. 

Full Care Facility: Any facility that admits patients on medical referral only for continuous 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 183

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 17 of 46

medical supervision and for skilled nursing care and rehabilitative care. 

Functionally Dependent Facility: Means a facility which cannot be used for its intended purpose 
unless it is located or carried out in close proximity to water, such as a docking or port facility necessary for 
the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers, ship repair, or seafood processing facilities. The term 
does not include long-term storage, manufacture, sales, or service facilities. 

Future Conditions Flood: Means the Flood having a one (1) percent chance of being equaled or 
exceeded in any given year based on Future Conditions Hydrology. Also known as the one hundred-year
Future Conditions Flood. 

Future Conditions Flood Elevation: Means the Flood standard equal to or higher than the Base 
Flood Elevation. The Future Conditions Flood Elevation is defined as the highest water surface anticipated 
at any given point during the Future Conditions Flood. 

Future Conditions Floodplain: Means any land area susceptible to Flooding by the Future 
Conditions Flood. 

Future Conditions Hydrology: The hydrologic response of a basin in terms of peak flows, 
hydrographs, and runoff volumes based on the basin being fully developed (full build-out) as shown on the 
current version of the City of Woodstock future land use map. 

Give-Way Street: A narrow residential street that has two (2) travel lanes and allows on-street
parking such that vehicles must yield to oncoming traffic. 

Grading: Altering surfaces to specified elevations, dimensions, and/or slopes; this includes 
stripping, Cutting, Filling, stockpiling and shaping or any combination thereof and shall include the land in 
its Cut or Filled condition. 

Greenspace (also see "Open Space"): Permanently protected areas of the site that are preserved in 
a natural state. 

Ground Elevation: The original elevation of the ground surface prior to Cutting or Filling.

Group Care Facility: A facility, which provides resident services to seven (7) or more individuals 
for whom one (1) or more are unrelated. These individuals are handicapped, aged, or disabled, are 
undergoing rehabilitation, or in need of adult supervision and are provided service in accordance with their 
individual needs. This category includes uses, licensed or supervised by the Federal, State, or County 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 184

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 18 of 46

health/welfare agency, such as group homes (all ages), halfway houses, resident facilities, and foster or 
boarding homes. 

Group Home: A dwelling shared by four (4) or fewer persons, excluding resident owner, (or no 
more than six (6) persons including the resident owner), who live together as a single housekeeping unit and 
in a long term, family like environment in which the resident owner, serving as the primary caregiver to the 
residents, provides care, education and participation in community activities for the residents with the 
primary goal of enabling the residents to live as independently as possible in order to reach their maximum 
potential,

1.

No group home shall be located within two thousand (2,000) feet of another group home 
as measured at the property line. 

2.

A group home shall be limited to one (1) structure and multiple structures located near 
one (1) another shall not be considered components of one (1) group home. Each structure 
shall meet distance requirements. 

The term "group home" shall not include a halfway house, a treatment center for alcoholism or 
drug abuse, a work release facility for convicts or ex-convicts, a home for detention and/or rehabilitation of 
juveniles adjudged delinquent or unruly and placed in custody of the state, or other housing facilities serving 
as an alternative to incarceration. The term group home shall also not allow the use of a dwelling as an 
apartment or duplex. A group home shall not allow use of the dwelling as a home for individuals on parole, 
probation, or convicted and released from incarceration, for any crimes including child molestation, 
aggravated child molestation, or child sexual abuse, as defined in O.C.G.A. § 16-6-4 or individuals required 
to register as sex offenders pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 42-1-12. A group home may include a home for the 
handicapped. As used in this subsection, the term "handicapped" shall mean: 

1.

Having a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one (1) or more of such 
person's major life activities so that such person is incapable of living independently. 

2.

Having a record of having such an impairment; or
3.

Being regarded as having impairment.

However, the term handicapped shall not include current illegal use of or addition to a controlled 
substance, nor shall it include any person whose residency in the home would constitute a direct threat to the
health and safety of other individuals. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 185

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 19 of 46

Habitable Space: Covered and conditioned building floor area utilized for any principal permitted 
use except parking, storage, digital industry switchboards, power generators, and other relay equipment. 

Health Inspector: The legally designated County Health Sanitarian of the Cherokee County Health 
Department, or his authorized representatives. 

Height of Building: The vertical distance measured from the mean finished ground level adjoining 
the Building to the highest point of the roof. 

Highest Adjacent Grade: Means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, prior to 
construction, nest to the proposed walls of a Building. 

Historic Structure: Means any Structure that is: 

1.

Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained by the 
Department of Interior) or preliminary determined by the Secretary of the Interior as 
meeting the requirements for individual listing of the National Register; 

2.

Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing to the 
historical significance of a registered historic district or a district preliminary determined 
by the Secretary to qualify as a registered historic district. 

3.

Individually listed on a State Inventory of Historic places in States with Historic 
Preservation Programs which have been approved by the Secretary of the Interior, or; 

4.

Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places in communities with historic
Preservation programs that have been certified either: 
a.

By an approved State Program as determined by the Secretary of the Interior, or;
b.

Directly by the Secretary of the Interior in States without approved programs.

Historic Zone: An area shown on the Downtown District Subareas Map, which has specific 
requirements that supersede certain other requirements of the Downtown District as amended. 

Hotel/Motel: A Building in which lodging, or food and lodging, are provided and offered to the 
public for compensation and in which ingress and egress to and from all rooms are made through an inside 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 186

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 20 of 46

lobby and office supervised by a person in charge at all hours. A hotel is open to the transient public and is 
thus differentiated from a boarding house or a rooming house which are herein separately defined. 

Hotspot: An area where the use of the land has the potential to generate highly contaminated 
runoff, with concentrations of pollutants in excess of those typically found in Stormwater. Examples of 
Stormwater hotspots include: gas/fueling stations, vehicle maintenance areas, vehicle washing/steam 
cleaning, auto recycling facilities, outdoor material storage areas, loading and transfer areas, landfills, 
Construction sites, Industrial sites, and Industrial rooftops.

Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG): A Natural Resource Conservation Service classification system in 
which soils are categorized into four (4) runoff potential groups. The groups range from group A soils, with 
high permeability and little runoff produced, to group D soils, which have low permeability rates and 
produce much more runoff. 

Illegal Connection: Means either of the following: 

1.

Any pipe, open channel, drain or conveyance, whether on the surface or subsurface, which 
allows an illicit discharge to enter the storm drain system including but not limited to any 
conveyances which allow any non-Stormwater discharge including sewage, process 
wastewater, and wash water to enter the storm drain system, regardless of whether such 
pipe, open channel, drain or conveyance has been previously allowed, permitted, or 
approved by the DPW; or 

2.

Any pipe, open channel, drain or conveyance connected to the City MS4 which has not 
been documented in plans, maps, or equivalent records and approved by the DPW. 

Illicit Discharge: Any direct or indirect non-Stormwater discharge to the City of Woodstock MS4 
except as exempted in this ordinance. 

Impervious Cover: A surface composed of any material that significantly impedes or prevents the 
natural infiltration of water into soil. Impervious surfaces include, but are not limited to, rooftops, buildings, 
streets and roads, and most concrete or asphalt surfaces. 

Independent Retirement Living: A facility, which is composed of individual apartments or 
condominiums for lease or purchase, with a bedroom, bath, living area and kitchenette. This commercial 
enterprise offers services of convenience including one (1) or two (2) meals daily, transportation and 
planned activities. Personal care is provided on a minimal basis. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 187

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 21 of 46

Independent Retirement Living – Senior adult housing which consists of attached independent living developments 
which is composed of individual apartments or condominiums for lease or purchase, with a bedroom, bath, living 
area and kitchenette, including retirement communities, age restricted housing, and active adult communities. These 
developments may include limited social or recreational services, but generally lack centralized dining and on site 
medical facilities or services.

Individual Sewage Disposal System: A septic tank, seepage tile sewage disposal system, or any 
other sewage treatment device other than a public treatment system approved by the Cherokee County 
Health Department. 

Industrial Stormwater Permit: A National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
permit issued to an industry or group of industries as defined in 40 C.F.R. Section 122.26(b)(14) which
regulates the pollutant levels associated with industrial stormwater discharges or specifies on-site pollution 
control strategies. 

Infiltration: The process of percolating stormwater runoff into the subsoil.

Inspection and Maintenance Agreement: A written agreement providing for the long-term
inspection and maintenance of stormwater management facilities and practices on a site or with respect to a 
land Development project, which when properly recorded in the deed records constitutes a restriction on the 
title to a site or other land involved in a land Development project. 

Interior Island: A minimum one hundred sixty-two (162) square foot curbed area that includes a 
canopy tree and no impervious surface.

Issuing Authority: The Woodstock Community Development Department and the Public Works 
Department are a joint issuing authority and are certified pursuant to subsection (a) O.C.G.A. § 12-7-8.

Junk Yard: Any use involving the storage or disassembly of wrecked automobiles, trucks, or other 
vehicles or the dismantling, demolition, or abandonment of automobiles or other vehicles or machinery or 
parts thereof; the keeping, abandonment, sale or resale of junk including scrap metal, used paper, or other 
scrap material, salvaged house wrecked an structural steel materials and equipment; storage, baling or 
otherwise dealing in bones, animal hides, used cloth or rags, used plumbing fixtures, appliances, furniture, 
and used brick, wood or other building. 

Jurisdictional Wetland: An area that is inundated or saturated by surface water or groundwater at a 
frequency and duration sufficient to support a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated 
soil conditions, commonly known as hydrophytic vegetation.

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 188

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 22 of 46

Land Development: Any land change, including but not limited to clearing, grubbing, stripping, 
removal of vegetation, dredging, grading, excavating, transporting and filling of land, construction, paving 
and any other installation of impervious cover.

Land Development Activity: Those actions or activities which comprise facilitate or result in Land 
Development.

Land Disturbance: Any land or vegetation change, including, but not limited to, clearing, 
grubbing, stripping, removal of vegetation, dredging, grading, excavating, transporting and filing of land, 
that does not involve construction, paving or any other installation of impervious cover. 

Land-Disturbing Activity: Any activity which may result in soil erosion from water or wind and the 
movement of sediments into State Water or onto lands within the State, including but not limited to, 
clearing, dredging, grading excavating, transporting and Filling of land but not including agricultural 
practices as described in Chapter IV, Section 4.300, paragraph 5, of this Ordinance. 

Larger Common Plan of Development or Sale: A contiguous area where multiple separate and 
distinct construction activities are occurring under one (1) plan of Development or sale. For the purposes of 
this paragraph, "plan" means an announcement; piece of documentation such as a sign, public notice or 
hearing, sales pitch, advertisement, drawing, permit application, zoning request, or computer design; or 
physical demarcation such as boundary signs, Lot stakes, or surveyor markings, indicating that construction 
activities may occur on a specific plot. 

Limited Use: Principal permitted uses subject to the following additional requirements: 

1.

The floor area of an individual tenant or business shall be located at street intersections
and not exceed three thousand (3,000) square feet and shall have a minimum of twenty 
(20) feet of Street Facade along both Build-To Lines. 

2.

Uses are limited to bakery—no distribution, barber and beauty shop, coffee shop/cafe, 
deli, dry cleaning—pick-up/drop-off, grocery with general merchandise store 
combination, ice cream and yogurt, library branch, newsstand, restaurant/cafe—no
alcohol except beer and wine sales, shoe repair, and tailor. 

3.

Limited Uses are restricted to the sidewalk level of a building, and are only permitted 
when said building includes two (2) or more stories of dwelling units directly above said 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 189

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 23 of 46

use.

Loading Space: A space within the main Building or on the same Lot therewith, providing for the 
standing, loading, or unloading of a vehicle. 

Local Issuing Authority: The governing authority of any county or municipality which is certified 
pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 12-7-8(a).

Local Planning Commission: The Woodstock Municipal Planning Commission. 

Lot: A piece, parcel, or plot of land in one (1) Ownership, which may include one (1) or more Lots 
of Record, occupied or to be occupied by one (1) principal Building and its accessory buildings including 
the Open Space required under this Ordinance. 

Lot Area: The total surface area of land included within Lot lines. 

Lot—Corner: A Lot of which at least two (2) adjoining sides about their full lengths on a street, 
provided that the interior angle at the intersection of two (2) such sides is less than one hundred thirty-five
(135) degrees. 

Lot Depth: The average distance from the street line of the Lot to its rear line, measured in their 
general direction of the side lines of the Lot. 

Lot—Double Frontage: A Lot other than a corner Lot abutting two (2) streets.

Lot Frontage: That dimension of a Lot or portion of a Lot abutting on a public street. 

Lot—Interior: A Lot other than a corner Lot. 

Lot Lines: The boundary dividing a given Lot from the street, an alley, or adjacent Lots. 

Lot of Record: A Lot which is part of a Subdivision recorded in the Superior Court Clerk's Office, 
or a Lot described by metes and bounds, the description of which has been recorded in the Superior Court 
Clerk's Office prior to the date of passage of the Ordinance. 

Lot Width: The width of a Lot at the Building Setback line measured at right angles to the 
centerline of its depth. 

Lowest Floor: Means the lowest floor of the lowest area, including Basement. An unfinished or 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 190

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 24 of 46

flood resistant enclosure, used solely for parking of vehicles, Building access, or storage, in an area other 
than a Basement, is not considered a Building's lowest floor, provided that such enclosure is not built so as 
to render the Structure in violation of other provisions of this code. 

Maintenance: Any action necessary to preserve stormwater management facilities in proper 
working condition, in order to serve the intended purposes set forth in this article or to prevent structural 
failure of such facilities. 

Manufactured Home: Means a building, transportable in one (1) or more sections, which is built on 
a permanent chassis and designed to be used with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the 
required utilities. The term also includes park trailers, travel trailers, and similar transportable Structures
placed on a site for one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days or longer and intended to be improved 
property.

Mean Sea Level: Means the average height of the sea for all stages of the tide. It is used as a 
reference for establishing various elevations within the Floodplain. For purposes of this Ordinance, the term 
is synonymous with National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD). 

Metropolitan River Protection Act (MRPA): A state law referenced as O.C.G.A § 12-5-440 et seq. 
which addresses environmental and developmental matters in certain metropolitan river corridors and their 
drainage basins. 

Mini-Warehouse: A Building in a controlled access and fenced compound that contains varying 
sizes of individual, compartmentalized and controlled-access stalls or lockers for storing the excess personal 
property of an individual or family when such is not with their residence, such as a passenger motor vehicle, 
house trailer, motorcycle, boat, camper, furniture, limited commercial storage (items of local retail 
merchants, small contractors, and professionals), and other items of personal property generally stored in 
residential accessory Structures. No business activities other than the rental of storage units shall be 
conducted on the premises. 

Minimum Floor Elevation: The lowest elevation permissible for the construction, erection, or other 
placement of any floor including a Basement floor. 

Mobile Home Park: A plot of ground upon which two (2) or more mobile homes occupied for 
dwelling or sleeping purposes are located regardless of whether or not a charge is made for such 
accommodations.

Mobile Home Space: A plot of ground within a Mobile Home Park designated for the 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 191

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 25 of 46

accommodation of not more than one (1) mobile home of single-family occupancy. 

Modular Home: A factory fabricated dwelling over thirty-two (32) feet in length and at least 
twenty-four (24) feet wide designed and constructed without carriage or hitch collar as stationary house 
construction for placement upon permanent foundation, to be permanently connected to utilities, for year-
round occupancy. It can consist of two (2) or more components that can be separated when transported by 
designed to be joined into one (1) integral unit. Modular homes shall meet the minimum standards for house 
construction as specified in the Southern Standard Building Code, the FHA-Minimum Property Standards, 
the State Factory Built Housing Rules, and have a roof with at least a 3/12 pitch. 

National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD): As corrected in 1929, National Geodetic Vertical 
Datum refers to a vertical control used as a reference for establishing varying elevations within the 
Floodplain.

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Storm Water Discharge Permit: A
permit issued by the Georgia EPD under authority delegated pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b) that authorizes 
the discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States, whether the permit is applicable on an individual, 
group, or general area wide basis. 

Natural Ground Surface: The ground surface in its original state before any grading, excavation or 
Filling.

Nephelometric Turbidity Units (NTU): Numerical units of measure based upon photometric 
analytical techniques for measuring the light scattered by finely divided particles of a substance in 
suspension. This technique is used to estimate the extent of turbidity in water in which colloidally dispersed 
particles are present. 

New Construction: Any Structure for which the "start of construction" commenced after December
11, 1986, the effective date of the first FIRM map published for the City of Woodstock. The term also 
includes any subsequent improvements to such Structures. 

New Development: A Land Development Activity on a previously undeveloped site. 

New Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision: Means a Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision 
for which the construction of facilities for servicing the Lots on which the Manufactured Homes are to be 
affixed (including at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site 
grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed on or after the effective date of Floodplain 
management regulations adopted by a community. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 192

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 26 of 46

NOI: Notice of Intent form provided by the Division for coverage under the State General Permit. 

NOT: Notice of Termination form provided by the Division to terminate coverage under the State 
General Permit. 

Non-Conforming Use: The use of a Building, or land existing at the time of enactment of this 
Ordinance or subsequent amendment which does not conform to the regulations for the district in which it is 
located.

Non-Point Source Pollution: A form of water Pollution that does not originate from a discrete point 
such as a sewage treatment plant or industrial discharge, but involves the transport of Pollutants such as 
sediment, fertilizers, pesticides, heavy metals, oil, grease, bacteria, organic materials and other contaminants 
from land to surface water and groundwater via mechanisms such as precipitation, Stormwater Runoff, and 
leaching. Non-Point Source Pollution is a by-product of land use practices such as agricultural, silvicultural, 
mining, construction, subsurface disposal and urban runoff sources. 

Non-Stormwater Discharge: Any discharge to the storm drain system that is not composed entirely 
of Stormwater. 

Non-structural Stormwater Management Practice, or Nonstructural Practice: Any natural or 
planted vegetation or other nonstructural component of the Stormwater management report that provides for 
or enhances Stormwater quantity and/or quality control or other Stormwater management benefits, and 
includes, but is not limited to, preservation and enhancement of riparian buffers, open and Greenspace areas, 
overland flow filtration areas, natural depressions, and vegetated channels. 

North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988: Means the vertical control used as a reference 
for establishing varying elevations within the Floodplain. 

Noxious Matter: Material (in gaseous, liquid, solid, particulate, or any other form) which is capable 
of causing injury to living organisms, chemical reactions, or detrimental effects on the social, economic, or 
psychological well-being of individuals. 

Off-Site Stormwater Facility: A Stormwater Management Facility located outside the boundaries of 
the site. 

Off-Street Loading Space: The area required to load or unload goods or other material plus the 
necessary driveways and maneuvering area. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 193

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 27 of 46

On-Site Stormwater Facility: A Stormwater Management Facility located within the boundaries of 
the site. 

Open Space: Private Open Space and Public Open Space appropriately improved for pedestrian use 
and amenity and not including areas used for vehicles, except for incidental service, maintenance or 
emergency actions only. Open Space shall be exterior and computed as the total square footage of said 
spaces.

1.

Private Open Space: Open Space that is private courtyards, lawns, gardens, terraces, or 
balconies, which restrict access to residents of adjacent development. 

2.

Public Open Space: Park, Plaza, or Greenway Trail that is open to the public during 
normal City of Woodstock park hours and Sidewalk Area requirements located on private 
property.

3.

Park: A Public Open Space that provides recreation amenities and gathering places. A 
Park shall have streets along a minimum of fifty (50) percent of its perimeter and shall 
have no more than twenty (20) percent of its area covered with impervious surfaces, with 
the exception of Greenway Trails. 

4.

Plaza: A Public Open Space that is available for civic and commercial activities, but may 
have access limited for the purposes of providing outdoor dining areas. A Plaza shall have 
streets along a minimum of fifty (50) percent of its perimeter and a landscape consisting 
of durable pavement, trees and other plant materials. 

Operator: The party or parties that have: (A) operational control of construction project plans and 
specifications, including the ability to make modifications to those plans and specifications; or (B) day to 
day operational control of those activities that are necessary to ensure compliance with a stormwater 
pollution prevention plan for the site or other permit conditions, such as a person authorized to direct 
workers at a site to carry out activities required by the Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan or to comply 
with other permit conditions. 

Outbuilding: An ancillary building located towards the rear of the same lot containing a single-
family dwelling or Townhouse. It may be connected to such dwelling by an unheated walkway or 
breezeway. Outbuildings shall not exceed eight hundred fifty (850) square feet of habitable space, excluding 
garages, nor shall they exceed thirty-five (35) feet in height or the height of the principal structure, 
whichever is less. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 194

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 28 of 46

Outfall: The location where stormwater, in a discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, leaves 
a facility (or site) or, if there is receiving water on site, where stormwater becomes a point source 
discharging into that receiving water.

Overbank Flood Protection: Measures taken to prevent an increase in the frequency and magnitude 
of out-of-bank Flooding (i.e., flow events that exceed the capacity of the channel and enter the Floodplain).
These measures need to provide peak discharge control of the two (2) through a twenty-five-year storm 
event such that the Post-Development peak rate does not exceed the Pre-Development rate to reduce 
overbank Flooding. 

Owner: Means the legal or beneficial Owner of a site, including but not limited to, a mortgagee or 
vendee in possession, receiver, executor, trustee, leasee or other person, firm or corporation in control of the 
site.

Owner(s) of Record: The Owner(s) of property as specified on the deed of the Lot of record. 

Parcel: Any lot, Lot or acreage shown as a unit on the latest City tax assessment records. 

Parking, Commercial: An area or structure dedicated to the temporary storage of automobiles or 
other vehicles for periods of less than twenty-four (24) hours for a fee, operated as the principal use of the 
property or structure. 

Parking Lot: An off-street facility including parking spaces along with adequate provisions for 
drives and aisles for maneuvering and getting access, and for entrance and exit designed so as to be usable. 

Parking Space: An off-street space available for parking one (1) motor vehicle and having an area 
of not less than two hundred (200) square feet exclusive of passageways and driveways giving access 
thereto, and having direct access to a street or alley. 

Patio House: A single-family dwelling in which most, or all, of a Lot is used with yard space 
combined instead of divided. Front, rear, and side yards are consolidated into one (1) garden area, either 
partially or completely bordered by rooms or enclosed by walls. 

Percentage or Grade: On street center line, means the distance vertically (up and down) from the 
horizontal in feet and tenths of a foot for each one hundred (100) feet of horizontal distance. 

Permit: The Permit, issued by the Development Process Committee required for undertaking any 
Land Development and/or Land-Disturbing Activity in the City. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 195

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 29 of 46

Person: Any individual, partnership, firm, association, joint venture, public or private corporation, 
trust, estate, commission, board, public or private institution, utility, cooperative, State agency, municipality 
or other political subdivision of this State, any interstate body, or any other legal entity. 

Pervious Material: Any material allowing the passage of water from the surface into the water 
table. Pervious materials can be concrete pavers or a variety of commercially available products. Gravel 
shall not be counted as a pervious material. 

Phase or Phased: Sub-parts or segments of construction projects where the sub-part or segment is 
constructed and stabilized prior to completing construction activities on the entire construction site. 

Planned Street: Proposed new streets as indicated on the Downtown District Regulating Plan. 

Plat—Final: The final map or drawing and accompanying materials, described in this Ordinance, 
on which the subdivider's plan of the Subdivision is presented to the Planning Commission for approval and 
which, if approved by the Commission is recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Superior Court. 

Pollutant: Anything which causes or contributes to pollution. Pollutants may include, but are not 
limited to: paints, varnishes, and solvents; petroleum hydrocarbons; automotive fluids; cooking grease; 
detergents (biodegradable or otherwise); degreasers; cleaning chemicals; non-hazardous liquid and solid 
wastes and yard wastes; refuse, rubbish, garbage, litter, or other discarded or abandoned objects and
accumulations, so that same may cause or contribute to pollution; floatables; pesticides, herbicides, and 
fertilizers; liquid and solid wastes; sewage, fecal coliform and pathogens; dissolved and particulate metals; 
animals wastes; wastes and residues that result from constructing a building or Structure; concrete and 
cement; and noxious or offensive matter of any kind. 

Pollution: The contamination or other significant alteration of any water's physical, chemical or 
biological properties, including change in temperature, taste, color, turbidity, or odor of such waters or the 
discharge of any liquid, gaseous, solid, radioactive, or other substance into any such waters as will or is 
likely to render such waters harmful, detrimental or injurious to the public health, safety or welfare or to 
domestic, commercial, industrial, agricultural, recreational, or other legitimate beneficial uses, or to 
livestock, wild animals, birds, fish or other aquatic life. 

Post-Development: The time period, or the conditions that may reasonably be expected or 
anticipated to exist, after completion of the Land Development Activity on a site as the context may require. 

Pre-Application Review: An initial and informal stage of Subdivision review at which the 
Developer may make known preliminary plan proposals and the City Planning staff or the Planning 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 196

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 30 of 46

Commission may respond and/or advise the Developer concerning the Subdivision regulations. 

Pre-Development: The time period, or the conditions that existed, on a site prior to any Land 
Development and equivalent to the original hydrologic conditions (e.g., natural forest in good condition). 

Premises: Any Building, Lot, Parcel of land, or portion of land whether improved or unimproved 
including adjacent sidewalks and parking strips.

Principal Use: The specific primary purpose for which land or Building is used. 

Private: Property or facilities owned by individuals, corporations, and other organizations and not 
by city, county, state or federal government or any agency or Subdivision thereof. 

Private Street: A street over which the general public has no right of use. 

Procedure: A procedure adopted by City of Woodstock to implement a regulation or regulations 
adopted under this article, or to carry out other responsibilities as may be required by this article or other 
codes, ordinances or resolutions of the City. 

Professional Office: Structure wherein services are performed involving predominately 
administrative, professional or clerical operations, such as law, doctor, optician, audiologist, accounting, tax 
preparation, real estate, stock broker, architect, engineer, manufacturer representative, professional 
counselor, land surveyor, political/campaign, telephone sales, travel bureau, and the like. 

Project: The entire proposed Development project regardless of the size of the area of land to be 
disturbed.

Properly Designed: Designed in accordance with the design requirements and specifications 
contained in the "Manual for Erosion and Sediment Control in Georgia" (Manual) published by the 
Commission as of January 1 of the year in which the Land-Disturbing Activity was permitted and 
amendments to the Manual as approved by the Commission up until the date of NOI submittal. 

Public Water System: Any water distribution system which has fifteen (15) or more service 
connections or serves more than twenty-five (25) people. 

Public Works Department or PWD: The City of Woodstock Public Works Department. 

Qualified Personnel: Any person who meets or exceeds the certified education and training

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 197

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 31 of 46

requirements of O.C.G.A. § 12-7-19 as referenced in Chapter IV. 

Recreational Vehicle: Means a vehicle which is: 

1.

Built on a single chassis;
2.

Four hundred (400) square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection;
3.

Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck; and,
4.

Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters 
for recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use. 

Recycling: Any process by which materials which would otherwise become solid waste are 
collected, separated or processed and reused or returned to use in the form of raw material or products. 

Recycling Processing Facility: A facility engaged in buying, processing and resale or reuse of 
recyclable materials. Such term shall not include a solid waste handling facility. Such facility may involve 
storage, shipping and receiving of recyclable materials. 

Redevelopment: Any construction, alteration, or improvement exceeding five thousand (5,000) 
square feet of Land Disturbance on sites where the existing land use is already developed as commercial, 
industrial, institutional, or multi-family residential. Redevelopment excludes ordinary maintenance 
activities, remodeling of existing Buildings, resurfacing of paved areas, and exterior changes or 
improvements which do not materially increase or concentrate Stormwater Runoff, or cause additional 
Nonpoint Source Pollution. 

Regional Stormwater Management Facility, or Regional Facility: Stormwater Management 
Facilities, typically Stormwater ponds, designed to control Stormwater Runoff from multiple properties, 
where the Owners or Developers of the individual properties may assist in the financing of the facility, and 
the requirement for on-site controls is either eliminated or reduced. 

Regulation: Any regulation, rule or requirement adopted by the City Council pursuant to the 
requirements of this article. 

Regulatory Flood: Means the Base Flood. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 198

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 32 of 46

Regulatory Flood Elevation: Means the Base Flood Elevation. 

Regulatory Floodplain: Any land area susceptible to flooding, which would have at least a one (1) 
percent probability of flooding occurrence in any calendar year based on the latest FEMA Flood Insurance 
Study and depicted in the latest Flood Insurance Rate Map. 

Rehabilitation Homes: A facility for the treatment of individuals with mental or physical disorders 
who must be housed in the facility during the term of their rehabilitation. The primary function of the 
facility shall be to provide the proper community environment to restore those residing in the facility to a 
state of health, efficiency, and useful, constructive activity. This is distinguished from hospitals, clinics, 
mental hospitals, sanitariums, etc., in that the function is not the treatment of the chronically ill but rather to 
facilitate the return of patients to a normal life within the community. 

Rental Unit: A residential use which is contractually conveyed by the owner to a tenant for a 
specified time and amount of money. 

Reserve Strip: A strip or Parcel of land along, around, or between properties, the purpose of which 
is to restrict Access. 

Residential Board and Care Facility: A commercial facility which provides residential services for 
compensation for ambulatory elderly persons, including room and board, limited personal services and 
planned activities. This is a group living environment with private or semi-private bedrooms and bathrooms, 
requiring a state operating license and providing meals, housekeeping, laundry and personal care services, 
with twenty-four-hour staff availability. Medical care, similar to that offered in a nursing home, is not 
provided.

Residential—Live/Work Unit: A fee simple mixed use unit with a substantial Commercial 
Component that may accommodate employees and walk in trade. Therefore the unit shall require ADA 
compliance for accessibility. 

Residential Multi-family: A building or portion of a building used or designed to contain dwelling
units for three (3) or more families living independently of each other, with the number of families in 
residence not exceeding the number of dwelling units provided. The terms "multiple-family" and "multi-
family" are synonymous. 

Residential Single-Family Attached: A building containing a dwelling unit connected along one (1) 
or more side walls to another dwelling unit by a common party wall, with no dwelling units or portions 
thereof arranged over another. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 199

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 33 of 46

Residential Single-Family Detached: A building containing one (1) dwelling unit, designed to be 
occupied exclusively by one (1) family, and not attached to any other dwelling unit. 

Residential Treatment: An architectural treatment that: 

1.

Is provided on the sidewalk level of a Street Facade.
2.

Provides Habitable Space for a minimum of the first ten (10) feet in depth behind the 
Street Facade. 

3.

Provides equally sized vertical windows where the top of which and the bottom of which 
shall be no higher and no lower than to the top of the door frame and the bottom of door 
frame.

4.

Provides windows for a minimum of thirty (30) percent and a maximum of sixty (60) 
percent of the total Street Facade area, with the facade of each unit being calculated 
independently.

5.

Provides an entry stoop or porch at a primary pedestrian Street Facade entrance.

Re-Subdivision: A change in a map of any approved or recorded Subdivision plat altering the 
number of Lots incorporated within the confines of the original plat. 

Retail Store: A commercial use or establishment where at least one-half (½) of the sale of goods is 
made to the ultimate consumer for direct consumption and not for resale. 

Review Agency: Any so designated agency other than the Planning Commission may review 
appropriate parts of plat submissions by reason of technical capability, authority, or interest. 

Right-Of-Way: A strip of land designated, reserved, dedicated, or purchased for the purpose of 
pedestrian or vehicular access or utility line installation. 

Riparian: Belonging or related to the bank of a river, Stream, lake, pond or impoundment. 

Roadway: The actual road surface including necessary road shoulders and drainage facilities 
including ditches and curb and gutters, which is utilized to transport motor vehicles.

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 200

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 34 of 46

Roadway Drainage Structure: A device such as a bridge, culvert, or ditch, composed of a virtually 
non-erodible material such as concrete, steel, plastic, or other such material that conveys water under a 
roadway by intercepting the flow on one (1) side of a traveled way consisting of one (1) or more defined 
lanes, with or without shoulder areas, and carrying water to a release point on the other side. 

Rooming House: A Building other than a Hotel/Motel where lodging for five (5) or more persons 
not of the same family is provided for definite periods and for compensation and by prearrangement for 
definite periods. 

Runoff: Stormwater Runoff. 

Sanitary Landfill: An area or site utilized by a public or private entity for disposal of solid waste or 
refuse in a manner which meets the regulations imposed upon the operation and maintenance of sanitary 
landfill.

Sanitary Sewer: A municipal or community sewage collection, treatment, and disposal system of a 
type approved by the County Health Department. 

Sediment: Solid material, both mineral and organic, that is in suspension, is being transported, or 
has been moved from its site of origin by air, water, ice, or gravity; the product of erosion. 

Sedimentation: The process by which eroded material is transported and deposited by the action of 
water, wind, ice or gravity. 

Service Buildings: A Building, housing facilities such as recreational, maintenance, laundry and 
office Structure necessary to the successful Development and management of a Development. 

Setback: The distance between the street Right-Of-Way line and the front line of a Building or any 
projection thereof, excluding uncovered steps. 

Setback, Stream: Means, with respect to a Stream, the area established by Chapter XVII, as 
extending beyond any Buffer applicable to the Stream. 

Shopping Center: Three (3) or more commercial establishments planned, developed and managed 
as a unit and providing parking facilities in common on the site. 

Sidewalk Area: Begins at the street curb and consists of a contiguous Sidewalk Landscape Zone, 
Sidewalk Clear Zone, and Sidewalk Supplemental Zone including intervening driveways. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 201

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 35 of 46

1.

Sidewalk Landscape Zone: The portion of a Sidewalk Area adjacent to the street curb and 
reserved for the placement of trees, groundcover, and street furniture including utility 
poles, waste receptacles, fire hydrants, traffic signs, traffic control boxes, tree grates, 
newspaper boxes, bus shelters, bicycle racks and similar elements in a manner that does 
not obstruct pedestrian access or motorist visibility. 

2.

Sidewalk Clear Zone: The portion of a Sidewalk Area that is reserved for pedestrian 
passage and is unobstructed by permanent objects to a height of eight (8) feet, including 
but not limited to, steps and stoops, traffic control boxes, and utility structures. The 
Sidewalk Clear Zone shall be adjacent and between the Sidewalk Landscape Zone and the 
Sidewalk Supplemental Zone and shall have a consistent cross-slope not exceeding two
(2) percent. 

3.

Sidewalk Supplemental Zone: The area between the back of the Sidewalk Clear Zone and 
the Build-To Line. Adjacent to Storefront Treatments, Sidewalk Supplemental Zones may 
be used for pedestrian amenity elements such as benches, merchandise display, potted 
plants, and decorative fountains. Outdoor dining is permitted only when adjacent to eating 
and drinking establishments. Elements that are prohibited in the Supplemental Zone 
include: recreational areas and facilities such as swimming pools, tennis courts; fences
and walls greater than forty (40) inches in height; service elements such as dumpsters, 
loading docks and similar elements; mechanical features; and parking. Public access may 
be restricted only for areas adjacent to Residential Treatment, and for outdoor dining areas 
when adjacent to Storefront Treatments. No element shall be attached to the Sidewalk 
Supplemental Zone in any way. 

Sign, or other Advertising Device: Any Structure or part thereof or device attached thereto or 
represented thereon, which shall display or include any letter, words, model, banner, flag, pennant, insignia, 
or representation used as, or which is in the nature of an announcement, direction, or advertisement. The 
word "sign" includes the word "billboard" or any other type of advertising device. 

Site: Means the parcel of land being developed, or the portion thereof on which the Development 
project is located. 

Slope: Degree of deviation of a surface from the horizontal, usually expressed in percent or degree. 

Soil and Water Conservation District Approved Plan: An Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan 
approved in writing by the District. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 202

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 36 of 46

Special Flood Hazard Area(s) (SFHA)/Special Flood Hazard(s) (Also see Area(s) of Special Flood 
Hazard(s)): means the land subject to a one (1) percent or greater chance of Flooding in any given year. 
This includes all Floodplain and Flood prone areas at or below the Base Flood Elevation (including A, A1-
30, A-99, AE, AO, AH, and AR on the FHBM or the FIRM), all Floodplain and Flood prone areas at or 
below the Future Conditions Flood Elevation, and all other Flood prone areas as referenced in Chapter XIII 
of this ordinance. All Streams with a drainage area of one hundred (100) acres or greater shall have the Area 
of Special Flood Hazard delineated.

Stabilization: The process of establishing an enduring soil cover of vegetation and/or mulch or 
other ground cover and/or in combination with installing temporary or permanent Structures for the purpose 
of reducing to a minimum the erosion process and the resultant transport of sediment by wind, water, ice or 
gravity.

Start of Construction: Includes substantial improvement, and means the date the building permit 
was issued, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, or improvement was within one 
hundred eighty (180) days of the permit date. The actual start means the first placement of permanent 
construction of a Building (including a manufactured home) on a site, such as the pouring of slabs or 
footings, installation of piles, construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation or the 
placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include land 
preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; nor does it include excavation for a Basement, footings, 
piers or foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the property 
of accessory Buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as Dwelling Units or not part of the main 
Building. For a Substantial Improvement, the actual start of construction means the first alteration of any 
wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a Building, whether or not the alteration affects the external 
dimensions of the Building. 

State General Permit: The National Pollution Discharge Elimination System general permit or 
permits for Stormwater Runoff from construction activities as is now in effect or as may be amended or 
reissued in the future pursuant to the state's authority to implement the same through federal delegation 
under the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. Section 1251 et seq., and subsection 
(f) of Code Section 12-5-30.

State Waters: Any and all rivers, Streams, creeks, branches, lakes, reservoirs, ponds, drainage 
systems, springs, wells and other bodies of surface or subsurface water, natural or artificial, lying within or 
forming a part of the boundaries of the State which are not entirely confined and retained completely upon 
the property of a single individual, partnership or corporation. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 203

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 37 of 46

Storage Yard: The keeping, in an unroofed area of any goods, material, merchandise or vehicles in 
the same place for more than twenty-four (24) hours. 

Storefront Treatment: An architectural treatment that: 

1.

Is provided on the sidewalk level of a Street Facade.
2.

Provides Habitable Space for a minimum of the first twenty (20) feet in depth behind the 
Street Facade. 

3.

Provides a display window area consisting of:
a.

A non-glass base or knee wall beginning at grade and extending to a point no less 
than eight (8) inches but not more than twenty-four (24) inches above the 
Sidewalk Area at the Build-To Line. 

b.

A glass display window a minimum of seventy-five (75) percent of the length of 
the built portion of the Build-To Line beginning at the top of the bulkhead or 
knee wall, to a height not less than ten (10) feet and not more than twelve (12) 
feet above said Sidewalk Area at the Build-To Line below the base of the 
window. Such glass shall provide views into display windows that have a 
minimum depth of two and one-half (2½) feet into and are accessible from the 
building interior. 

c.

Primary pedestrian entrances on the Street Facade recessed a maximum of seven 
(7) feet from the exterior facade, remain unlocked during normal business hours, 
and have a surface area that is a minimum of seventy (70) percent glass. 

d.

A glass transom located along the Street Facade of a structure above the glass 
display window and entry door shall have a minimum height of twenty-four (24) 
inches and a maximum height of thirty-six (36) inches. 

e.

Provides no length of facade exceeding twenty (20) feet without intervening 
glass display windows or glass doors. 

4.

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 204

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 38 of 46

A non-glass sign band located above the glass transom having a minimum height of 
thirty-six (36) inches. 

5.

A cornice line above the sign band a minimum height of eight (8) inches.
6.

Street address numbers, a minimum of six (6) inches in height located above the primary 
pedestrian entrance. 

7.

Recesses any sidewalk level drop ceiling a minimum of eighteen (18) inches from the 
display window opening.

8.

Finished floor to ceiling slab shall be a minimum of eighteen (18) feet. Finished ceiling
height shall be a minimum of fourteen (14) feet. 

Street Facade: The exterior wall of a building, not including extruding structures such as porches, 
stoops or bay windows, that is located along the Build-To Line or street without an intervening building or 
Street Wall. 

Street Facade Frontage: The percent of Street Facade required along the Build-To Line. 

Street Wall: A wall no less than seventy-five (75) percent opaque built along the Build-To Line 
and co-planer with the Street Facade, often for the purpose of masking a parking lot from the street. Street 
Walls shall be a minimum of three and one-half (3½) feet in height, and constructed of a material matching 
the adjacent Street Facade or dense evergreen hedge. Street Walls shall be discontinued no more than 
necessary to allow automobile and pedestrian access. The Street Wall shall have other individual openings 
not exceeding four (4) square feet in area at height of less than three and one-half (3½) feet. 

Stormwater: Stormwater Runoff, snow melt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage. 

Stormwater Better Site Design: Nonstructural site design approaches and techniques as described 
in the Stormwater Management Design Manual that can reduce a site's impact on the watershed and can 
provide for Nonstructural Stormwater Management. Stormwater Better Site Design includes conserving and 
protecting natural areas and Greenspace, reducing Impervious Cover and using natural features for 
Stormwater Management. 

Stormwater Management: The collection, conveyance, storage, treatment and disposal of 
Stormwater Runoff. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 205

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 39 of 46

Stormwater Management Design Manual: The current version of the Georgia Stormwater 
Management Manual (GSMM) will provide the primary guidance for the design and evaluation of 
Stormwater Management Facilities in the City of Woodstock. A copy of the GSMM can be viewed in the 
Department of Public Works or can be accessed at www.georgiastormwater.com.

Stormwater Management Facility: Means constructed or natural components of a Stormwater 
drainage system, designed to perform a particular function, or multiple functions. 

Stormwater Management Measure: Means any Stormwater Management Facility or Nonstructural 
Stormwater Practice. 

Stormwater Management Report: A document to be prepared for every project and sealed by a 
Professional Engineer currently registered in the State of Georgia describing the nature of Stormwater issues 
and management strategies associated with the site. The purpose of the report shall be to formulate a plan to 
manage Stormwater in compliance with the provisions of this Ordinance, including but not limited to the 
requirements set forth in the GSMM, so that Stormwater Runoff hazards are not created, existing runoff-
related problems are not exacerbated, and Stormwater quality is not adversely effected, either upstream or 
downstream from or within the boundaries of the Property being developed. 

Stormwater Management System: The entire network of natural and constructed facilities and 
practices for the storage, treatment, and conveyance of Stormwater Runoff. 

Stormwater Quality Site Development Review Tool: A spreadsheet tool available from the Public 
Works Department specifically designed to meet the unified sizing and water quality performance criteria 
outlined in the Georgia Stormwater Management Manual. Use of the tool is one (1) of the pre-construction
review requirements for New Development and Redevelopment in the City. 

Stormwater Retrofit: A Stormwater Management practice designed for a currently developed site 
that previously had either no Stormwater Management practice in place or a practice inadequate to meet the 
Stormwater Management requirements of the site. 

Stormwater Runoff: The direct response of a land surface to precipitation and includes the surface 
and subsurface runoff that enters a Stormwater conveyance system or other concentrated flow during and 
following a precipitation event. 

Story, Half (½): A space under a sloping roof which has the line of intersection of roof decking and 
floor surface not more than three (3) feet above the top floor level, and in which space not more than two-
thirds (2/3) of the floor area is finished off for use. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 206

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 40 of 46

Story: That portion of a Building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the 
floor next above it, or if there be no floor above it, the space between the floor and the ceiling next above it, 
provided that a room, suite, or story, with more than one-half (½) of its height below grade shall not be 
considered a story for the purposes of height regulations, and provided further, that a room, suite, or story, 
having part but not more than half of its height below grade shall be considered a story for the purpose of 
height regulations only if said room, suite, or story shall be subdivided and used for business, or shall be 
used for dwelling purposes by other than a member of the household or a janitor, servant, or watchman
employed on the premises.

Stream(s): Any Stream, beginning at: 

1.

The location where the normal Stream flow has wrested the vegetation. The normal 
Stream flow is any flow that consists solely of base flow or consists of both base flow and 
direct runoff during any period of the year. Base flow results from the groundwater that 
enters the Stream channel through the soil. This includes spring flows into Streams; or, 

2.

A point in the Stream channel with a drainage area of twenty-five (25) acres or more; or, 
3.

Where evidence indicates the presence of a Stream in a drainage area of other than 
twenty-five (25) acres, the Public Works Department may require field studies to verify 
the existence of a Stream. 

Stream Bank(s): The sloping land that contains the Stream channel and the normal flows of the 
Stream.

Stream Buffer: The area of land immediately adjacent to the banks of State Waters in its natural 
state of vegetation, which facilitates the protection of water quality and aquatic habitat. 

Stream Buffer Protection Area: With respect to a Stream, the combined areas of all required 
buffers and Setbacks applicable to such Stream as designated in Chapter XVII. 

Stream Channel: The portion of a watercourse that contains the base flow of the Stream. 

Stream Protective Covenants: Contracts made between private parties or conditions recorded with
an approved Plat or otherwise recorded in the land records of the County in which the property is located 
and running with the land, specifying the manner in which land may be used, developed, or improved with
the view to protecting and preserving the physical and economic integrity of any given area. 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 207

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 41 of 46

Stream Setback: Means, with respect to a Stream, the area established by Chapter XVII, as 
extending beyond any Buffer applicable to the Stream. 

Street: A right-of-way for vehicular traffic whether designated as Street, highway, thoroughfare, 
parkway, road, avenue, drive, expressway, boulevard, lane, place, circle, alley, or otherwise. 

1.

Arterials: These roads are designed to carry rapid, continuous traffic to major magnets 
within the urban area. Routes will usually pass through or near the heart of the city, 
connecting residential, commercial, industrial and public activity areas. 

2.

By-Pass: A highway designed for fast, continuous movement of all types of traffic 
between highways and widely separated parts of the urban area. By-passes generally have 
limited or controlled access and are usually grade-separated at railroads and major 
crossings.

3.

Collector Streets: These Streets bring traffic to arterials, or inter-connect arterials. They 
provide for relatively easy movement at moderate speeds from homes and businesses to
arterials.

4.

Local Streets: These Streets provide direct access to abutting properties.
5.

Alley or Service Drive: A minor access way used for service access, or property access 
under specified circumstances, to the back or side of properties otherwise abutting on a 
Street.

6.

Marginal Access Street: A residential Street parallel and adjacent to major thoroughfares 
or arterial Streets and which provides access to abutting properties and protection from 
through traffic. 

7.

Cul-de-Sac: A local Street or road with only one (1) outlet and having an appropriate 
terminal for the safe and convenient reversal of traffic movement. 

8.

Half-Street: A Street or road adjacent to a Subdivision tract boundary where only half the 
required right-of-way and road improvements are provided within the proposed 
Subdivision and the responsibility for the other half is undecided or is left to the adjacent 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 208

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 42 of 46

property Owner. 

Street Line or Right-Of-Way Line: A dividing line between a Lot, tract, or parcel of land and a 
contiguous street. 

Structure: Anything constructed or erected which required location on the ground or attachment to 
something having a location on the ground. The term shall include such things as gasoline pumps, signs, 
mobile homes, and other portable vehicles or Structures from which products are vended, and similar 
objects.

Structural Alterations: Any change in the supporting members of a Building such as bearing walls 
or bearing partitions, columns, beams or girders, or any substantial change in the roof or in the exterior 
walls.

Structural Erosion and Sedimentation Control Practices: Practices for the stabilization of erodible 
or sediment-producing areas by utilizing the mechanical properties of matter for the purpose of either 
changing the surface of the land or storing, regulating or disposing of runoff to prevent excessive sediment 
loss. Examples of structural erosion and sediment control practices are riprap, sediment basins, dikes, level 
spreaders, waterways or outlets, diversions, grade stabilization Structures, sediment traps and land grading, 
etc. Such practices can be found in the publication Manual for Erosion and Sediment Control in Georgia. 

Structural Stormwater Control: A Structural Stormwater Management facility or device that 
controls Stormwater Runoff and changes the characteristics of that runoff including, but not limited to, the 
quantity and quality, the period of release or the velocity of flow of such runoff. Criteria for the design and 
construction of these devices can be found in the Stormwater Management Design Manual. 

Subdivision: The division of a tract or parcel of land into two (2) or more Lots, building sites, or 
other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, or building Development, and 
includes re-subdivision and, when appropriate to the context, relates to the process of subdividing or to the 
land or area subdivided. For the purpose of this Ordinance the definition of a Subdivision is broken down 
into three (3) subcategories as follows: 

1.

Exempt Subdivision of Land: Divisions of land which have the following characteristics 
are exempt from the Subdivision regulations as set forth in this Ordinance: 
a.

Intra-family transfers if no new public streets are involved as long as the Lot is 
recorded and the deed transferred simultaneously; or 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 209

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 43 of 46

b.

Sale of property to the, abutting land Owners.
2.

Minor Subdivisions of Land: Divisions of land containing six (6) or less Lots fronting on 
an existing road, not involving any new or improved public or private road and not in 
conflict with any of the provisions of this Ordinance. 

3.

Major Subdivisions: All Subdivisions not classified as exempt or minor Subdivisions.

Substantial Damage: Means damage of any origin sustained by a Structure whereby the cost of
restoring the Structure to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed fifty (50) percent of the 
market value of the Structure before the damage occurred. 

Substantial Improvement: Means any combination of repairs, reconstruction, alteration, or 
improvements to a Building, taking place during a ten-year period in which the cumulative cost equals or 
exceeds fifty (50) percent of the market value of the Building prior to the improvement. The market value of 
the Building should be: a. The appraised market value of the Building prior to the start of the initial repair or 
improvement; or b. In the case of damage, the value of the Building prior to the damage occurring. This 
term includes Structures which have incurred "substantial damage," regardless of the actual repair work
performed. For the purposes of this definition, "substantial improvement" is considered to occur when the 
first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of the Building commences, whether or not 
that alteration affects the external dimensions of the Building. The term does not, however, include any 
project for improvement of a Building required to comply with existing health, sanitary, or safety code 
specifications which have been identified by the City of Woodstock and which are solely necessary to 
assure safe living conditions. 

Substantially Improved Existing Manufactured Home Parks or Subdivisions: Is where the repair, 
reconstruction, rehabilitation or improvement of these streets, utilities and pads before the repair, 
reconstruction or improvement commenced. 

Swimming Pools: An outdoor swimming pool shall be any pool or open tank not located within a 
completely enclosed Building and containing or normally capable of containing water to a depth at any 
point greater than one and one-half (1½) feet. 

Top of the Stream Bank: Means the point on a Stream's cross-section defined by the bank full 
elevation or the highest point in elevation immediately adjacent to the Stream channel, whichever is greater. 

Tourist Courts: Land occupied by one (1) or a group of two (2) or more detached, semidetached or 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 210

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 44 of 46

multiple unit Buildings; containing single guest rooms and suites of rooms with or without kitchenettes and 
equipment, with automobile parking space and incidental utility Structures, which are in connection 
therewith, all of which is used or designed for, but not necessarily limited to, use primarily by automobile 
transients, for which daily, weekly, or monthly rates are available. 

Tourist Court or Motel Apartments: Accommodations within a motel Building or Buildings which 
feature one (1) or more rooms with cooking facilities designed for, but not necessarily limited to, 
automobile transients on a daily, weekly, or monthly basis, where everything for the guests' convenience,
except food, clothing and medical supplies is furnished as part of the charge. 

Townhouse: Attached single-family residential structure in which no residential unit is directly 
above or below another residential unit. 

Toxic Material: Materials (gaseous, liquid, solid, particulate, or any other form) which are capable 
of causing injury to living organisms by chemical reaction even when present in relatively small amounts. 

Travel Trailer: A motorized camper, converted bus, tent-trailer or other similar vehicular or 
portable Structure used or designed for temporary portable housing or occupancy while on vacation, 
recreation, or other trips and provided with sleeping accommodations. 

Travel Trailer Park: A parcel or area of land designed and equipped to accommodate travel trailers 
for short periods of time, not to extend fourteen (14) days. 

Trout Streams: All streams or portions of streams within the watershed as designated by the 
Wildlife Resources Division of the Georgia Department of Natural Resources under the provisions of the 
Georgia Water Quality Control Act, O.C.G.A. § 12-5-20, in the Department of Natural Resource's rules for 
Water Quality Control, Chapter 391-3-6, available at www.gaepd.org. Streams designated as primary trout 
waters are defined as water supporting a self-sustaining pollution of rainbow, brown or brook trout. Streams 
designated as secondary trout waters are those in which there is no evidence of natural trout reproduction,
but are capable of supporting trout throughout the year. First order trout waters are streams into which no 
other streams flow except springs. 

Usable Floor Space: Floor space used for retail sale or display includes permanent outdoor-sales,
but excludes outdoor motor vehicle sales areas. 

Use, Principal: The primary purpose for which a Lot is occupied and/or used. 

Variance: A modification of the strict terms of this Ordinance granted by the City Council where 

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 211

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 45 of 46

such modification will not be contrary to the public interest, and where, owing the conditions peculiar to the 
property such as irregular Lot size, topographic or other characteristics of the land and not as the result of 
any action on the part of the property Owner, literal enforcement of this Ordinance would result in 
unnecessary and undue hardship. Such modification may not authorize a principal or accessory use of the 
property, which is not permitted within the Zoning District in which the property is located. 

Vegetative Erosion and Sedimentation Control Measures: Measures for the Stabilization of 
erodible or sediment-producing areas by covering the soil with: 

• Permanent seeding, sprigging or planting, producing long-term vegetative cover; or 

• Temporary seeding, producing short-term vegetative cover; or 

• Sodding, covering areas with a turf of perennial sod-forming grass. 

Such measures can be found in the publication Manual for Erosion and Sediment Control in 
Georgia.

Vehicle for Hire: Any motor vehicle designed or used for the purpose of transporting passengers 
for consideration or charges which are determined by agreement, contract, mileage or by the length of time 
the vehicle is used. Such term does not include vehicles regulated by the state public service commission. 
For the purposes of this article, vehicles for hire shall mean taxicabs and sedans. 

Vehicle for Hire Company: An establishment offering to transport passengers for a fee in any 
motorized or animal drawn vehicle, the charges for which are determined by agreement, mileage or by the 
length of time for which the vehicle is engaged and also described is a taxi or limousine service. 

Warehouse: A Building provided for the purpose of depository or securing of goods, wares or 
merchandise.

Water Quality: Those characteristics of stormwater runoff that relate to the physical, chemical, 
biological or radiological integrity of water. 

Water Quality Protection: Required for all Developments to improve the quality of Storm Runoff 
from the Development site. Stormwater management systems (which can include both Structural 
Stormwater Controls and better site design practices) must be designed to treat the prescribed water quality 
treatment volume from the site according to the specifications of the Stormwater Management Design 
Manual. Additionally, runoff from hotspot land uses and activities identified by the Public Works 
Department must be adequately treated and addressed through the use of appropriate structural stormwater 
controls, nonstructural practices and pollution prevention practices.

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 212

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



Page 46 of 46

Watercourse: Any natural or artificial watercourse, Stream, river, creek, channel, ditch, canal, 
conduit, culvert, drain, waterway, gully, ravine, or wash in which water flows either continuously or 
intermittently and which has a definite channel, bed and banks, and including any area adjacent thereto 
subject to inundation by reason of overflow or floodwater.

Watershed: The land area that drains into a particular Stream. 

Wetlands: Those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency 
and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support a prevalence of 
vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps,
marshes, bogs, and similar areas.

Wholesale Establishment: A use or establishment where at least one-half (½) of the goods for sale 
will not be bought for direct consumption by the buyer, but will be resold. 

Yard: An Open Space on the same Lot with a Building, unoccupied and unobstructed by any
portion of a Structure from the ground upwards, except as otherwise provided herein. 

Yard, Front: An open, unoccupied space on the same Lot with a principal Building, extending the 
full width of the Lot and located between the street line and the front line of the most protruding portion of 
the Building projected to the side lines of the Lot. 

Yard, Rear: An Open Space on the same Lot with a principal Building, unoccupied except by a 
permitted accessory Building, extending the full width of the Lot and located between the rear lines of the 
most protruding portion of the Building projected to the side lines of the Lot. 

Yard, Side: An open, unoccupied space on the same Lot with a principal Building located between
the side of the most protruding portion of the Building and the side line of the Lot and extending from the 
rear line of the front yard to the front line of the rear yard.

8.2.c

Packet Pg. 213

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

 II
 3

.2
3.

15
.D

ra
ft(

3)
  (

33
24

 : 
LD

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 II

 a
nd

 L
D

O
 C

ha
pt

er
 V

II 
Se

ni
or

 L
iv

in
g)



ORDINANCE
CITY OF WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER VII OF THE LAND DEVELOPMENT
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the 
"City") is a municipality duly formed and existing pursuant to Georgia Law; and

Whereas, the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia provides for the self-government of
municipalities without the necessity of action by the General Assembly1; and

Whereas, the City of Woodstock, Georgia, has the legislative power to adopt clearly
reasonable ordinances, resolutions or regulations relating to its property, affairs and local 
government for which no provision has been made by general laws, and which are not 
inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable thereto2; and

Whereas, the City Council of the City of Woodstock, Georgia desires to replace Sections
7.740 Specific Standards for Senior Living through and including 7.749 of the existing Chapter
VII Performance Zoning Standards of the Land Development Ordinance, City of
Woodstock, Georgia with a new section 7.740 through 7.749 as set forth herein; and

Whereas, the purpose of this revision is to clarify location requirements eligible for density
bonuses;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE COUNCIL ORDAINS, by the
lawful authority vested in them as follows:

Section 1. 

Sections 7.740 Specific Standards for Senior Living through and including 7.749 of Chapter
VII Performance Zoning Standards of the Land Development Ordinance of the City of 
Woodstock, Georgia are hereby repealed in their entirety and new Sections 7.740 Specific Standards 
for Senior Living through and including 7.749 Chapter VII Performance Zoning Standards as
more particularly set forth on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference are
hereby inserted in lieu thereof.

1 Ga. Const. 1983, Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II provides in pertinent part as follows:
"The General Assembly may provide by law for the self-government of municipalities and to that end is

expressly given the authority to delegate its power so that matters pertaining to the municipalities may be dealt with 
without the necessity of action by the General Assembly." 2 O.C.G.A. §36-35-3(a) provides as follows:
"(a) The governing authority of each municipal corporation shall have legislative power to adopt clearly reasonable 
ordinances, resolutions or regulations relating to its property, affairs, and local government for which no provision has 
been made by general law and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution or any charter provision applicable hereto. 
Any such charter provision shall remain in force and effect until amended or repealed as provided in subsection (b) of 
this Code Section. This Code Section, however, shall not restrict the authority of the General Assembly, by general law, 
to define this home rule power further or to broaden, limit, or otherwise regulate the exercise thereof. The General 
Assembly shall not pass any local law to repeal, modify or supersede any action taken by a municipal governing authority 
under this Code section, except as authorized under Code Section 36-35-6."

8.2.d

Packet Pg. 214

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

VI
I S

en
io

r L
iv

in
g 

3 
23

 1
5 

D
ra

ft(
3)

EL
B

 re
vi

se
d 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Section 2.

The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to incorporate the provisions of the new
7.740 Specific Standards for Senior Living through and including 7.749 Chapter VII 
Performance Zoning Standards Sections as set forth on Exhibit "A" attached hereto into the 
Land Development Ordinance for the City of Woodstock, Georgia replacing the existing 7.740
Specific Standards for Senior Living through and including 7.749 Chapter VII Performance 
Zoning Standards Sections.

Section 3.
Repeal of conflicting Ordinances. Any and all ordinances, resolutions, or regulations, or parts 
thereof, in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

Severability. If any sentence, clause, part, paragraph, section, or provision of this Ordinance is 
declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the validity of the Ordinance as a 
whole or any other part hereof shall not be affected.

Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WOODSTOCK, GEORGIA, THIS 23rd DAY OF March 2014.

First Reading Date: ___March 23, 2015_____
Public Hearing Date: ___March_23, 2015____
Public Hearing Advertised:  _February 10, 2015___
Final Adoption Date: _____March 23, 2015___

DONNIE HENRIQUES,
MAYOR CITY OF WOODSTOCK, 
GEORGIA

RHONDA L. PEZZELLO, CLERK
CITY OF WOODSTOCK

8.2.d

Packet Pg. 215

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

VI
I S

en
io

r L
iv

in
g 

3 
23

 1
5 

D
ra

ft(
3)

EL
B

 re
vi

se
d 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



EXHIBIT “A”
CHAPTER VII

Sec 7.740 – 7.749
OF LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE

7.740. - Specific Standards for Senior Living. 

7.741. - Purpose and Intent of Senior Living. 

The regulations set forth in Senior Living are designed to: 

1. Provide for the development of detached, attached, and multi-family dwelling units limited 
to those persons age fifty-five (55) and older as defined by the Fair Housing Act. 

2. Locate these developments in areas where retail, professional, civic, and cultural uses are 
convenient for residents to access, preferably even when they can no longer drive. 

3. Promote the concept of Aging in Place which provides a variety of living choices aimed at 
allowing residents to remain in their communities as they age. These include communities 
with a mix of housing type and size, active living communities, assisted living facilities 
and full care facilities. 

4. Promote pedestrian safety by ensuring sidewalk-oriented buildings and attractive street-
facing facades that foster pedestrian activity and liveliness. 

5. Provide an adequate amount of meaningful open space within each development which 
creates areas for social interaction among neighbors, opportunities for recreation, and is 
easily accessible for all residents. 

7.742. - Reserved.

Editor's note—

Ord. of 7-12-2010(3), § 6, repealed § 7.742, which pertained to Definitions Related to Senior 
Living and derived from the publication of this Land Development Code. 

7.743. - Reserved.

Editor's note—

Ord. of 7-12-2010(3), § 7, repealed § 7.743, which pertained to Principal Permitted Uses and 
derived from the publication of this Land Development Code. Subsequently, said ordinance 
relocated former subsections 7.743(1)—(3) to § 7.301. 

7.744. - Residential Density Bonus. 

8.2.d

Packet Pg. 216

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

VI
I S

en
io

r L
iv

in
g 

3 
23

 1
5 

D
ra

ft(
3)

EL
B

 re
vi

se
d 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Density bonuses will be awarded to each Senior Living project which incorporates 
affordable units, assisted living units, and/or full care facilities. These bonuses are listed in the 
table and are based on a percentage of the total units by project, followed by a maximum allowed 
density in each subarea. 

Density Bonus Table
SENIOR LIVING Subareas

SL-A SL-B SL-C
Base density 4 6 12
Affordable units (10%)* 2 2 8
Affordable units (30%)* 3 3 12
Affordable units (50%)* 4 4 18
Assisted living units (10%)* 8
Assisted living units (30%)* 12
Assisted living units (50%)* 18
Full care facility (100%)* 18

Maximum allowed density** 8 10 30
*Percentages are based on the total number of units in each development and are the minimum 
necessary to achieve bonus density.
**Affordable and assisted living unit bonuses may be combined, but cannot exceed max density

7.745. - Location Requirements. 

Any project in a SL category must adhere to the following location requirements. These 
requirements are calculated by measuring the walkable distance on an improved surface between 
the main entrance of the SL neighborhood or building to the front door of the commercial facility.

1. SL-A and SL-B must be located within a three-quarter-mile radius of commercial retail 
uses including but not limited to grocery stores, pharmacies, and/or medical service 
facilities. Projects must also maintain the scale and intensity of surrounding uses. 

2. SL-C must be located within a one-quarter-mile radius of commercial retail uses 
including but not limited to a minimum of two of the following; grocery stores,
pharmacies, and/or medical service facilities Government Community Centers
(including Senior Centers and Libraries) and Private Health Clubs. SL-C projects may
be exempt from these requirements if these uses are provided on-site of an Assisted 

8.2.d

Packet Pg. 217

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

VI
I S

en
io

r L
iv

in
g 

3 
23

 1
5 

D
ra

ft(
3)

EL
B

 re
vi

se
d 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Living Community. Projects must also maintain the scale and intensity of surrounding 
uses.

7.746. - Site Planning Requirements. 

Senior Living Site Limits Table
SENIOR LIVING Subareas

SL-A SL-B SL-C
Minimum lot width (feet) 35 16 N/A
Build-to line (feet) Min - 5

Max - 20
Min - 5
Max - 10

Min - 5
Max - 10

Rear setback (minimum feet) With alley - 0
No alley - 20

With alley - 0
No alley - 20

20

Side setback (minimum feet) 5 N/A N/A
Buffer (feet)*
R-1, R-2 N/A 25 25
R-3, R-4 N/A N/A N/A
OSI, NC, GC N/A N/A N/A
LI, HI 50 50 50
*Buffers apply only on property lines contiguous to adjacent zoning categories and shall also
apply to the closest compatible County Zoning Classification.

Any project in a SL category must adhere to each of the following site planning requirements: 

1. The minimum requirement for open space shall be twenty (20) percent of the project area. 
Required infrastructure, detention facilities and mandatory stream buffers shall not be used in 
open space calculations. Not more than fifty (50) percent of the total open space requirement 

8.2.d

Packet Pg. 218

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

VI
I S

en
io

r L
iv

in
g 

3 
23

 1
5 

D
ra

ft(
3)

EL
B

 re
vi

se
d 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



shall be provided in the form of private open space. 
2. Each unit in SL-A and SL-B shall provide a minimum of one (1) parking space in a garage 
structure, not to exceed two (2) spaces. All garages must be accessed through the use of rear 
alleys.
3. No parking in SL-C shall be permitted between the building(s) and the main access street in 
order to facilitate pedestrian access to the street. Vehicular access to the building(s) shall be 
provided from the rear, side, underneath or a courtyard. In addition, a main pedestrian access to 
each building shall be provided on the side facing the street. 

7.747. - Street Design Requirements. 
1. In order to promote a safe pedestrian environment, street design shall accommodate the use 
of landscape strips, a minimum six-foot wide sidewalk on both sides of the street, and 
dedicated on-street parking areas where appropriate. 
2. When a SL project fronts an existing street, the above requirements are to be applied along 
the existing street along the entire frontage of the property.

7.748. - Senior Living Zoning Category Requirements. 

1. The total number of units zoned under any SL category shall not exceed more than twenty
(20) percent of the total number of housing units within the City Limits. The number of units 
that may be zoned SL will be updated as needed by the City.
2. All SL developments shall have development plans approved by the City within eighteen 
(18) months of receiving SL zoning or it shall revert to the previous zoning category. At its 
discretion, City Council may grant extensions. 
3. In order to promote a pedestrian friendly environment, the following overlay standards are 
expressly waived in favor of the requirements in the SL site limits table: lot sizes, lot widths, 
streetscape adjustments, setbacks, and buffers. Any overlay standards related to streetscape 
themes and architectural requirements shall be adhered to. 

7.749. - Senior Living General Requirements. 

1. All other sections of the City of Woodstock's Land Development Ordinance shall be 
enforced including but not limited to tree preservation, stream buffer requirements, engineering 
requirements, and signage regulations. 

2. Upgrades to existing adjacent infrastructure shall be required including but not limited to the 
installation or upgrade of crosswalks and sidewalks, pedestrian signalization including count 
down timers and audio notification for the visually impaired, and/or wheelchair compatibility. 
3. The exterior of each dwelling unit and other buildings shall be brick, cast stone, concrete 
siding such as Hardiplank, natural wood, hard coat stucco, and/or natural stone. 

8.2.d

Packet Pg. 219

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

VI
I S

en
io

r L
iv

in
g 

3 
23

 1
5 

D
ra

ft(
3)

EL
B

 re
vi

se
d 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



4. All residential units within SL shall incorporate applicable and "Easy Living Home" 
standards to include: 

a. A step free entrance into the main floor at either the front or side of the structure, 
or through the garage; 
b. A bedroom, kitchen, wheelchair friendly bathroom, and entertaining area all on the 
main floor; 
c. Every interior door on the main floor provides a minimum thirty-two (32) inches 
of clear passage; 
d. Blocking installed in the bathroom(s) on the main floor to facilitate the future 
addition of handrails or similar accessibility features.

8.2.d

Packet Pg. 220

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r C
ha

pt
er

VI
I S

en
io

r L
iv

in
g 

3 
23

 1
5 

D
ra

ft(
3)

EL
B

 re
vi

se
d 

 (3
32

4 
: L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting  

City of Woodstock, GA   

The Chambers at City Center - 8534 Main Street  

770 592-6000 (Main) 770 592-6002 (City Clerk)  770 926-1375 (Fax) 
http://www.woodstockga.gov    

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK ~ MINUTES ~
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION  

 

 Thursday, March, 5, 2015

  

Regular Commission Meeting 
7:00 PM 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 1 Printed 3/16/2015

ITEM I. Call to Order 
7:00 PM Meeting called to order on March 5, 2015 at The Chambers at City Center, 8534 Main 
Street, Woodstock, GA.

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived

ITEM II. Approval of Minutes 

1. Approval of 2.5.15 Planning Commission Minutes 

Vote to approve minutes of 2.5.15 as written. Vote Deferred. 

COMMENTS - Current Meeting: 

Due to lack of quorum the approval of the Minutes of the February 5, 2015 meeting will be reset 
to the April Meeting.

ITEM III. Petitions and Communications 

1. Ordinance (ID # 3294) V#128-14 and CUP#022-14 Platinum Cars, Inc. 
The City of Woodstock, Georgia has received a Variance and Conditional Use Permit application 
from Trilochan Bhatia of Alpharetta, GA (Case V#128-14 and CUP#022-14 Platinum Used 
Cars). The property is located at 10915 Highway 92 in Woodstock, Georgia consisting of ±0.73 
acres. The property is identified as tax map and parcel number 15N18 049A zoned GC (General 
Commercial) with Parkway Overlay in the City limits of Woodstock, GA.  Variances requested 
are to LDO Section 7.930 #6 for building materials and 7.928 for buffers and setbacks for a non-
compliant building that has been constructed on the property without permits.  The Conditional 
Use Permit is required to allow for auto sales and service. 

Hold public hearing. 

Vote to recommend approval or denial of the requests. 

COMMENTS - Current Meeting: 

Katie Coulborn presented the staff report. 

Comments - CURRENT MEETING 

Rakesh Parmar (Applicant) - If we are limited to 60 cars, that would put the business in jeopardy. 
110 to 120 cars has worked in the past for us. There have been complaints about parking, but 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 221

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 2 Printed 3/16/2015 

Chief Moss approved us parking cars on the street. We no longer park in front of the State Farm 
and chiropractor’s office.  We have an agreement with the tree business to park customer and 
employee cars there, not inventory.  For condition 4, unloading inventory is crucial to the 
business. There is a semi once or twice per week and it takes about an hour to unload. We don’t 
do it on Highway 92. We make sure that they come inside. The tree business will allow us to use 
his property for unloading. 

Lee Zell - How many cars are there that are not located on the lot? 

Rakesh Parmar - Just inventory cars are on the lot. Four or five employee cars are parked on the 
street. 

Lee Zell - How many cars parked over by State Farm? 

Rakesh Parmar - None. 

Lee Zell - How many in the tree lot? 

Rakesh Parmar - None. 

Lee Zell - I noticed a lot of cars on the street.  I also noticed a carport with a tarp over it attached 
to the main building. 

Rakesh Parmar - The carport behind the building, that’s where all the car detailing is going on. 

Lee Zell - I noticed a lot of things outside behind the building like tires, buckets of chemicals, and 
an entire truck bed. Some of these items have been pushed over the walls onto other 
properties.  It looked like these things have been outside for a long time. What do you store 
back there? 

Rakesh Parmar - We are waiting to see how this variance goes.  If we can keep the shed, that’s 
our storage. 

Lee Zell - If the shed goes away, where will you store these items? 

Rakesh Parmar - They will be disposed of. 

James Drinkard - The materials that Mr. Zell saw are in the yard. Prior to the close of the shed, 
were these things in the yard? 

Rakesh Parmar - Yes. 

Lee Zell - How often do you take wheels and debris to the junk yard? 

Rakesh Parmar - I don’t know. I have only been working for the company since December. 

Jeff Wood - Do you agree to the additional variance conditions that staff has recommended? 

Rakesh Parmar - When we put up the building, we were not aware of the zoning rules.  We 
thought it was okay. It was a surprise to find out that there was a problem.  Do I agree? Possibly 
not, but we understand that the City has rules. We don’t agree to number 1; number 2, the 
structure is anchored to the ground and moving it is not financially feasible; I have no comment 
about number 3; and for number 4, the building can’t be easily seen from Highway 92, so we 
don’t think the brick is necessary. 

Jeff Wood - What was the previous name of the business? Executive something? 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 222

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 3 Printed 3/16/2015 

Joe Hill (Service Director for Platinum Cars, Inc.) - The same family has owned the business for 
almost eight years. 

Jeff Wood - Item 2 says no more than 60 cars on the lot. How many cars can you park on the 
property? 

Joe Hill - We carry an inventory of 120 cars. With that number, we still have a complete passage 
way to drive around the property.  

Jeff Wood - Does that include the cars parked on the grass in the right of way on Highway 92? 

Joe Hill - We don’t do that. The only time we do it is on the weekends, but everyone does that. 

Jeff Wood - Your employees park on the street now, where do the customers park? 

Joe Hill - Directly in front of the building. We have 6 space, 2 are handicapped.   

Jeff Wood - there are no parking signs on the street. Where are they located?  

Joe Hill - No parking sign on the street between 92 and our driveway. 

Jeff Wood - For clarification, you do not agree with any of the conditions placed on the building 
for safety? 

Joe Hill - We actually agree with variance conditions 1 through 3. Number 4, you really can’t see 
the building from 92 until you get on the lot. It would be a waste of money and resources to 
build a brick wall. There’s a privacy fence against the residential property on top of a retaining 
wall. 

Jeff Wood - Can the truck safely off-load on Churchill Court? 

Joe Hill - Yes, and sometimes they get there before we do and I tell them to not park at any 
other business.  It’s hard to control the truck drivers. I feel like our feet are being held to the fire 
here because at any time of the day, you go down that street and there’s some truck unloading 
something for other businesses, but we’re being told we’re not allowed to. 

Jeff Wood - I do see a lot of trucks unloading in the street.  Do we not have a code that prevents 
this? 

Katie Coulborn - Yes. That’s why they’ve been ticketed so many times in the deceleration lane.  

Jeff Wood - So putting it in a condition would be redundant? 

Katie Coulborn - yes, but the reason that it’s here, I’ve had a conversation with Chief Moss, the 
neighbors have Chief Moss’s cell phone number, they have to call him a lot. He sent me a list of 
tickets that truck drivers here have been given over the last few years and it was a considerable 
amount. It’s been an ongoing problem and the truck drivers are always a different person. We 
agree that it’s hard for them to make the drivers park where they are supposed to but putting 
this as a condition is another way to reinforce so not only will the driver get ticketed, but then 
it’s a zoning violation so the business can be held responsible. Chief Moss is concerned that it’s a 
safety issue. 

Jeff Wood - Are they required to have greenspace because the grassy area at the northeast 
corner could maybe be developed for more parking. 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 223

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 4 Printed 3/16/2015 

Katie Coulborn - More parking would require a variance to the buffer. The commercial and 
residential buffers cover that entire area. 

Jeff Wood - How did staff come to the 60 cars on the lot condition? 

Katie Coulborn - By counting the parking spaces. If you look at page 5 of the staff report, there 
are 54 marked parking spaces and we realize that they can get more on the lot so if they have 60 
vehicles for sale and then they have employee vehicles and customer vehicles, we thought that 
would be a more appropriate number than the double that they have now. 

Jeff Wood - So the city expects employers to provide on-site parking for their employees and 
customers?  

Katie Coulborn - Yes. 

James Drinkard - Within this overlay, are shared parking agreements allowed? 

Katie Coulborn - Yes. 

Lee Zell - So this is a conditional use permit to expand the car lot? 

Katie Coulborn - To be clear, staff recommended that they ask for the conditional use permit. 
The started out asking for variances to allow the building that they put up, but if they got 
variances to allow the building, they wouldn’t be able to do anything inside it without a 
conditional use permit to expand the use. 

Lee Zell - If they’re doing automotive repairs, is that a different use than sales? 

Katie Coulborn - Because the automotive repairs are only for their inventory and not for the 
public, we consider it an expansion of the automotive sales use. 

Lee Zell - So back to the debris, the rims, the car parts, I have pictures of things that have been 
there so long that they’re imbedded in the ground. I also spoke to the homeowners that back up 
to the property. What method does the city have for not allowing accumulation of debris and 
car parts? 

Katie Coulborn - The city has a property maintenance code that the code enforcement officers 
can enforce.  They can write citations for accumulation of junk if they get a call from a 
neighboring property. Previous to this building going up, I don’t think anyone called about junk 
on this property.  There were no open code enforcement cases going but it is something that 
can be regulated by our department. 

Lee Zell - I walked the property today. There are many buckets sitting outside with pinestraw 
and dirt on them that shows they’ve been there a really long time. Multiple stacks of rims and 
rotted tires and a whole truck liner that has been pushed over the line to the lawyer’s property. 
The homeowners pointed out that the fence doesn’t completely shield the building.  They said 
that employees take smoke breaks literally standing in these people’s backyards. The fence is 
incomplete. 

Katie Coulborn - That’s why we have buffers and setbacks. 

Jessica Guinn - All these reasons are things that factored in to the staff recommendation for 
denial of the variance to allow that structure to be there. There are a number of things that we 
took into account, from the parking standpoint, having that additional structure that came in 
without permits took away some additional space that could have been utilized for parking and 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 224

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 5 Printed 3/16/2015 

yes, absolutely, all the buffers that typically would provide some screening there are lacking 
here.  Point of clarification, the 5’ setback is not just important from a zoning standpoint but 
also from a fire code standpoint.  If they are any closer than 5’, they would have to have a fire 
rated wall on the structure. Fire rating could be achieved but that’s another significant cost. But 
we can’t vary that. We can’t waive the fire code. 

Lee Zell - Behind the building is stacks of old rotten tires laying against the metal building with 
electrical wiring going through a pvc pipe into a metal wall.  Seems like a fire hazard. 

Jessica Guinn - When we went out there with the building official and fire, there was no way 
that we could look at this building and make a determination about whether or not it was safe 
for people to occupy without plans. That’s when we issued the stop work order and said we 
have got to have everything out of here. 

OPEN PUBLIC HEARING 

No one signed up to speak. 

CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING 

Lee Zell - To the applicant, are you telling us that if you get the variance for the shed, all the 
debris outside would now go inside the shed? 

Rakesh Parmar - It wouldn’t necessarily go inside, some of it needs to be disposed of. The items 
that could be used would be in the storage. 

Joe Hill - The gentleman who handles all of the debris is the mechanic in that shed and I’ve had 
to move him to our place in Union City so that we can continue doing business. Honestly since 
they put the stop work order on it, I don’t think any of us have walked back there.  If it’s an 
issue, that’s going to get addressed regardless. 

Lee Zell - Would you be agreeable to putting the fence up so people won’t walk into those 
yards? 

Joe Hill - Yes, that’s not a problem. 

Jeff Wood - I’d like to handle the Conditional Use Permit separately from the Variances. Motion 
to recommend approval of the Conditional Use Permit with the four staff recommended 
conditions. 

Motion dies for lack of a second. 

Lee Zell - Motion to approve the CUP and Variance with the 8 staff recommended conditions, 
plus Condition 9, Applicant shall add a wooden 6’ privacy fence attached to the existing fence at 
the northwest corner of the property and extending to the northeast corner of the property at 
Churchill Court. 

Motion dies for lack of a second. 

Jeff Wood - Motion to recommend approval of the Conditional Use Permit with staff 
recommendations 1 through 4. 

2nd by David Hacker 

Jeff Wood - They’ve been relatively good neighbors even though their neighbors don’t agree, 
they bring revenue to the city.  60 cars sounds low.  They say they can do 120 cars. I’d like to not 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 225

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 6 Printed 3/16/2015 

see their employees parking in the street so 100 cars seems like a good meet-in-the-middle 
number.  Friendly Amendment to change Condition 2 to allow no more than 100 cars for sale, 
or in the process of being sold, on the lot at any given time. 

David Hacker - Friendly Amendment accepted. 

Lee Zell - Is every car included in that number? 

Jeff Wood - Just the inventory, not employee or customer cars. On-street parking is allowed by 
right there, but it would be good for their neighbors to get the cars off the street.  It would also 
give a place for the trucks to unload. They have a parking agreement with the neighbor to the 
west. 

David Hacker - Do you have a shared parking agreement with the neighbor (to the west) in 
writing? 

Joe Hill - No, but we can get it in writing. 

Jeff Wood - Friendly Amendment to change the wording in Condition 3 to “No parking of 
inventory, employee vehicles, or customer vehicles on any public street or in any parking lot 
other than that which exists on the subject property without a written agreement, and no 
parking in the Highway 92 grass right of way.” 

David Hacker - Friendly Amendment accepted. 

Jeff Wood - Number 4, it’s already illegal so why do we have number 4?  Should we strike that? 

Jessica Guinn - The reason that is in there as Katie already said is that citations go directly to the 
truck drivers. By putting it here as a condition, we are putting the burden on the property 
owners to make sure that their deliveries are being made not within the public right of way. If 
they continue, the property owner at that point is in violation of zoning and we would have a 
course of action to handle the situation directly with the property owner, whereas we could 
have a different truck driver pull up there every day. 

Jeff Wood - with the words public right of way, that would not allow them to offload on 
Churchhill Court, correct? 

Jessica Guinn - Correct. I think 92 is where we really have the heartburn. It sounds like there 
have been some issues with them unloading in the median and the acceleration and 
deceleration lanes. 

Lee Zell - They have already said that they have the permission from the tree business to offload 
there. 

Jeff Wood - But then if that property redevelops, that agreement goes away.  Friendly 
Amendment to change the wording in Condition 4 to “No unloading of inventory on any 
Highway 92 public right of way”. 

David Hacker - Friendly Amendment accepted.   I have to say, I appreciate your business. From 
an office user, it’s important to know that you’re a good neighbor trying to keep the cars out of 
the way, so I understand why people are like that, but no one is here to speak against it so I’m 
more inclined to support trying to keep the business going with minimal impact. 

Lee Zell - Is it correct that staff told us that the chiropractor and State Farm agent and some 
other people instantly called about the case? 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 226

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 7 Printed 3/16/2015 

Katie Coulborn - Yes. The day after the got the public input meeting letter they contacted me.  It 
seems they couldn’t be here tonight but I think they are planning to come to City Council. Earlier 
today Patti got a call from a residential property owner and they sent me an email with a letter 
explaining some of their concerns but it was too late to put it in the agenda packet. 

Lee Zell - Friendly Amendment to add Condition 5, No outdoor storage of any parts, chemicals, 
or materials.  

James Drinkard - Does Mr. Wood accept? 

Jeff Wood - Friendly Amendment not accepted. 

Lee Zell - Offering as a regular Amendment. 

2nd by David Hacker 

Lee Zell - Friendly Amendment to add Condition 6, Applicant shall add a wooden 6’ privacy 
fence attached to the existing fence at the northwest corner of the property and extending to the 
northeast corner of the property at Churchill Court.  

Jeff Wood - Friendly Amendment accepted.  

James Drinkard - Now Condition 5, which is the outdoor storage, is open for debate. 

Jeff Wood - I would think that we have city laws about outdoor storage of debris. 

Patti Hart - Outdoor storage is allowed by Conditional Use Permit only in this district. We have a 
definition for outdoor storage:  

Vote on Amendment for Condition 5, Motion passes 5-1, Jeff Wood in opposition. 

James Drinkard - Debate is open on the other items, the approval of the Conditional Use Permit 
with Conditions 1-6. 

Lee Zell - I’m pleased with these conditions. The applicant knows where we’re coming from now. 
I’m still concerned with unloading on Churchill Court. 

Jeff Wood - This property was a car lot before the residential lots were completed. 

James Drinkard - The only reason I’m willing to support the Conditional Use Permit is to get this 
situation under control and clean this property up. Right now I do not consider it to be a good 
business. It’s bordering on a nuisance and it needs to stop. The complaints that we are hearing 
from our own police chief and neighbors are ridiculous and unacceptable.  You need to clean up 
your property. 

Motion passes 6-0. 

Jeff Wood - Motion to recommend approval of the variances with staff recommended 
conditions 1-4. 

2nd by Lee Zell. 

Jeff Wood - The structure was built without permits. Ignorance is not an excuse for not following 
the rules, and as a business owner in the community you have to do this. That said, in order to 
keep the building, it should be safe.  I have a concern about adding the brick. They are probably 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 227

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 8 Printed 3/16/2015 

going to have to build a foundation for the building.  If it makes it through the building code 
process, I’ll be surprised.  

Lee Zell - This variance is like here you have permission to go meet the building inspector.  And 
it’s not going to be a pleasant visit. There are a lot of updates that will need to occur.  I have 
confidence in our building staff and permits department.  

David Hacker - I’m not in favor of Condition 4. I don’t think it’s necessary.  If they’re going to be 
moving the structure, I think that’s enough.  Besides, it makes it more of a permanent structure 
that’s non-conforming.  Friendly Amendment to strike Condition 4. 

Jeff Wood - Friendly Amendment accepted. 

James Drinkard - Before I call for the vote, I want to say I will not support this. 

Tie vote 3-3.  The variance request moves forward with no recommendation. 

Summary of recommendation: 

Recommended approval of Conditional Use Permit with the following conditions: 

1. By granting this Conditional Use Permit, the use is no longer legally non-conforming.  This Conditional 
Use Permit is tied to the business, Platinum Cars, Inc., and the business owner, Trilochan Bhatia.  If the 
use is discontinued for any amount of time by either the business or the business owner, the 
Conditional Use Permit will become invalid and the use will no longer be permitted. 

2. No more than 100 cars for sale, or in the process of being sold, shall be on the lot at any given time. 

3. No parking of inventory, employee vehicles, or customer vehicles on any public street or in any parking 
lot other than that which exists on the subject property without a written agreement, and no parking in 
the Highway 92 grass right of way. 

4. No unloading of inventory on any Highway 92 public right of way. 

5. No outdoor storage of any parts, chemicals, or materials. 

6. Applicant shall add a wooden 6’ privacy fence attached to the existing fence at the northwest corner of 
the property and extending to the northeast corner of the property at Churchill Court. 

 

Request for variances with staff recommended conditions moves forward with no recommendation 
because of a tie vote. 

2. Ordinance (ID # 3295) LDO Chapter II Definitions LDO Chapter VII Senior Living 
The City Council of the City of Woodstock is proposing revisions to the Land Development 
Ordinance Chapter VII Performance Zoning Standards Section 7.740 Specific Standards for 
Senior Living and Chapter 2 Definitions.

Hold Public Hearing as advertised. 

Vote to recommend approval or denial of application  

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 228

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 9 Printed 3/16/2015 

COMMENTS - Current Meeting: 

Patti Hart presented the staff report and DPC recommendation. Staff proposes the following changes to 
definitions associated with the Senior Living Ordinance in order to provide consistency with the State of 
Georgia definition of Assisted Living. The absence of this clarification could provide an avenue for 
developers to receive density bonuses for a product type that is little more than an age restricted 
multifamily product than a Senior Living Community in the intent of LDO Sec 7.740 Specific Standards for 
Senior Living.  

In the following definition changes we intend to clearly establish “Assisted Living” as being eligible for 
density bonuses provided by LDO section 7.744 Residential Density Bonuses and “Independent Retirement 
Living”, if not provided in combination with assisted Living units or affordable units (as provided in LDO Sec 
7.744) as not eligible for density bonuses; 

 

Amend existing Assisted Living Definition; 

Assisted Living: Multi-family housing including congregate and/or personal care services. 
licensed by the State of Georgia as a long -term care provider and commonly referred to 
as “assisted living community”.  Assisted living goes by many names including nursing 
homes, personal care, residential care, or congregate care. The services offered vary 
widely, but frequently include core services, meals, housekeeping and transportation and 
often some assistance with laundry, grooming, medication management and other 
functions of daily living. 

Strike Existing Independent Living Definition: 

Add New Independent Living Definition: 

Independent Retirement Living - Senior adult housing which consists of attached independent 
living developments which is composed of individual apartments or condominiums for lease or 
purchase, with a bedroom, bath, living area and kitchenette, including retirement communities, 
age restricted housing, and active adult communities. These developments may include limited 
social or recreational services, but generally lack centralized dining and on site medical facilities 
or services. 

In regard to Chapter VI Senior Living; 

The regulations set forth in Senior Living are designed to “Locate these 
developments in areas where retail, professional, civic, and cultural uses are convenient 
for residents to access, preferably even when they can no longer drive.”. Staff is 
proposing changes to the Senior Living Ordinance, and associated definitions, to provide 
additional clarification regarding the services that would satisfy 7.745 Location 
Requirements for and SL-C as amended below;

1. SL-C must be located within a one-quarter-mile radius of commercial retail uses 
including but not limited to a minimum of two of the following; grocery stores, 
pharmacies, Government Community Centers (including Senior Centers and 
Libraries) and Private Health Clubs. SL-C projects may be exempt from these 
requirements if these uses are provided on-site of an Assisted Living Community. 
Projects must also maintain the scale and intensity of surrounding uses.  since ‘Full 
Care Facility’ is currently allowed under 7.505 Permitted and Prohibited Uses in 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 229

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 10 Printed 3/16/2015 

Office Space and Institutional (OSI) with uncapped density, staff proposes 
removing it entirely from Sec 7.744 Residential Density Bonus. A full Service Care 
facility as defined by our code as follows; “Full Care Facility: Any facility that admits 
patients on medical referral only for continuous medical supervision and for skilled nursing 
care and rehabilitative care.” which is more institutional in nature, and a more 
appropriate fit in OSI.

The final change proposed is to add to Section 7.746 Site Planning Requirements 
language to clarify the intent to apply required buffers to abutting County properties with 
equal or less intense Zoning Classifications. The code currently only refers to specific 
City of Woodstock Zoning Classifications.

For example, currently SL-C requires a 25 foot buffer against City Zoning Classification 
R-1 which has a density of 2 units per acre, but not Cherokee County Zoning 
Classification of R-20 which is also 2 units an acre. With this change both R-1 and R-20 
would require a buffer.

Jeff Wood - Have any SL-C's been given density bonuses for Independent Retirement 
Living recently?

Jessica Guinn - The applicant of the Neese Rd and Hwy 92 SL-C asserted that his project 
fell under our definition of Assisted Living and was therefore eligible for density bonuses 
but staff believed it was more closely aligned with our definition of Independent 
Retirements Living which is not eligible for density bonuses. We hope to clarify the 
intent of our ordinance by changing our definition to match the state definition.

PUBLIC HEARING - no speakers

Jeff Wood - Motion to recommend approval of Chapter II definition changes as presented by 
staff. 

2nd David Hacker 

Motion Passes by Unanimous Vote. 

Jeff Wood - Motion to recommend approval of Chapter VII Senior Living changes as presented 
by staff. 

2nd Renee Gable 

Motion Passes by Unanimous Vote. 

ITEM IV. New Business 

ITEM V. Announcements and Informational Items 

Jessica Guinn presented the following updates; 

 

In February, even with all of the weather related closures, we  issued 35 Single Family permits. 
This was our highest month since we started our permit tracking spreadsheet in 2011. 

Camellia Place has LDP on Rope MIll. 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 230

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



Regular Commission Meeting Minutes March 5, 2015 

Woodstock Planning Commission Page 11 Printed 3/16/2015 

Phase II of Outlet Mall (35,000 sq ft) has building permits ready to issue. 

MadLife Studios plans are under review. 

 

Katie is working on Green Communities recertification . Currently Silver Certified, aiming for 
Gold. 

No Cases for April but a few ordinances including Dark Skies, Parking Ordinance and donation 
collection boxes. 

ITEM VI. Adjournment 

Adjourned at 9PM 

8.2.e

Packet Pg. 231

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
.0

5.
15

 P
C

 M
in

ut
es

.D
R

A
FT

  (
33

24
 : 

LD
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 II
 a

nd
 L

D
O

 C
ha

pt
er

 V
II 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3326 Page 1

Sign Variance  9940 Highway 92

Presented by: Jessica Guinn Summitt Boone

Summary:
Summitt Boone requests a sign variance to extend the time allowable for a temporary sign.
LDO Section 6.6.2 limits temporary sign permits to thirty consecutive days, and no more 
than two times per twelve months.  The applicant has a temporary sign permit for a real estate 
sign on the property, which is occupied by a vacant 5,800 square foot commercial building.
The applicant requests to extend the allowable time to six months with an option for an 
additional six months if the property has not sold.  Should the property sell prior to the end of 
the requested time, the sign would be removed immediately.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Approve or deny sign permit request.

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• Summitt Boone 3-23-15 (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Jessica Guinn Completed 03/16/2015 12:46 PM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 9:24 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 10:13 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

8.3

Packet Pg. 232



8.3.a

Packet Pg. 233

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Su
m

m
itt

 B
oo

ne
 3

-2
3-

15
  (

33
26

 : 
Si

gn
 V

ar
ia

nc
e-

 9
94

0 
H

ig
hw

ay
 9

2)



8.3.a

Packet Pg. 234

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Su
m

m
itt

 B
oo

ne
 3

-2
3-

15
  (

33
26

 : 
Si

gn
 V

ar
ia

nc
e-

 9
94

0 
H

ig
hw

ay
 9

2)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3325 Page 1

Sign Variance Request Park 9 Apartments- Ridgewalk
Parkway

Presented by: Jessica Guinn Chuck Young

Summary:
On behalf of Prestwick Companies, Chuck Young requests a sign variance for temporary 
signage marketing the new Park 9 apartment community, currently under construction on 
Ridgewalk Parkway.  Specific variances requested are as follows:

1. Variance from Section 6.6.2 (a) to allow more than one temporary sign on the 
proposed location.  As proposed, the temporary sign would be located on the site of 
the new RaceTrac, currently under construction on Ridgewalk Parkway.  RaceTrac 
has agreed to allow the temporary sign for Park 9 to be placed on the site, provided 
that RaceTrac itself will not be restricted from placing a temporary marketing sign on 
the site during construction of the station.

2. Variance from Section 6.6.2 (b) to allow for an extension in the time allowed for a 
temporary sign.  Under current code a temporary sign permit is valid for no more than 
30 consecutive days, no more than two times in a twelve-month period.  RaceTrac 
has agreed to allow the proposed sign to remain on the property through the duration 
of the construction of the RaceTrac station; however, the sign must be removed when 
the store opens.

Park 9 is located on Ridgewalk Parkway, west of I-575 and just outside of the Brookshire 
community.  This portion of Ridgewalk Parkway, up until recent months, was known as 
Ashland Parkway.  This change has resulted in challenges directing prospective residents to 
the site, as Google Maps, Yahoo Maps, and similar sites have not yet updated the street 
name.  The applicant has been working with the engineers at Google, as well as the Cherokee 
County GIS department to resolve this issue; however, it may take six to twelve months to 
complete this process.  The applicant contends that temporary signage is important to 
marketing and directing people to the site, which also has limited visibility from Ridgewalk 
Parkway.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Approve or deny sign variance request.

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -

8.4

Packet Pg. 235



Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• park 9 combined(PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Jessica Guinn Completed 03/16/2015 12:20 PM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 9:19 AM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 10:14 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

8.4

Packet Pg. 236



8.4.a

Packet Pg. 237

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

pa
rk

 9
 c

om
bi

ne
d 

 (3
32

5 
: P

ar
k 

9 
Si

gn
 V

ar
ia

nc
e)



8.4.a

Packet Pg. 238

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

pa
rk

 9
 c

om
bi

ne
d 

 (3
32

5 
: P

ar
k 

9 
Si

gn
 V

ar
ia

nc
e)



8.4.a

Packet Pg. 239

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

pa
rk

 9
 c

om
bi

ne
d 

 (3
32

5 
: P

ar
k 

9 
Si

gn
 V

ar
ia

nc
e)



8.4.a

Packet Pg. 240

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

pa
rk

 9
 c

om
bi

ne
d 

 (3
32

5 
: P

ar
k 

9 
Si

gn
 V

ar
ia

nc
e)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3338 Page 1

Sign Variance- Lennar 8033 Main Street 12455 Highway 92

Presented by: Jessica Guinn Scott Powers

Summary:
Lennar is seeking a variance to allow for two 15 square foot temporary signs- one on 
property located at 8033 Main Street, and one at 12455 Highway 92.  These signs will serve 
as marketing/directional signs for the Haney Walk subdivision, currently under development 
on Haney Road.

The property at 8033 Main Street is currently zoned DT-RO, which would allow for the 
temporary sign; however, it would be limited to two 30 day periods per year, as specified in 
LDO Sec. 6.6.2.  The applicant would like to keep the sign in place throughout the sales 
phase- approximately 2 years.

12455 Main Street, the current location of Little River United Methodist Church, is zoned 
GC, which would also allow for a temporary sign for two 30 day periods per year.  Again, the 
applicant would like to keep the sign in place through the sales phase.

As outlined in LDO Sec. 6.7.8, variances from LDO Chapter VI- Signs should be limited to 
hardship situations.  No hardship has been presented to justify this variance.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Approve or deny sign variance request.

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• Lennar 3-23-15 (PDF)
• Lennar Sign Locations 3-23-15 (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Jessica Guinn Completed 03/17/2015 11:06 AM

8.5

Packet Pg. 241



City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 2:20 PM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 11:15 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

8.5

Packet Pg. 242



8.5.a

Packet Pg. 243

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Le
nn

ar
 3

-2
3-

15
  (

33
38

 : 
Le

nn
ar

 S
ig

n 
Va

ria
nc

e)



8.5.a

Packet Pg. 244

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Le
nn

ar
 3

-2
3-

15
  (

33
38

 : 
Le

nn
ar

 S
ig

n 
Va

ria
nc

e)



8.5.a

Packet Pg. 245

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Le
nn

ar
 3

-2
3-

15
  (

33
38

 : 
Le

nn
ar

 S
ig

n 
Va

ria
nc

e)



8.5.a

Packet Pg. 246

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Le
nn

ar
 3

-2
3-

15
  (

33
38

 : 
Le

nn
ar

 S
ig

n 
Va

ria
nc

e)



8.5.a

Packet Pg. 247

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Le
nn

ar
 3

-2
3-

15
  (

33
38

 : 
Le

nn
ar

 S
ig

n 
Va

ria
nc

e)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3330 Page 1

Approval of Minutes - March 9, 2015 Regular Council Meeting

Presented by: Rhonda Pezzello 

Summary:

Additional Information:

Recommendation:

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• 03092015 Minutes.draft (DOC)

Reviews / Approvals
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

9.1

Packet Pg. 248



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council
City of Woodstock, GA
The Chambers at City Center - 8534 Main Street
770 592-6000 (Main) 770 592-6002 (City Clerk)  770 926-1375 (Fax)
http://www.woodstockga.gov

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK ~ MINUTES ~
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION 

Monday, March, 9, 2015

Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council
7:00 PM

Mayor and Council Page 1 Printed 3/10/2015

ITEM 1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
7:00 PM Meeting called to order on March 9, 2015 at The Chambers at City Center, 8534 Main 
Street, Woodstock, GA.

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived
Warren Johnson Council Member - Ward 1 Present
Chris Casdia Council Member - Ward 2 Absent
Bob Mueller Council Member - Ward 3 Present
Liz Baxter Council Member - Ward 4 Present
Bud Leonard Council Member - Ward 5 Absent
Rob Usher Council Member - Ward 6 Present
Donnie Henriques Mayor Present
Jeff Moon City Manager Present
Eldon Basham City Attorney Present
Rhonda Pezzello City Clerk Present
Robert Porche CFO Present
Preston Pooser Parks & Recreation Director Present
Pat Flood Public Works Director Present
Jim Moore IT Director Present
Jessica Guinn Community Development Director Present
Calvin Moss Police Chief Present
David Soumas Fire Chief Present
Brian Stockton Economic Development Director Present
Crystal Welch Budget Analyst Present
Audrey Sullivan Financial Analyst Present

ITEM 2. RECOGNITION OF GUESTS AND VISITORS

1. PROCLAMATION - March 19th is Agriculture Day

2. PROCLAMATION - Autism Awareness Day and Month

ITEM 3. APPOINTMENTS/OATH OF OFFICE

1. Swearing in of Dwight Waggoner to DDA/CVB (Ward 6)

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 249

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 2 Printed 3/10/2015

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve made by Council Members Usher/Johnson.  All in favor.  Motion carried 
4-0.

RESULT: APPROVE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
SECONDER: Warren Johnson, Council Member - Ward 1
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

ITEM 4. ANNOUNCEMENTS

1. Announcements for March 2015
Fix a Leak Week is March 16-22.  Visit the Stormwater Page on City's website for more 
info.

Cherokee County Comprehensive Transportation Plan Update/Open House
March 24th at The Bluffs in Canton - 6 pm to 8 pm
March 26th at The Chambers at City Center - 6 pm to 8 pm
http://www.cherokeega.com/roadway-splost-program

Coming on April 18th: GREENSTOCK DAY/EARTH DAY CELEBRATION w/E-
Recycle, Shredding, Yard Sales and Special Trash Pick up!  See website for more info or 
call 770 517-6788.

ITEM 5. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS/PROJECT UPDATES

ITEM 6. PUBLIC COMMENT

ITEM 7. CONSENT AGENDA

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to pull Consent agenda item 7.1 by Council Member Johnson/Mueller.  All in favor.
Motion carried 4-0

Motion to approve Consent agenda items 7.2 through 7.7 made by Council Members
Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

RESULT: APPROVE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
SECONDER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

1. Major Budget Amendment, Dupree Park Fitness Trail (APPROVED)
Staff requests City Council to approve a major budget amendment transferring $75,000 from
Impact Fees to the Park Capital Outlay account in the current operating budget. 

Staff Requests Council to Award Hasley Recreation's bid in the amount of $48,950 and 
Architectural Design Specialist's bid in the amount of $6,295 for Outdoor Fitness Equipment.

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 250

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 3 Printed 3/10/2015

The remainder of the funds transferred will be used to construct the related Concrete Pad.

Account Name/Number - 315-5535-5410-541110-00 Capital Outlay

Budget Amount - $248,000.00 + $75,000 = $323,000

Amount Spent to Date - $67,648.18

Amount of Request - $75,000

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:
Council Member Johnson: Were there any additional bids received? No, per Preston- Just
wondering how large a difference throughout the market.

Preston Pooser: Specific on equipment he wanted.  Wanted handicap accessible equipment. 
Wrote proposal so he could pick and choose. Selectorized was from Hasley and non-selectorized
was from other company.

Council Member Johnson: Are there other companies? At a glance on others that bid from both 
sides, could be a savings of $6-8,000 on limited number of pieces - are there other companies
where we could pick up some other savings?  

Preston Pooser:  Sent out to six companies that had Selectorize - sent out to 5 or 6 at least.  These 
were the only two that responded.

Motion to approve made by Council Members Johnson/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 
4-0.

2. UMR Health Insurance Agreement (APPROVED)

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve Consent agenda items 7.2 through 7.7 made by Council Members 
Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

3. Ordinance (ID # 3298) A#070-14 Kingsridge De-Annexation Second Reading (APPROVED)
The City of Woodstock, Georgia has received an application for de-annexation from Sharon 
Oglesby, Donald Moncrief, Jr., and Jackson A. Norton of Woodstock, GA (Case A#070-14). The 
properties are located at 1070 and 1080 Castlewood Drive, and 890 Tanglewood Trail, and 
consist of ±0.552, 0.620, and 0.584 acres respectively. The properties are identified as tax map 
and parcel numbers 15N12B 299, 347, and 348 zoned GC (General Commercial) in the City 
limits of Woodstock, GA.  The application is to request de-annexation. If approved, the properties 
would revert back to Cherokee County jurisdiction and zoning.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve Consent agenda items 7.2 through 7.7 made by Council Members 
Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

4. Contract and/or RFP (ID # 3303) J & M Displays Fireworks Contract (APPROVED)
Asking approval of 2015 fireworks contract from J & M Displays, the same company we used for
last year's fireworks display.  Total cost of the show $ 15,000 to be paid from FY 2016 Budget 
Funds.

Amount of Contract:  $ 15,000

Special Events:  101-5535-5230-523967-00

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 251

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 4 Printed 3/10/2015

$ 15,000 to be paid out of FY 2016 Budget Funds.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve Consent agenda items 7.2 through 7.7 made by Council Members 
Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

5. Major Budget Amendment to Purchase GIS Printer (APPROVED)
The plotter (large format printer) currently used by the GIS department reached end of life in 
2007; however, it has continued to meet the printing needs of the city well beyond that point. 
Recently, repairs to the plotter were made, but a replacement part was very difficult to obtain due 
to the advanced age of the equipment.

A long-term vacancy in the GIS department has resulted in adequate savings in the Salaries and 
Wages line item of the GIS department budget to cover the cost to replace the plotter.  In fact, as 
of February 28, only 47% of funds budgeted for the Salaries and Wages line item had been used, 
although 67% of the current fiscal year is complete.  At this time, we are requesting approval of a 
major budget amendment to transfer $9,900 from the Salaries and Wages line item to the Minor 
Equipment line item in order to move forward with purchase of a new plotter.  This equipment is 
critical to the functions of the GIS department, which serves numerous other departments in the 
City.  This request will in no way increase the overall budget for the department in this fiscal 
year.

Account Name/Number - Minor Equipment 101-7412-5310-531610-00 / Salaries & Wages 101-7410-
5110-511110-00

Budget Amount - $6,800.00 / $95,798.26 (respectively)

Amount Spent to Date - $6,328.17 / $44,625.16 (respectively)

Encumbered Balance - $0 / $0

Amount of Request - $9,900.00

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve Consent agenda items 7.2 through 7.7 made by Council Members 
Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

6. Sign Variance Applebee's- 901 Ridgewalk Parkway (APPROVED)
Staff requests approval of a sign variance for property located at 901 Ridgewalk Parkway 
(Applebee's).  A sign permit was previously approved to allow for an eight foot tall monument 
sign on the property.  In reviewing the sign permit request for the neighboring parcel (Outparcel 
#5), staff noted that the LDO definition of "Sign Height" calls for height to be measured from the 
top of the nearest adjacent curb to the top of the sign structure.  The Applebee's sign is eight feet 
in height as measured from the bottom to the top of the sign structure; however, due to the 
developed conditions of the site the sign would measure greater than eight feet in height as 
measured from the top of the curb of Ridgewalk Parkway to the top of the sign structure.  This is 
a hardship related to the development of the property, and is in no way the result of the actions of 
the applicant.

Typically, a provision such as that provided in the LDO for the measurement of sign height 
would apply to signs that are located below the finished grade of the road.  In fact, this seems to 
be how this language was interpreted in the past.  The literal interpretation of this provision, 
however, does not differentiate between signs located above grade and those below grade.  Staff 
will prepare and bring forth a text amendment to this language in the sign ordinance in order to 

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 252

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 5 Printed 3/10/2015

clarify the appropriate method for measuring sign height, whether the proposed sign is at, above, 
or below grade.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve Consent agenda items 7.2 through 7.7 made by Council Members 
Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

7. 2nd Reading - Emergency Ordinance of the Senior Living Moratorium Extension
(APPROVED)
On May 14, 2014, the City Council approved a moratorium on new zoning applications for 
Senior Living (SL) zoning district in order for staff to review the City's zoning requirements for 
the Senior Living zoning classifications, research best practices, and to provide recommendations 
for amendments to the Land Development Ordinance.

This moratorium was extended through February 23, 2015 and needs to be extended again for an 
additional 30 days at staff's request.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve Consent agenda items 7.2 through 7.7 made by Council Members 
Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

ITEM 8. PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

ITEM 9. MINUTES APPROVAL

1. Approval of Minutes - 2/23/2015 Regular Council Meeting (APPROVED)
Items in red were added since sent out as draft.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve made by Council Members Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 
4-0.

RESULT: APPROVE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
SECONDER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

ITEM 10. NEW BUSINESS

1. Major Budget Amendment - Rope Mill Park, Avalanche Mountain Bike Trail
(APPROVED)

Staff requests City Council to approve a major budget amendment transferring $20,500 from
Impact Fees to the Park Capital Outlay account in the current operating budget. 

Staff Requests Council to approve work to be completed by SORBA in the amount of $20,500.

Account Name/Number - 315-5535-5410-541110-00 Capital Outlay

Budget Amount - $248,000.00 + $20,500 = $323,500

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 253

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 6 Printed 3/10/2015

Amount Spent to Date - $67,648.18

Amount of Request - $20,500

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:
Preston Pooser presented the request to the Mayor and Council.  He stated that initially, the City 
had agreed to contribute $40,000 and the mountain bike community would contribute a matching 
$40,000.  However, the mountain bike community was able to raise the full $80,000.  The 
$40,000 from the City was put into contingency for either new trail construction around the 
Avalanche Loop or for new sections of trail on the north side of the river.

Avalanche Trail - current trail builders are in town right now and will be for another month.

David Potts: Introduced Gary Moore, Executive Director - fulltime employee for Greenprints and 
Trail Coordinator for SORBA Woodstock.

Mr. Potts stated they are receiving very positive feedback about the trails, although parking is still
an issue. On the north side of river they found terrain they didn't know was there and ended up 
making the trail larger.  Burned through original $80,000 they had.  The new trail will come past 
new bathroom facilities and will correct some hazardous dangerous areas.  He stated we need a 
new trail segment around another dangerous section as well.   We also need to do some rehab to
trail section on other side of I-575.  

Greenprints is asking for Council's support.  Items requested were laid out by order of 
importance. 1.  New trail construction at entrance of Avalanche Loop.  New trail will be 
constructed around new restroom facilities and will allow bikers and hikers access to the 
facilities.  Cost $4000.  2.  New trail construction and two retaining walls around hazardous 
section of trail near rock outcropping.  Retaining walls will reduce out-slope and stabilize trail 
tread.  Rock armoring of trail tread will eliminate erosion and prevent biker traffic from exiting 
trail down dangerous eroded fall line.  Cost $6000.  3)  New trail construction around sewer 
easement on Avalanche Trail.  New trail will be less hazardous to trail users and will set up a safe 
approach to the bridge.  Cost $3500. 4.  Total of two new bridges and two sections of new trail to 
be built.  Cost:  $7000.  Total project cost is $20,500.

They are going to continue to raise money through the private sector.  Trail Dynamics is a private 
trail building company. Trail built by them rather than volunteers is much better.  We have to get 
this company while we can – they are booked after they leave here and are headed to Virginia 
next.

Council Member Baxter asked if $20,500 should take them into next budget year. Yes, per
Preston - at least another year.

Motion to approve request made by Council Members Baxter/Johnson.  All in favor. 
Motion carried 4-0.

RESULT: APPROVE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Liz Baxter, Council Member - Ward 4
SECONDER: Warren Johnson, Council Member - Ward 1
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

2. 1st Reading- Text Amendment to Section 6-20 (APPROVED)
A text amendment to Section 6-20, Open Containers Prohibited, is proposed to accompany the 
text amendment to Chapter 82, Streets, Sidewalks and Other Public Places.  This amendment 
would allow for approved sidewalk cafes to be considered a part of the premises of a restaurant 
for the purposes of on premise consumption of alcoholic beverages.

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 254

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 7 Printed 3/10/2015

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Motion to approve 1st reading made by Council Member Mueller/Johnson.  All in favor. 
Motion carried 4-0. 

RESULT: APPROVE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
SECONDER: Warren Johnson, Council Member - Ward 1
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

3. 1st Reading- Text Amendment to Chapter 82 Addition of Sidewalk Cafe Ordinance
(APPROVED)
To this point, two businesses in Downtown, Village Market and Cafe and Ice, have requested 
consideration from Mayor and Council to allow for dining on the public sidewalk.  Both requests 
were approved, and have operated with few noted issues.  At this time, staff proposes a text 
amendment to permit sidewalk cafes for licensed restaurants, and to provide clear regulations for 
the sidewalk cafes.

Staff Summary:

The proposed text amendment will create a new Section 82-17, Sidewalk Café Ordinance, in 
order to provide for the authorization and regulation of sidewalk cafes to be operated on public 
sidewalks in Woodstock.  Under the proposed amendment, licensed restaurants within the DT-
CBD, DT-RO and DT-CMU zoning districts could apply for and obtain a permit to operate a 
sidewalk café, provided that the regulations set forth in the code are met.  Sidewalk cafes must be 
partitioned off from the rest of the sidewalk utilizing approved dividers, and may not extend more 
than six feet from the face of the building.  In no case will a sidewalk café be permitted to reduce 
the clear zone for pedestrians to less than five feet in width.  Standards for furnishings and signs 
are provided in the proposed text, and smoking will be prohibited within sidewalk cafes. 
Furthermore, the text requires applicants for sidewalk cafes to name the City as an additional 
insured on their general liability insurance, and to provide coverage at a minimum of $500,000 
per person, and $1,000,000 per occurrence, with an additional $1,000,000 umbrella coverage.

The proposed text amendment allows for operators holding a valid alcohol license for on premise 
consumption to serve alcohol within the confines of a sidewalk café.  Alcohol service will be 
restricted to one alcoholic beverage in the possession of each patron, and alcohol may not be 
removed from the premises of the restaurant or the sidewalk café.  An amendment to Section 6-
20, Open Containers Prohibited, accompanies this request in order to replace Section 6-20(b) with 
the following language:

No establishment licensed under this chapter to sell alcoholic beverages shall allow a person to 
leave those premises with alcoholic beverages in an open cup, bottle, can or other open 
container.  For the purposes of this ordinance, areas licensed as Sidewalk Cafes pursuant to 
Section 82-12 shall be considered a part of the premises.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

Jessica stated that she would also like to request changing the wording from “licensed restaurant” 
to “outdoor business” and change from “outdoor dining” to “outdoor seating.”  

Those who haven't gotten permission for outdoor seating yet would be sent communication from
(particularly downtown businesses) that the City is pleased to offer them this opportunity and that 
we are hear to answer any questions.  We will give them 30 days to come in to compliance and 

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 255

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 8 Printed 3/10/2015

apply for permit at no charge.  Then after 30 days code enforcement will go out and visit them 
and help them come into compliance.

Council Member Baxter:  Could they set up like a bar stool type long and narrow tables on the 
west side of Main because of limited space? Yes, per Jessica, nothing determines the type of 
furniture they use.

Motion to approve made by Council Members Mueller/Usher.  All in favor. Motion carried 
4-0.

Changed to “outdoor business” and “outdoor seating” for 1st reading.

RESULT: APPROVE AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
SECONDER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

4. 1st Reading - Amendment to Woodstock Code of Ordinances Ch. 14-1 and Ch. 58-32
(APPROVED)
We are revising these two ordinances in order to be consistent with current State Law regarding 
hunting and firearms possession within the City Limits.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:
The Department of Natural Resources reminded the City that only they can regulate hunting on 
their land which prompted the City to look at our ordinance. City Attorney drafted changes in 
these two sections.  (Chief Moss was also involved in the drafting of these.) Addresses discharge 
of firearms rather than 'hunting".

We had also not made changes to Section 58-32 pursuant to the new gun legislation approved by 
the State last year.  So we added verbiage about personal defense. Also, an indoor fire range is 
now permitted in the ordinance. .We have not had any requests nor do we have any requests 
pending for an indoor range at this time.  We are just thinking ahead to include an indoor fire
range as well.

Motion to approve made by Council Members Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 
4-0.

RESULT: APPROVE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
SECONDER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

5. GA NE RAILROAD - Ridgewalk Signal Replacement Agreement (APPROVED)
Attached is a lump sum agreement for the signal replacement at Ridgewalk Parkway. The
equipment is on hand, so once this agreement is executed the railroad can make plans to replace 
the signal equipment.

The City Attorney has reviewed and approved.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:
City Manager: This is the first of two phases.  The next will be at the next meeting.

Modifications of their equipment on west bound lanes on north side of this intersection.

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 256

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 9 Printed 3/10/2015

South on main - turning westbound - cross arm to be extended – needs to be replaced and 
scaffolding has to come across two lanes - also needs to be replaced.  RR requiring agreement 
with City - can't do with church because it's a city road.

Split the cost with the church - we recommend this because when plans were reviewed - RR was 
not included in plan review.  No one's fault - just overlooked.  In fairness we should split the cost 
with the church. $13,000 is the total cost for us for a $1 million dollar road project.  Next meeting 
the City Manager will request a budget amendment.

Our cost is $13,000 - coming from streets SPLOST budget.

Motion to approve made by Council Members Usher/Mueller.  All in favor.  Motion carried 
4-0. 
Council Member Usher thinks its good we're getting this in compliance safety wise and paying 
attention to safety.

RESULT: APPROVE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
SECONDER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

ITEM 11. OLD BUSINESS

1. Sign Variance Request Tinsley/Postiglione- Woodstock Parkway (DENIED)
On behalf of Tinsley/Postiglione, Adam Webb of Webb, Klase & Lemond, LLC has submitted a 
sign variance request for property located south of Ridgewalk Parkway on Woodstock Parkway, 
fronting the northbound lanes of I-575, identified as Tax Parcel ID 15N11 041.  The request is for 
relief from LDO Section, restricting billboards within 500 feet of properties either zoned or 
designated for single-family residential use.  The proposed billboard location is located 426' from 
the Deer Run subdivision.  The parcel is currently zoned LI (Light Industrial) within the Tech 
Park Overlay, which would allow for single-family residential uses on the subject property.

This item was tabled at the February 23, 2015 meeting.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:
Sign Variance Request

I-575 ROW just south of the outlet.  Closer than 500' from residential use or zoned property. 
They are 426' from Deer Run and LI w/Tech Park overlay that does allow for single family and 
County R-40 which also allows for single family.

No questions for staff or applicant.

Motion to deny made by Council Members Usher/Mueller.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-
0.

RESULT: DENY [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
SECONDER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

2. Tinsley/Postiglione Appeal (TABLED)
On behalf of Tinsley/Postiglione, Adam Webb of Webb, Klase & Lemond, LLC has submitted an 
appeal to a denial of a billboard application for property located south of Ridgewalk Parkway on 

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 257

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 10 Printed 3/10/2015

Woodstock Parkway, fronting the northbound lanes of I-575, identified as Tax Parcel ID 15N11 
041.  The sign permit application was denied by staff in accordance with LDO Section, restricting 
billboards within 500 feet of properties either zoned or designated for single-family residential 
use. The proposed billboard location is located 426' from the Deer Run subdivision.  The parcel 
is currently zoned LI (Light Industrial) within the Tech Park Overlay, which would allow for 
single-family residential uses on the subject property.

This item was tabled at the February 23, 2015 meeting.

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:
Jessica Guinn gave a brief overview of the request.  She stated that the application was received 
on December 17, 2014, a letter of denial was sent on January 12, 2015 and they filed a letter of 
appeal on January 27, 2015. 

This applicant filed an application for this same location back in June 2013 but staff denied it so 
the applicant filed an appeal but later withdrew the appeal

Adam Webb, Attorney for Mr. Tinsley and Mr. Postiglione presented their appeal.

He asked the Council to “put on a different hat.”  This is a different matter than a variance.  The 
variance requested was discretionary but he said they are now looking at actual language of code 
and to remember that Georgia law says the tie goes in favor of the land owner and in favor of the 
applicant. If there is ambiguity then resolve it in the favor of the applicant, free use of property.

Seeking to reverse decision of the staff. How, well first, the staff determined that spacing from
properties designated single family residential included all properties in the technology park 
overlay district.    This is industrially zoned property and a few years ago industrial zoned
property had an overlay added to it. Encouraged business below, residential above. Council
specifically said this is to add additional rights. Added possibilities.  Never took anything away. 
Very clear. 

Here is where they said you have lost the right that the Council gave the Cody’s on this property 
to have a billboard on the parcel.  This is just a misinterpretation of how the code should be 
interpreted.  Asking this body to right that wrong. 

If you look at the sign code:  6.2.3…..it reads:

6.2.3. - Mixed Use Districts. 
Those properties zoned as mixed use under the City zoning regulations shall follow 
residential district standards for residentially used portions of the development and 
commercial standards for commercial portions of the development. Where a mix of uses 
occurs within a single building, such as residential over office or storefront use, the 
commercial standards of this Chapter shall apply. 

You see you have mixed use – allowing a mash of uses.
Mixed Use districts - those properties zoned as mixed use - should follow residential district
standards for residential zoned and commercial standards for commercial use.

Other portions of sign code, Section 6.3.1 – this gives you all the provisions for signs that apply
to all properties zoned SF residential - applies to signs in residential areas. But we know that the 
outlet mall has more than 18’ square foot of signs.  Staff is saying the same ordinance that 
restricts billboards was the one applied to the outlet mall. We all know the Outlet shops didn't 
comply with this ordinance per Mr. Webb.  He said this is a silly notion.  And that the ordinance
itself shows this repeatedly as he’s shown this cannot be the case. 

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 258

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 11 Printed 3/10/2015

6.3.1. - Applicability.
The provisions of this Article apply to all properties zoned single-family residential, 
properties used for single-family residential occupancy, and townhomes, as well as 
properties in mixed use or overlay districts designed for single-family residential 
occupancy. Institutional uses located in single-family residential zones and multi-family 
residential uses are governed by Article IV, rather than this Article.
He further stated that the appellant agrees that if this parcel is ever developed for SF use or is 
shared with a single family residential use then the billboard would be removed within 90 days
(of breaking ground). This could be a condition.  This alleviates any real concern. But we all 
know it’s a far fetched notion.  The Cody's have an arrangement with the outlet mall to use this 
parcel for additional parking and hopefully a billboard. It now has two sewer easements across
the parcel. It’s a strange property that was cut down the middle because of the road.

The second element that is being appealed here is the idea that the Deer Run Subdivision – the 5
parcels in Deer Run - are within the 500' arc. It's across the interstate.  Not intended to be spacing 
across the interstate. We know that because of how the ordinance was written.

The ordinance says no billboard shall be located within 1000' of another billboard. Very similar 
to the State of Georgia except State says 500’ of another billboard. Same side of the road.  Does
not apply across the road - go down to 6.4.6 g and h of the Woodstock Sign Code:

(g) No Billboard shall be located within five hundred (500) feet of single-family
residentially zoned parcels and/or parcels designated for single-family residential use. 

(h) No Billboard shall be located with five hundred (500) feet in any direction of a 
public park, public playground, public recreational area, public forest, scenic area, or 
cemetery; provided, however, that such Sign may be located within five hundred (500) 
feet of such a use where the Sign is separated by buildings or other permanent physical 
obstructions so as to not be visible from the public park, public playground, public 
recreational area, public forest, scenic area or cemetery. 
It says “in any direction” which Mr. Webb says means you do a radial spacing.  He says we know 
this because it’s taken from State law and that is how the State does it and it’s a misinterpretation
not to recognize this is based upon State code.

By reference, Mr. Webb is including the exhibits presented at the February 23rd meeting and the
City is including ordinances presented per City Attorney:

Appellant: 1) O.C.G.A. 32-6-75 billboard spacing on the same side of the road is a general rule.
Radial in any direction should be the interpretation. 2) Variance Application and Sign Permit 
Appeal (Pre-hearing brief in support of variance or appeal); 3) The online version of Sec. 7.940 
of the LDO and Ch. VI of the LDO; 4) The agenda packet – section 7.4 from 2/23/2015 Council 
Meeting.

City of Woodstock introduced certified copies of the Sign Ordinance and Technology Park 
Overlay Ordinance:  Sign Ordinance adopted April 28, 2014 and revised on Dec. 8, 2014 and
Technology Park Overlay initially adopted 2000, revised in 2002, 2007 and 2013.

OCGA 32-6-75 - A14 – says: (14) Is within 500 feet in any direction of a public park, public 
playground, public recreation area, public forest, scenic area, or cemetery; provided, however, 
that such sign may be located within 500 feet of a public park, public playground, public 
recreation area, public forest, scenic area, or cemetery when the sign is separated by buildings or 
other obstructions so that the sign located within the 500 foot zone is not visible from the public 
park, public playground, public recreation area, public forest, scenic area, or cemetery;

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 259

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 12 Printed 3/10/2015

This is the exact same language as is in the City Code. 

Mr. Webb called Mr. Tinsley to the front.  He was sworn in by Mr. Webb.

Mr. Webb:  Tell us your experience in outdoor advertising.

Mr. Tinsley:  Ladies and gentleman I’m Dave Tinsley, Owner of Tinsley-Postiglione Advertising 
and I’ve got over 18 ½ years in the billboard industry in Georgia.

Mr. Webb: Are you called upon to deal with local and state sign codes in your business?

Mr. Tinsley: Quite often.

Mr. Webb:  Tell us about the state regulation of billboards, just generally.

Mr. Tinsley:  Well briefly, just the way you described. The law requires separation of billboards 
on the same side of the interstate.  State law is to be recognized by state and local governments. 
State and local governments can be more restrictive but can’t be more lenient.  But ya’ll do have 
one place where you have 1000’ and not 500’ on billboard separation.

Mr. Webb:  When you see the billboard regulation that is 32-6-75 for example, 500’ spacing
between billboards does that mean on the same side of the interstate or on both sides of the 
interstate?

Mr. Tinsley:  Same side.

Mr. Webb:  So could you have a billboard by state law right across from the interstate from each 
other?

Mr. Tinsley: There are several like that … all over the state.

Mr. Webb: In the State 32-6-75 A(14) where it talks about in any direction of a public park, 
cemetery those type of things, is that interpreted by the state to cross over interstates or 
highways?

Mr. Tinsley: It is.

Mr. Webb:  Now have you also dealt in your profession with local ordinances?

Mr. Tinsley: I have.

Mr. Webb:  In State of Georgia do some of them follow sort of some of the state’s lead and some 
of them do differently?

Mr. Tinsley:  They do.

Mr. Webb: When you look at the Woodstock code, how would you characterize that one?

Mr. Tinsley: Well, the way I interpret it, it mimics state law with the exception of the spacing 
between the billboards.

Mr. Webb:  And you said that was a 1000’ in Woodstock but it is 500’ by State.

Mr. Tinsley: That’s correct.

Mr. Webb:  What’s your interpretation as to state code?  Does this billboard you propose qualify
with all the state regulations?

Mr. Tinsley:   Yes.

Mr. Webb:  We’ve talked about the City regulations, the distance from overlay park zoning.  Are
you stipulating before this board that if it would ever have a single family residence on that parcel
that the billboard would be removed within 90 days?

Mr. Tinsley: We are.

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 260

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 13 Printed 3/10/2015

Mr. Webb: As for the other part, distance from the Deer Run Subdivision, if you did not space 
across the interstate, would that be a problem?  If you did not have a spacing restriction they were 
attempting to apply across from the interstate would that be a problem?

Mr. Tinsley:  Not at all.

Mr. Webb:  Have you looked at other residential SF residential parcels on the same side of the 
interstate?

Mr. Tinsley: I have.

Mr. Webb:  Is there any problem from this billboard for those uses?

Mr. Tinsley:  I don’t see any.

Mr. Webb:  Have you ever dealt with a city that had spacing requirements between billboards and 
residences?

Mr. Tinsley:  Yes sir.

Mr. Webb:  When they have done that have you ever had one that interpreted for example 
potential for future single family use as being a reason to turn down a billboard?

Mr. Tinsley:  Not in my experience.

Mr. Webb: Have you reviewed City of Woodstock closely for billboard locations that would
comply with the code?

Mr. Tinsley: We have.

Mr. Webb:  Is there a viable billboard location where the city allows them out there on I-575?

Mr. Tinsley: This is the only one

Mr. Webb: If the City's interpretation is correct - Has the City affectively banned billboards?

Mr. Tinsley: I would say that.

Mr. Postiglione was sworn in.

Mr. Webb asked Mr. Postiglione to tell the Council his intentions for this billboard.

Mr. Postiglione: He stated he is the day to day operator for billboards - he's the phone number -
all calls come to him.  Enormous amount of demand for billboards in Woodstock.  Good 
demographic from an advertiser’s standpoint but also a testament for the effectiveness for 
billboard advertising.  Phone rings all the time.  When City changed the ordinance a few years 
back we set out to look for available locations and this one we believe now meets all the criteria -
has commitments on these billboards.  This would be the last one brought into the City - we
would hope because of the demand that this would be built with trivision - face physically rotates 
every 3rd of a turn - would allow six advertisers on one billboard.  Has commitments for four of 
the six ads.

Mr. Webb asked what type of advertisers?

Mr. Postiglione: Vast majority are City folks - All About Health, Dress Up Boutique and 
Northside Hospital wants two sides.  Has no doubt that the other two segments will be occupied 
as well by local folks. 

Mr. Webb asked what are the positives for both those businesses and the City.

Mr. Postiglione:  1st) Revenue for property owner, signed a lease in November for parking for the 
outlet mall; 2nd is revenue generated for his advertisers. 3) Revenue for City - jobs created if and
if businesses do good, City does good.  Ripple effect and multiplier effect.

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 261

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 14 Printed 3/10/2015

Mr. Webb asked him to confirm in his expert estimation a few things. Does State restrict 
billboard spacing on same side of road or across the road? As to billboard to billboard…

Mr. Postiglione: Only the same side.

Mr. Webb:  Only the same side, doesn’t bounce across the road?

Mr. Postiglione:  Correct.

Mr. Webb:  When State says any direction - do they cross highway or interstate?

Mr. Postiglione: Yes.

Mr. Webb: Is this code supposed to be interpreted across interstate when it doesn’t say in any
direction?

Mr. Postiglione: No.

Mr. Webb: Would you confirm Mr. Tinsley’s interpretation that if City’s interpretation is right, 
do you agree there is no viable location in City

Mr. Postiglione:  Yes unless City annexes. 

Mr. Webb: Do you affirm you testimony last time for variance proceeding and to incorporate
into your presentation here?

Mr. Postiglione: Yes

The City Attorney clarified what Mr. Postiglione meant by “No viable location”. It was clarified 
that he meant “new locations”.

Clarified - new - not viable. 

Mr. Postiglione operates several billboard locations in City.

Mr. Postiglione: No viable new billboard sites fronting I-575 or anywhere else.

Mayor took a break to speak with City Attorney for a moment.

Since subject of Northside Hospital Cherokee as potential advertiser came up, Mayor Henriques 
recused himself.  That's his employer. Mayor Pro-tem Baxter took over the meeting. 

Closing Statement Given by Mr. Webb
Thank you for hearing us out, we appreciate it.  We take property rights very seriously in State of 
Georgia as well we should. To hear this body to declare I-575 is where they want billboards to 
go, the applicant applied based on these regulations and then were turned down for what he says 
is bogus grounds.  Planning staff did not want to approve this billboard despite its compliance 
with the code. 

Mr. Webb cited a recent media interview where Ms. Guinn said the code doesn't differentiate, it is 
500' in any direction.  He says that is the language she wants to be there, but it is not there. She is 
injecting this language in code but it is not there.  Not meant to regulate billboard spacing to 
residential or other billboards based on State code.

Typically billboards are permitted under light industrial, then we gave a Tech Park Overlay that 
gives residential - took away their billboard right which is not what the overlay was for.  If that 
were the case, then the outlet malls would have been given only 18' signage. Stipulation that 
billboard would be removed in the event of any single family residential.

Ultimately tender a decision in writing per City Attorney.

City Attorney suggested to table until next meeting (March 23) to allow Council to issue a 
decision in writing. 

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 262

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 15 Printed 3/10/2015

Motion to table made by Council Members Mueller/Usher.  All in favor.  Motion carried 4-
0.

RESULT: TABLE [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Bob Mueller, Council Member - Ward 3
SECONDER: Rob Usher, Council Member - Ward 6
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

3. Discuss Croy Engineering Proposal (Towne Lake/Arnold Mill Widening Project)
(APPROVED)
Proposal is for the fatal flaws analysis discussed at the retreat.  Total cost could be as much as 
$18,740 depending on whether or not Council goes with only Task 1 (Peer Review Analysis) or 
both Task 1 and Task 2 (Alternate Improvements).

Cost of Project:  $18,740

COMMENTS - Current Meeting:

City Manager: Their proposal is to evaluate the proposal, look at pros and cons and bring back 
alternatives. Staff recommendation is to proceed.  Croy has a lot of historical traffic count data 
from interchange plus we've gotten them the Ross Consulting information as well.

Motion to approve made by Council Members Johnson/Baxter and to include tasks 1 and 2.
All in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

RESULT: APPROVE AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Warren Johnson, Council Member - Ward 1
SECONDER: Liz Baxter, Council Member - Ward 4
AYES: Warren Johnson, Bob Mueller, Liz Baxter, Rob Usher

4. Woodstock Art Commission Update and Direction (Brian Stockton)
Susan Wright did a presentation about a month ago regarding creation of this commission.  After 
more research, issues arose..

It was determined that donations are easier to accept if the art commission is part of the Main 
Street program which is an existing 501c6 committee. The MOU would be between the Arts
Commission and the DDA with same outline as discussed before. Staff will bring back a master 
plan for approval.

Other cities have found ways to do this (501c3 organizations), but we haven't delved into it 
enough to do this.  Would like to get moving on the master plan.

Council Member Baxter: Use same people as advisory group?

This would fall as a 5th Main Street committee that anyone can join.  There are 7 or 8 people that 
have been working on this, but there could be more until such time a commission is established.

Could make it a condition that you have to be a member of the Main Street Committee as a 501c6 
organization in order to allow them to take a donation.  .

As Commission there were budgeting concerns as well. Main Street program is not audited -
only the hotel/motel component is audited.

This is informational.  Staff will start working on a master plan and a MOU.  May still end up 
being a full blown Commission.  Or the MOU may suffice.  Council Member Baxter was good
with this.

Master plan will be non-binding.

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 263

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



Regular Meeting of the Mayor and Council Minutes March 9, 2015

Mayor and Council Page 16 Printed 3/10/2015

Council Member Usher and Council Member Johnson also agreed.

ITEM 12. MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMENTS
American Legion - Wednesday night 3/18 – anniversary and recognizing Police and Firefighter of 
the year.  6 pm at Magnolia Hall.  RSVP to Council Member Leonard.

Council Member Usher can't be there due to training.

Public Safety Academy – Council Member Usher - fun entertaining and informative - very well 
done per Council Member Baxter and Council Member Johnson.

ITEM 13. CITY MANAGER AND STAFF COMMENTS
Requested an executive session with no anticipated action being taken afterwards.

ITEM 14. EXECUTIVE SESSION - Personnel, Litigation, Real Estate
Motion to adjourn into executive session made at 8:27 pm by Council Members
Johnson/Mueller.

ITEM 15. FINAL ADJOURNMENT
Motion for final adjournment made by Council Members Mueller/Johnson at 9:03 pm.  All 
in favor.  Motion carried 4-0.

As approved this 23rd day of March, 2015.

______________________________________________________________________________
Donnie Henriques, Mayor                                                             Rhonda Pezzello, City Clerk

9.1.a

Packet Pg. 264

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

03
09

20
15

 M
in

ut
es

.d
ra

ft 
 (3

33
0 

: A
pp

ro
va

l o
f M

in
ut

es
)



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3340 Page 1

Discuss and Approve Modification to Chattahoochee Gold 
Swim Facility

Presented by: Jeff Moon 

Summary:

Additional Information:

Recommendation:

Budget Information:
N/A

Supporting Documents: 

Reviews / Approvals
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 1:41 PM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 1:41 PM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

10.1

Packet Pg. 265



City of Woodstock
State of Georgia

EXPERIENCE WOODSTOCK Council Meeting Date
HER HERITAGE, HER VISION March 23, 2015

DOC ID: 3333 Page 1

Tinsley/Postiglione Appeal

Presented by: Jessica Guinn Adam Webb

Summary:
On behalf of Tinsley/Postiglione, Adam Webb of Webb, Klase & Lemond, LLC has 
submitted an appeal to a denial of a billboard application for property located south of 
Ridgewalk Parkway on Woodstock Parkway, fronting the northbound lanes of I-575,
identified as Tax Parcel ID 15N11 041.  The sign permit application was denied by staff in 
accordance with LDO Section, restricting billboards within 500 feet of properties either 
zoned or designated for single-family residential use.  The proposed billboard location is 
located 426' from the Deer Run subdivision.  The parcel is currently zoned LI (Light 
Industrial) within the Tech Park Overlay, which would allow for single-family residential 
uses on the subject property.

This item was tabled at the March 9, 2015 meeting.

Additional Information:

Recommendation:
Approve or deny variance request

Budget Information:
Account Name/Number -

Budget Amount -

Amount Spent to Date -

Encumbered Balance -

Amount of Request -

Supporting Documents: 
• Tinsley Billboard Application 2015-02-17_13-55-15 (PDF)
• Tinsley- Signed Denial Letter 1-12-15 (PDF)
• Tinsley Postiglione Adam Webb Letter 2.2.15 (PDF)
• Tinsley appeal letter 2015-02-17_13-55-53 (PDF)

Reviews / Approvals
Jessica Guinn Completed 03/17/2015 10:45 AM
City Clerk Completed 03/17/2015 2:28 PM
Jeff Moon Completed 03/17/2015 11:16 AM
Mayor and Council Pending 03/23/2015 7:00 PM

14.1

Packet Pg. 266



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 267

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 268

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 269

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 270

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 271

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 272

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 273

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 274

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 275

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 276

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 277

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.a

Packet Pg. 278

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

B
ill

bo
ar

d 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n 
20

15
-0

2-
17

_1
3-

55
-1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.b

Packet Pg. 279

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y-

 S
ig

ne
d 

D
en

ia
l L

et
te

r 1
-1

2-
15

  (
33

33
 : 

Ti
ns

le
y/

Po
st

ig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.b

Packet Pg. 280

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y-

 S
ig

ne
d 

D
en

ia
l L

et
te

r 1
-1

2-
15

  (
33

33
 : 

Ti
ns

le
y/

Po
st

ig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.c

Packet Pg. 281

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

Po
st

ig
lio

ne
 A

da
m

 W
eb

b 
Le

tte
r 2

.2
.1

5 
 (3

33
3 

: T
in

sl
ey

/P
os

tig
lio

ne
 A

pp
ea

l)



14.1.d

Packet Pg. 282

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

ap
pe

al
 le

tte
r 2

01
5-

02
-1

7_
13

-5
5-

53
  (

33
33

 : 
Ti

ns
le

y/
Po

st
ig

lio
ne

 A
pp

ea
l)



14.1.d

Packet Pg. 283

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

ap
pe

al
 le

tte
r 2

01
5-

02
-1

7_
13

-5
5-

53
  (

33
33

 : 
Ti

ns
le

y/
Po

st
ig

lio
ne

 A
pp

ea
l)



14.1.d

Packet Pg. 284

A
tta

ch
m

en
t: 

Ti
ns

le
y 

ap
pe

al
 le

tte
r 2

01
5-

02
-1

7_
13

-5
5-

53
  (

33
33

 : 
Ti

ns
le

y/
Po

st
ig

lio
ne

 A
pp

ea
l)


